OFFICIAL STATEMENT

NEW ISSUES Electric Ratings: Standard and Poor's:  “AA+”
Moody’s:  “Aa2”
Water Ratings: Standard and Poor's:  “AAA”

Moody’s:  “Aa2”
Wastewater Ratings: Standard and Poor's:  “AA+”
Moody’s:  “Aa2”

(See “MISCELLANEOUS: Ratings” herein)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing law and assuming compliance with certain tax covenants of the Board,
interest on the Bonds will be excluded from gross income for federal income tax purpose and is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporation; however, such interest is not taken into
account in determining the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of the alternative minimum tax on
corporations. For an explanation of certain tax consequences under federal law which may result from the ownership of the
Bonds, see the discussion under the heading "LEGAL MATTERS — Tax Matters™ herein. Under existing law, the Bonds and the
income therefrom will be exempt from all state, county and municipal taxation in the State of Tennessee, except inheritance,
transfer and estate taxes, and Tennessee franchise and excise taxes. (See "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters" herein).

$85,000,000
CITY OF KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE

$35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series FF-2015
$20,000,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series CC-2015
$30,000,000 Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B

Dated: May 20, 2015 Due: As shown on the inside cover

The $35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series FF-2015 (“Electric Bonds” or “Series FF-2015 Bonds”),
$20,000,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series CC-2015 (“Water Bonds” or “Series CC-2015 Bonds™), and the $30,000,000
Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B (“Wastewater Bonds” or “Series 2015B Bonds”), collectively, referred to as
the “Bonds” are issuable in book-entry-only form. The Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). DTC will act as securities depository of the Bonds. So long as
Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds, as the nominee for DTC, principal and interest with respect to the Bonds shall
be payable to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, which will, in turn, remit such principal and interest to the DTC participants for
subsequent disbursements to the beneficial owners of the Bonds. Individual purchases of the Bonds will be made in book-entry
form only, in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof and will bear interest at the annual rates as shown on the
inside cover. Interest on the Electric Bonds will be payable semi-annually on January 1 and July 1 each year, commencing
January 1, 2016. Interest on the Water Bonds will be payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 each year, commencing
September 1, 2015. Interest on the Wastewater Bonds will be payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 each year,
commencing October 1, 2015. Beneficial owners of the Bonds will not receive physical delivery of Bond certificates. (See “The
Bonds” - Book-Entry-Only System herein.)

The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to pay the costs of extensions and improvements to the Electric System, the
Water System and the Wastewater System, as described herein, and to pay the cost of issuing the Bonds as more fully described in
a subsequent part of this OFFICIAL STATEMENT.

The Bonds will be issued pursuant to and secured by bond resolutions of the City of Knoxville (“City”) and will be
payable solely from the net revenues of the Electric System, Water System and the Wastewater System, respectively, of the City
of Knoxville, which are operated by the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”). The Bonds do not constitute a debt of the City
within the meaning of any constitutional, City Charter or statutory limitation, and neither the faith and credit of the State of
Tennessee nor the faith and credit of the City or any other political subdivision are pledged to the payment of the principal of or
premium or interest on the Bonds.

A portion of the Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein.

Bonds are offered when, as and if issued by the City of Knoxville subject to the approval of the legality thereof by Bass,
Berry & Sims PLC, Knoxville, Tennessee, Bond Counsel, whose opinions will be delivered with the Bonds. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for Knoxville Utilities Board by Hodges, Doughty & Carson, PLLC, Knoxville, Tennessee, General Counsel
to the Knoxville Utilities Board. It is expected the Bonds will be available for delivery in book-entry-only form, through the
facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York on or about May 20, 2015.

Cumberland Securities Company, Inc.
Financial Advisor
April 29, 2015



ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS
SERIES FF-2015

Maturity Interest Maturity Interest
(July 1) Amount Rate  Yield CUSIP** (July1)  Amount Rate Yield CUSI|p**
2016 $ 675,000 2.00% 0.40% 499746 YA7 2027 $ 975,000 5.00% 2.48% c 499746 YM1
2017 700,000 4.00 0.73 499746 YB5 2028 1,025,000 4.00 3.04 c 499746 YN9
2018 725,000 5.00 1.04 499746 YC3 2029 1,050,000 4.00 3.11 c 499746 YP4
2019 750,000 5.00 1.27 499746 YD1 2030 1,100,000 4.00 3.18 ¢ 499746 YQ2
2020 775,000 5.00 1.46 499746 YE9 2031 1,125,000 4.00 3.24 ¢ 499746 YRO
2021 800,000 5.00 1.66 499746 YF6 2032 1,175,000 4.00 331 c 499746 YS8
2022 825,000 5.00 1.85 499746 YG4 2033 1,225,000 4.00 336 c 499746 YT6
2023 850,000 5.00 201 c 499746 YH2 2034 1,250,000 4.00 340 c¢ 499746 YU3
2024 900,000 5.00 2.15 ¢ 499746 YJ8 2035 1,300,000 4.00 343 ¢ 499746 YV1
2025 925,000 5.00 225 ¢ 499746 YK5 2036 1,350,000 4.00 346 ¢ 499746 YW9
2026 950,000 5.00 236 ¢ 499746 YL3
¢ = Yield to call on July 1, 20212.
$5,900,000 4.00% TermBond Due July1,2040 @ 3.60%c 499746 ZA6
$8,650,000 4.00% TermBond Due July1,2045 @ 3.70%c 499746 ZF5
WATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS
SERIES CC-2015
Maturity Interest Maturity Interest
(March 1) Amount Rate Yield CUSIP** (March1l) Amount Rate Yield CUSIP**
2016 $350,000 2.00% 0.35% 499818 ZP0 2024  $500,000 2.25% 2.35% 499818 ZX3
2017 375,000 2.00 0.66 499818 ZQ8 2025 525,000 2.50 255 499818 ZY1
2018 400,000 3.00 1.00 499818 ZR6 2026 550,000 2.625 2.70 499818 ZZ8
2019 425,000 4.00 1.25 499818 ZS4 2029 600,000 3.00 3.18 499818 A44
2020 425,000 4.00 1.45 499818 ZT2 2030 625,000 3.125 3.30 499818 A51
2021 450,000 4.00 1.63 499818 ZU9 2031 650,000 3.25 3.41 499818 A69
2022 475,000 4.00 1.83 499818 ZV7 2032 675,000 3.25 3.45 499818 A77
2023 475,000 3.00 2.10 c 499818 ZW5
¢ = Yield to call on March 1, 2022.
$1,125,000 3.00% Term Bond Due March1,2028 @ 3.08% 499818 A36
$2,175,000 4.00% Term Bond Due March1,2035 @ 3.43%c 499818 B27
$2,400,000 3.625% Term Bond Due March1,2038 @ 3.75% 499818 B50
$3,675,000 4.00% TermBondDue March1,2042 @ 3.72%c 499818 B92
$3,125,000 4.00% Term Bond Due March1,2045 @ 3.85%c 499818 C42



WASTEWATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS
SERIES 2015B

Maturity Interest Maturity Interest

(April1) Amount Rate Yield CUSIP** (Aprill) Amount Rate  Yield CUSIP**
2016  $575,000 3.00% 0.40% 499815 RD2 2026 $650,000 3.00% 2.75% c 499815 RP5
2017 450,000 3.00 0.67 499815 REO 2027 675,000 3.00 3.00 499815 RQ3
2018 475,000 5.00 1.00 499815 RF7 2028 700,000 4.00 3.10 ¢ 499815 RR1
2019 500,000 5.00 1.25 499815 RG5 2029 725,000 4.00 3.18 ¢ 499815 RS9
2020 525,000 3.00 1.45 499815 RH3 2030 775,000 4.00 3.25 ¢ 499815 RT7
2021 525,000 4.00 1.66 499815 RJ9 2031 800,000 4.00 3.31 ¢ 499815 RU4
2022 550,000 4.00 1.87 499815 RK6 2032 825,000 4.00 3.38 ¢ 499815 RV2
2023 575,000 4.00 215 ¢ 499815RL4 2033 850,000 3.375 3.51 499815 RWO0
2024 600,000 4.00 236 ¢ 499815 RM2 2034 900,000 3.375 3.55 499815 RX8
2025 625,000 3.00 255 ¢ 499815 RNO 2035 925,000 3.50 3.58 499815 RY6

¢ = Yield to call on April 1, 2022.

$3,475,000 4.00% TermBond Due April 1,2040 @ 3.75% c¢ 499815 SD1
$6,000,000 4.00% Term Bond Due April 1,2045 @ 3.90% c 499815 SJ8
$7,300,000 4.00% Term Bond Due April 1,2050 @ 4.081% 499815 SP4

** These CUSIP numbers have been assigned by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of
the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and are included solely for the convenience of the Bond holders. The Board is
not responsible for the selection or use of these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their
correctness on the bonds or as indicated herein.



This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to
change.

This Official Statement may contain forecasts, projections, and estimates that are based on current
expectations but are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. If and when included in this
Official Statement, the words “expects,” "forecasts,” "projects,” “intends," "anticipates,” "estimates,” and
analogous expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements as defined in the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which
could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The Issuer disclaims any
obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained
herein to reflect any change in the Issuer's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, or
circumstances on which any such statement is based.

This Official Statement and the Appendices hereto contain brief descriptions of, among other matters,
KUB, the Bonds, the Resolution, the Disclosure Certificate (as defined herein), and the security and sources of
payment for the Bonds. Such descriptions and information do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. The
summaries of various constitutional provisions and statutes, the Resolution, the Disclosure Certificate, and other
documents are intended as summaries only and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents and
laws, and references herein to the Bonds are qualified in their entirety to the forms thereof included in the
Resolution.

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, and the Resolution has not been
qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, in reliance on exemptions contained in such Acts. This Official
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the
Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation, or
sale.

No dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized by the Issuer or the Underwriter to give
any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given
or made, such other information or representations should not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
Issuer or the Underwriter. Except where otherwise indicated, all information contained in this Official Statement
has been provided by KUB. The information set forth herein has been obtained by KUB from sources which are
believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a
representation of the Underwriter. The information contained herein is subject to change without notice, and
neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances create
an implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer, or the other matters described herein since
the date hereof or the earlier dates set forth herein as of which certain information contained herein is given.

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or
maintain the market prices of the Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market.
Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

The information set forth below is provided as a summary for convenient reference only; the information is not
and does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the information and financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this OFFICIAL STATEMENT. No person is authorized to distribute or rely upon all or any part of the
information in this “Summary Statement” without the balance of this OFFICIAL STATEMENT, including, all exhibits and
appendices hereto.

The Bonds........cccoevenninenn. City of Knoxville, Tennessee (the “City”) $35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series
FF-2015 (“Electric Bonds” or “Series FF-2015 Bonds™), $20,000,000 Water System Revenue
Bonds, Series CC-2015 (“Water Bonds” or “Series CC-2015 Bonds™), and the $30,000,000
Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B (“Wastewater Bonds” or “Series 2015B
Bonds™) dated May 20, 2015. The Electric Bonds, the Water Bonds and the Wastewater Bonds
will be collectively referred to as the “Bonds”.

PUIPOSE ..o The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to pay the costs of extensions and improvements to
the Electric System, the Water System and the Wastewater System (collectively, the “Systems”),
and the payment of legal, fiscal, administrative and engineering costs incident thereto and
incident to the issuance and sale of the Bonds.

SECUNLY oo The Bonds will be issued pursuant to and secured by bond resolutions of the City and will be
payable solely from the net revenues of the Systems, respectively, as further described herein.

Redemption.........cccccceuenene. The Electric Bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2023 will be subject to redemption prior to
maturity at the option of the Board on or after July 1, 2022 at the redemption price of par plus
accrued interest as provided herein. The Water Bonds maturing on and after March 1, 2023 will
be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Board on or after March 1, 2022 at
the redemption price of par plus accrued interest as provided herein. The Wastewater Bonds
maturing on and after April 1, 2023 will be subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option
of the Board on or after April 1, 2022 at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest as
provided herein.

RAtES ..o Rates and fees for services provided by the Systems are established by the Board of
Commissioners of the Knoxville Utilities Board (the “Board”). The Electric System, the Water
System and the Wastewater System are not otherwise subject to rate regulation, and the Board is
not aware of any pending legislation which would make its rates and fees subject to regulation.

Rate Covenants................... The bond resolutions require that the Board will fix rates and collect charges for electric, gas,
water and wastewater services, facilities and commodities furnished by the Systems so as to
provide revenues sufficient to pay, as the same shall become due, the necessary expenses of
operating and maintaining the respective System and all other obligations and indebtedness
payable out of revenues of the respective System.

Additional Electric
Revenue Bonds................ The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional bonds, notes or
other obligations pursuant to the Electric Bond Resolution provided that all payments required
to be made to the Electric Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which may be required
under resolutions authorizing parity indebtedness are current as of the date of issuance of the
additional bonds, notes or other obligations, on a parity and equality of lien with the outstanding
parity indebtedness under the Electric Bond Resolution, with respect to the lien and claim of
such additional bonds, notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the Electric System and
the money on deposit in the Electric Debt Service Fund (i) for the purpose of refunding any
outstanding parity indebtedness, subordinate bonds, notes, loan agreements or other obligations,
provided that after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt
Service (as defined in the Electric Bond Resolution) on all outstanding parity indebtedness,
including the additional parity indebtedness to be issued, in any fiscal year shall not increase by
more than ten percent (10%) after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness; (ii) for
the purpose of financing the completion or equipping of improvements to the Electric System
for which outstanding parity indebtedness have previously been issued but only to the extent
necessary to complete such improvements in the manner contemplated at the time of the
issuance of the outstanding parity indebtedness that financed such improvements; (iii) and for
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the purposes of refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness or any prior lien bonds,
subordinated bonds, notes or other obligations or extending, improving or replacing the Electric
System or for any other lawful purpose under applicable law, if one of the following conditions
shall have been met: (A) the Net Revenues (as defined in the Electric Bond Resolution) for
any twelve-month period selected by the Board ending within the twelve months prior to the
date of the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness must have been equal to at least 120%
of the Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Electric Bond Resolution)
on outstanding parity indebtedness plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness
proposed to be issued or (B) the estimated Net Revenues of the Electric System for each of the
three fiscal years next succeeding the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness, must be
equal at least to 120% of Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding
parity indebtedness and all outstanding prior lien bonds plus the Debt Service on the additional
parity indebtedness proposed to be issued; provided, however, that if the additional parity
indebtedness is to be issued for the acquisition or construction of any extension, improvement or
replacement to the Electric System, then the estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three
fiscal years ensuing after the time that such improvement, extension or replacement is expected
to be placed in service.

The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional bonds, notes or
other obligations pursuant to the Water Bond Resolutions (as defined herein), provided that all
payments required to be made to the Water Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which
may be required under resolutions authorizing parity indebtedness are current as of the date of
issuance of the additional bonds, notes or other obligations, on a parity and equality of lien with
the outstanding parity indebtedness with respect to the lien and claim of such additional bonds,
notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the Water System and the money on deposit in
the Water Debt Service Fund for the purpose of (i) refunding any outstanding parity
indebtedness, subordinate bonds, notes, loan agreements or other obligations, provided that after
the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in
the Water Bond Resolutions) on all outstanding parity indebtedness, including the additional
parity indebtedness to be issued, in any fiscal year shall not increase by more than ten percent
(10%) after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness; (ii) for the purpose of financing
the completion or equipping of improvements to the Water System for which outstanding parity
indebtedness have previously been issued but only to the extent necessary to complete such
improvements in the manner contemplated at the time of the issuance of the outstanding parity
indebtedness that financed such improvements; and (iii) for the purposes of refunding any
outstanding parity indebtedness or any prior lien bonds, subordinated bonds, notes or other
obligations or extending, improving or replacing the Water System or for any other lawful
purpose under applicable law, if one of the following conditions shall have been met: (A) the
Net Revenues (as defined in the Water Bond Resolutions) for any twelve-month period selected
by the Board ending within the twelve months prior to the date of the issuance of the additional
parity indebtedness must have been equal to at least 120% of the Maximum Annual Aggregate
Debt Service (as defined in the Water Bond Resolutions) on outstanding parity indebtedness
plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be issued or (B) the
estimated Net Revenues of the Water System for each of the three fiscal years next succeeding
the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness, must be equal at least to 120% of Maximum
Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding parity indebtedness and all outstanding
prior lien bonds plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be
issued; provided, however, that if the additional parity indebtedness is to be issued for the
acquisition or construction of any extension, improvement or replacement to the Water System,
then the estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three fiscal years ensuing after the time that
such improvement, extension or replacement is expected to be placed in service.

The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional bonds, notes or
other obligations pursuant to the Wastewater Bond Resolution provided that all payments
required to be made to the Wastewater Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which may
be required under resolutions authorizing parity indebtedness are current as of the date of
issuance of the additional bonds, notes or other obligations, on a parity and equality of lien with
the outstanding parity indebtedness under the Wastewater Bond Resolution, with respect to the
lien and claim of such additional bonds, notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the
Wastewater System and the money on deposit in the Wastewater Debt Service Fund (i) for the
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purpose of refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness, subordinate bonds, notes, loan
agreements or other obligations, provided that after the issuance of such additional parity
indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Wastewater Resolution) on all
outstanding parity indebtedness, including the additional parity indebtedness to be issued, in any
fiscal year shall not increase by more than ten percent (10%) after the issuance of such
additional parity indebtedness; (ii) for the purpose of financing the completion or equipping of
improvements to the Wastewater System for which outstanding parity indebtedness have
previously been issued but only to the extent necessary to complete such improvements in the
manner contemplated at the time of the issuance of the outstanding parity indebtedness that
financed such improvements; and (iii) for the purposes of refunding any outstanding parity
indebtedness or any prior lien bonds, subordinated bonds, notes or other obligations or
extending, improving or replacing the Wastewater System or for any other lawful purpose under
applicable law, if one of the following conditions shall have been met: (A) the Net Revenues
(as defined in the Wastewater Bond Resolution) for any twelve-month period selected by the
Board ending within the twelve months prior to the date of the issuance of the additional parity
indebtedness must have been equal to at least 120% of the Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt
Service (as defined in the Wastewater Bond Resolution) on outstanding parity indebtedness plus
the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be issued or (B) the estimated
Net Revenues of the Wastewater System for each of the three fiscal years next succeeding the
issuance of the additional parity indebtedness, must be equal at least to 120% of Maximum
Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding parity indebtedness and all outstanding
prior lien bonds plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be
issued; provided, however, that if the additional parity indebtedness is to be issued for the
acquisition or construction of any extension, improvement or replacement to the Wastewater
System, then the estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three fiscal years ensuing after the
time that such improvement, extension or replacement is expected to be placed in service.

To the extent permitted by law, the Board may combine any or all the City’s utility Systems into
a single unified operation (the “Combined System”) and commingle the revenues of the System
in the Combined System without keeping separate accounts of the funds of each of such System,
provided payments from the funds of the Combined System are required to be made into the
respective Debt Service Funds from time to time in amounts sufficient to pay the principal of
and interest as such principal and interest becomes due. Bonds and notes (“Parity Bonds™)
payable from revenues of the Combined System may be issued on a parity with outstanding
bonds secured by a System’s revenues provided at the time of the issuance of any such Parity
Bonds, among other things, the net earnings of the Combined System after making provision for
the payment of periodic installments of principal and interest on any bonds having a superior
lien on a system or the revenues of any such system, for a period of twelve consecutive months
(the “Twelve-Month Period”) out of the fifteen months immediately preceding the issuance of
such Parity Bonds shall be equal to at least 1.2 times the highest combined principal and interest
requirement for any period of twelve consecutive months beginning on July 1 of any succeeding
calendar year on all bonds outstanding and to be then issued directly payable from the revenues
of the Combined System.

If within twelve months prior to the issuance of the Parity Bonds, the Board shall have put into
effect a revised schedule of rates for the Combined System or any part thereof, then the net
earnings of the Combined System for the Twelve-Month Period, as certified by independent
consultants, that would have resulted from such revised rates had they been in effect for the
Twelve-Month Period, may be used in lieu of the actual net earnings for such Twelve-Month
Period.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing law and assuming compliance with certain
tax covenants by the Knoxville Utilities Board, interest on the Bonds will be excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes
of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; however, such
interest is taken into account in determining the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations
for purposes of the alternative minimum tax on corporations. For an explanation of certain tax
consequences under federal law which may result from the ownership of the Bonds, see the
discussion under the heading "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters" herein. Under existing law,
the Bonds and the income therefrom will be exempt from all state, county and municipal



taxation in the State of Tennessee, except inheritance, transfer and estate taxes, and Tennessee
franchise and excise taxes. (See "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters" herein).

Registration and

Paying Agent................ Regions Bank, Nashville, Tennessee.
Bond Counsel ................... Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, Knoxville, Tennessee.
Underwriters........ccooeevnnne Electric Bonds: JP Morgan Securities LLC, New York, New York.

Water Bonds: Raymond James, Memphis, Tennessee.
Wastewater Bonds: Bank of America Merrill Lynch, New York, New York.

Financial Advisor ............. Cumberland Securities Company, Inc., Knoxville, Tennessee.

General......ccoovvvevireneennn, The Bonds will be issued pursuant to Chapter 34, Title 7, and Chapter 21, Title 9, Tennessee
Code Annotated, as amended (the “Act”). See the sections entitled SECURITIES OFFERED,
herein. The Bonds will be issued with CUSIP numbers through the facilities of The Depository
Trust Company, New York, New York.

Disclosure.......cccevvreennnne. In accordance with Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™), the
Board will provide the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) through the
operation of the Electronic Municipal Market Access system (“EMMA”) and the State
information depository (“SID”) established in Tennessee, if any, annual financial statements and
other pertinent credit information, including the Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports of
KUB for the Systems. For additional information, see the section entitled “MISCELLANEOUS
- Continuing Disclosure” for additional information.

Other Information............. The information in the OFFICIAL STATEMENT is deemed “final” by the City and the Board
within the meaning of Rule 15¢2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission as of the date
which appears on the cover hereof. For more information concerning the City and the Board or
the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, Cumberland Securities Company, Inc., Knoxville, Tennessee,
Telephone: (865) 988-2663.

ELECTRIC DIVISION
For the Years Ended June 30

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Operating Revenues $463,036,187 $521,581,959 $506,053,787 $534,888,206 $527,832,791
Operating Expenses* (418,320,430) (471,156,397) (457,825,178) (481,546,956) (485,298,618)
Net Income Before

Depreciation & Taxes $44,715,757 $50,425,562 $48,228,609 $53,341,250 $42,534,173
Other Revenue 335,108 316,068 501,903 370,800 2,016,315
FICA Tax Expense (1,187,713) (1,219,037) (1,496,062) (1,656,801) (1,721,551)
Income Available for Debt Service $43,863,152 $49,522,593 $47,234,450 $52,055,249 $54,729,068
Debt Service on Senior Bonds $10,362,812 $10,458,263 $13,762,442 $13,408,457 $14,975,114
Bond Coverage 4.23x 4.74x 3.43x 3.88x 3.65x



WATER DIVISION
For the Years Ended June 30

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Operating Revenues $33,578,157 $36,415,692 $37,475,750 $38,063,528 $39,373,714
Operating Expenses (20,066,789) (21,183,418) (21,189,606) (21,427,740) (25,913,424)
Net Income Before

Depreciation & Taxes $13,511,368 $15,232,274 $16,286,144 $16,635,788 $13,460,290
Other Revenue 110,164 73,177 200,362 139,775 590,196
FICA Tax Expense (535,224) (577,235) (662,051) (624,282) (624,281)
Income Available for Debt Service $13,086,308 $14,728,216 $15,824,425 $16,151,281 $16,017,728
Debt Service on Senior Bonds $5,391,934 $5,948,815 $6,174,022 $7,550,442 $7,583,219
Bond Coverage 2.43x 2.48x 2.56x 2.14x 2.11x

WASTEWATER DIVISION
For the Years Ended June 30
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Operating Revenues $61,250,002 $65,774,599 $70,502,494 $74,579,313 $75,041,645
Operating Expenses™ (24,520,665) (25,176,191) (24,920,362) (27,822,708) (33,744,494)
Net Income Before

Depreciation & Taxes $36,729,337 $40,598,408 $45,582,133 $46,756,605 $41,297,151
Other Revenue 524,988 488,943 561,662 372,644 1,208,707
FICA Tax Expense (533,393) (530,895) (622,483) (674,060) (719,291)
Income Available for Debt Service $36,720,932 $40,556,456 $45,521,312 $46,455,189 $44,961,937
Debt Service on Senior Bonds $16,516,255 $22,928,768 $26,175,686 $26,616,517 $28,041,968
Bond Coverage 2.22x 1.77x 1.74x 1.75x 1.60x

Source:  The above amounts have been derived from the Annual Audited Financial Statements for the Knoxville Utilities Board, Electric, Water and
Wastewater Divisions and should be read in conjunction therewith.
*Excluding Provision for Depreciation and Taxes.






$85,000,000
CITY OF KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE
$35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series FF-2015
$20,000,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series CC-2015
$30,000,000 Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B

SECURITIES OFFERED

AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

This OFFICIAL STATEMENT, which includes the cover page and “Summary Statement” hereof and the
appendices hereto, is furnished in connection with the offering by the City of Knoxville, Tennessee (the “City”) of
its $35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series FF-2015 (“Electric Bonds” or “Series FF-2015 Bonds”),
$20,000,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series CC-2015 (“Water Bonds” or “Series CC-2015 Bonds”™), and
the $30,000,000 Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B (“Wastewater Bonds” or “Series 2015B
Bonds™). The Electric Bonds, the Water Bonds and the Wastewater Bonds will be collectively referred to as the
“Bonds”.

The Electric Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapter 34, Title 7, and Chapter 21, Title 9, Tennessee
Code Annotated, as amended (the “Act”), the Charter of the City (the “City Charter”), other applicable statutes, and
pursuant to Resolution No. 1644 adopted by the City on January 4, 1949 as amended and supplemented by
Resolution No. 2171 adopted February 22, 1955; Resolution No. 3491 adopted by the City on February 21, 1967;
Resolution R-317-90 adopted by the City on October 30, 1990; Resolution No. R-469-92 adopted by the City on
October 13, 1992; Resolution No. R-472-93 adopted by the City on October 26, 1993; Resolution No. R-95-95
adopted by the City on February 28, 1995; Resolution No. R-422-98 adopted by the City on October 20, 1998;
Resolution No. R-64-01 adopted by the City on February 20, 2001; Resolution No. R-148-01 adopted by the City
on March 20, 2001; Resolution No. R-480-01 adopted by the City on October 30, 2001; Resolution No. R-59-04
adopted by the City on March 2, 2004; Resolution No. R-261-05 adopted by the City on July 5, 2005; Resolution
No. R-78-06 adopted by the City on February 28, 2006; Resolution No. R-251-08 adopted by the City on July 29,
2008; Resolution No. R-332-2010 adopted by the City on November 2, 2010; Resolution No. R-335-2011 adopted
by the City on December 13, 2011; Resolution No. R-289-2012 adopted by the City on October 16, 2012;
Resolution No. R-321-2012 adopted by the City on November 13, 2012; Resolution No. R-213-2014 adopted by
the City on June 24, 2014; Resolution No. R-81-2015 adopted by the City on March 3, 2015; and Resolution No.
R-129-2015 adopted by the City on March 31, 2015. Resolution Nos. 1644, 2171, 3491, R-317-90, R-469-92, R-
472-93, R-95-95, R-422-98, R-64-01, R-148-01, R-480-01, R-59-04, R-261-05, R-78-06, R-251-08, R-332-2010,
R-335-2011, R-289-2012, R-321-2012, R-213-2014, R-81-2015 and R-129-2015 are hereinafter sometimes
collectively referred to as the “Electric Bond Resolutions.” All Electric System Revenue Bonds issued pursuant to
such Electric Bond Resolutions are hereinafter referred to as the “Electric System Bonds.”

The Water Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act, the City Charter, other applicable statutes, and
pursuant to Resolution No. 2075 duly adopted by the City Council of the City on April 20, 1954, as amended and
supplemented by Resolution No. 3633 duly adopted by the City on March 19, 1968; Resolution No. R-26-88 duly
adopted by the City on February 9, 1988; Resolution No. R-318-90 duly adopted by the City on October 30, 1990;
Resolution No. R-470-92 duly adopted by the City on October 13, 1992; Resolution No. R-474-93 duly adopted
by the City on October 26, 1993; Resolution No. R-8-98 duly adopted by the City on January 27, 1998; Resolution
No. R-65-01 duly adopted by the City on February 20, 2001; Resolution No. R-151-01 duly adopted by the City
on March 20, 2001; Resolution No. R-482-01 duly adopted by the City on October 30, 2001; Resolution No. R-
57-04 duly adopted by the City on March 2, 2004; Resolution No. R-263-05 duly adopted by the City on July 5,
2005; Resolution No. R-346-07 duly adopted by the City on August 28, 2007; Resolution No. R-211-09 duly
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adopted by the City on June 30, 2009; Resolution No. R-133-10 duly adopted by the City on May 4, 2010;
Resolution No. R-285-2011 duly adopted by the City on October 4, 2011; Resolution No. R-337-2011 adopted by
the City on December 13, 2011; Resolution No. R-323-2012 adopted by the City on November 13, 2012;
Resolution No. R-243-2013 adopted by the City on July 23, 2013; Resolution No. R-214-2014 adopted by the City
on June 24, 2014; Resolution No. R-83-2015 adopted by the City on March 3, 2015; and Resolution No. R-127-
2015 adopted by the City on March 31, 2015. Resolution Nos. 2075, 3633, R-26-88, R-318-90, R-470-92, R-474-
93, R-8-98, R-65-01, R-151-01, R-482-01, R-57-04, R-263-05, R-346-07, R-211-09, R-133-10, R-285-2011, R-
337-2011, R-323-2012, R-243-2013, R-214-2014, R-83-2015 and R-127-2015 are hereinafter sometimes
collectively referred to as the “Water Bond Resolutions.” All Water System Revenue Bonds issued pursuant to
such Water Bond Resolutions are hereinafter referred to as the “Water System Bonds.”

The Wastewater Bonds are being issued pursuant to the Act, the City Charter, other applicable statutes for
the purpose of providing funds to pay for the construction of improvements to and extending of the City’s
Wastewater System, and pursuant to Resolution No. R-129-90 adopted by the City on May 15, 1990, as amended
and supplemented by Resolution No. R-130-90 adopted May 15, 1990, Resolution No. R-473-93 adopted by the
City on October 26, 1992, Resolution No. R-5-98 adopted by the City on January 27, 1998, and Resolution No. R-
67-01 adopted by the City on February 20, 2001; Resolution No. R-148-01 adopted by the City on March 20, 2001;
Resolution No. R-481-01 adopted by the City on October 30, 2001; Resolution No. R-56-04 adopted by the City on
March 2, 2004; Resolution No. R-264-05 adopted by the City on July 5, 2005; Resolution No. R-347-07 adopted
by the City on August 28, 2007; Resolution No. R-252-08 adopted by the City on July 29, 2008; Resolution No. R-
11-S adopted by the City on December 15, 2009; Resolution No. R-134-2010 adopted by the City on May 4, 2010;
Resolution No. R-334-2010 adopted by the City on November 2, 2010; Resolution No. R-338-2011 adopted by the
City on December 13, 2011; Resolution No. R-291-2012 adopted by the City on October 16, 2012; Resolution No.
R-324-2012 adopted by the City on November 13, 2012; Resolution No. R-212-2014 adopted by the City on June
24, 2014; Resolution No. R-84-2015 adopted by the City on March 3, 2015; and Resolution No. R-128-2015
adopted by the City on March 31, 2015. Resolution Nos. R-129-90, R-130-90, R-473-93, R-5-98, R-67-01, R-
148-01, R-481-01, R-56-04, R-264-05, R-347-07, R-252-08, R-11-S, R-134-2010, R-334-2010, R-338-2011, R-
291-2012, R-324-2012, R-212-2014, R-84-2015 and R-128-2015 are hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to
as the “Wastewater Bond Resolutions.” All Wastewater System Revenue Bonds issued pursuant to such
Wastewater Bond Resolutions are hereinafter referred to as the “Wastewater System Bonds.”

In 1939 the City Charter was amended to create the Knoxville Electric Power and Water Board which name
was changed in 1947 to the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”). KUB provides electric, gas, water and wastewater
utility services through separate City owned electric, gas, water, and wastewater systems (the “Systems™), and is
governed by a seven member Board of Commissioners (the “Board”).

The Bonds are being issued to provide funds to pay the costs of extensions and improvements to the Electric
System, the Water System and the Wastewater System (collectively, the “Systems”), and the payment of legal,
fiscal and administrative costs incident thereto and incident to the issuance and sale of the Bonds.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS

General Terms

The Bonds will be initially dated May 20, 2015 and will be issued in book-entry-only form, without
coupons, in denominations of $5,000 each and integral multiples thereof.

The Electric Bonds will bear interest from their dated date at the rate or rates per annum set forth on the
inside cover page hereof, such interest (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) being
payable semi-annually on the first days of July and January of each year, commencing on January 1, 2016.

The Water Bonds will bear interest from their dated date at the rate or rates per annum set forth on the
inside cover page hereof, such interest (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months) being
payable semi-annually on the first days of March and September of each year, commencing on September 1, 2015.
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The Wastewater Bonds will bear interest from their dated date at the rate or rates per annum set forth on
the inside cover page hereof, such interest (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months)
being payable semi-annually on the first days of April and October of each year, commencing on October 1, 2015.

The Bonds will be initially registered only in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), which will act as securities depository for the Bonds. Regions Bank,
Nashville, Tennessee (the “Registration Agent”) will make all interest payments with respect to the Bonds on each
interest payment date directly to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the registered owner as shown on the Bond
registration records maintained by the Registration Agent as of the close of business on the fifteenth day of the
month next preceding the interest payment date (the “Regular Record Date”) by check or draft mailed to such
owner at its address shown on said Bond registration records, without, except for final payment, the presentation or
surrender of such registered Bonds, and all such payments shall discharge the obligations of KUB in respect of such
Bonds to the extent of the payments so made. Payment of principal of the Bonds shall be made upon presentation
and surrender of such Bonds to the Registration Agent as the same shall become due and payable.

Any interest on any Bond which is payable but is not punctually paid or duly provided for on any interest
payment date (hereinafter “Defaulted Interest”) shall forthwith cease to be payable to the registered owner on the
relevant Regular Record Date; and, in lieu thereof, such Defaulted Interest shall be paid by KUB to the persons in
whose names the Bonds are registered at the close of business on a date (the “Special Record Date”) for the
payment of such Defaulted Interest, which shall be fixed in the following manner: KUB shall notify the Registration
Agent in writing of the amount of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each Bond and the date of the proposed
payment, and at the same time KUB shall deposit with the Registration Agent an amount of money equal to the
aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory
to the Registration Agent for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment, such money when deposited to
be held in trust for the benefit of the persons entitled to such Defaulted Interest. Thereupon, not less than ten (10)
days after the receipt by the Registration Agent of the notice of the proposed payment, the Registration Agent shall
fix a Special Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest which date shall be not more than fifteen (15)
nor less than ten (10) days prior to the date of the proposed payment to the registered owners. The Registration
Agent shall promptly notify KUB of such Special Record Date and, in the hame and at the expense of KUB, not less
than ten (10) days prior to such Special Record Date, shall cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted
Interest and the Special Record Date therefor to be mailed, first class postage prepaid, to each registered owner at
the address thereof as it appears in the Bond registration records maintained by the Registration Agent as of the date
of such notice. Nothing contained in the Electric Bond Resolutions, Water Bond Resolutions or Wastewater Bond
Resolutions (the “Resolutions”) or in the Bonds shall impair any statutory or other rights in law or in equity of any
registered owner arising as a result of the failure of KUB to punctually pay or duly provide for the payment of
principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds when due.

So long as Cede & Co. is the Registered Owner of the Bonds, as hominee of DTC, references herein to the
Bondholders, Holders or Registered Owners of the Bonds shall mean Cede & Co. and shall not mean the Beneficial
Owners of the Bonds. See “The Book-Entry-Only System.”

Optional Redemption

The Electric Bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2023 will be subject to redemption prior to maturity at
the option of the Board on or after July 1, 2022 at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest as provided
herein. The Water Bonds maturing on and after March 1, 2023 will be subject to redemption prior to maturity at
the option of the Board on or after March 1, 2022 at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest as provided
herein. The Wastewater Bonds maturing on and after April 1, 2023 will be subject to redemption prior to maturity
at the option of the Board on or after April 1, 2022 at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest as provided
herein.



Mandatory Redemption Of The Bonds

Electric Bonds. Subject to the credit hereinafter provided, the City, acting by and through KUB, shall
redeem Electric Bonds maturing July 1, 2040 and July 1, 2045 on the redemption dates set forth on the following
table the maturity dates, in aggregate principal amounts equal to the respective dollar amounts set forth below
opposite the respective redemption dates at a price of par plus accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption.
The dates of redemption and principal amount of Electric Bonds to be redeemed on said dates are as follows:

Principal Amount of

Final Maturity Redemption Date Electric Bonds Redeemed
July 1, 2040 July 1, 2037 $1,400,000
July 1, 2038 $1,450,000
July 1, 2039 $1,500,000
July 1, 2040* $1,550,000
July 1, 2045 July 1, 2041 $1,600,000
July 1, 2042 $1,675,000
July 1, 2043 $1,725,000
July 1, 2044 $1,800,000
July 1, 2045* $1,850,000

*Final Maturity of Electric Bonds

Water Bonds. Subject to the credit hereinafter provided, the City, acting by and through KUB, shall
redeem Water Bonds maturing March 1, 2028, March 1, 2035, March 1, 2038, March 1, 2042 and March 1, 2045
on the redemption dates set forth on the following table the maturity dates, in aggregate principal amounts equal to
the respective dollar amounts set forth below opposite the respective redemption dates at a price of par plus
accrued interest thereon to the date of redemption.  The dates of redemption and principal amount of Water
Bonds to be redeemed on said dates are as follows:

Principal Amount of

Final Maturity Redemption Date Electric Bonds Redeemed
March 1, 2028 March 1, 2027 $ 550,000
March 1, 2028* $ 575,000
March 1, 2035 March 1, 2033 $ 700,000
March 1, 2034 $ 725,000
March 1, 2035* $ 750,000
March 1, 2038 March 1, 2036 $ 775,000
March 1, 2037 $ 800,000
March 1, 2038* $ 825,000



March 1, 2042 March 1, 2039 $ 875,000

March 1, 2040 $ 900,000
March 1, 2041 $ 925,000
March 1, 2042* $ 975,000
March 1, 2045 March 1, 2043 $1,000,000
March 1, 2044 $1,050,000
March 1, 2045* $1,075,000

*Final Maturity of Water Bonds

Wastewater Bonds. Subject to the credit hereinafter provided, the City, acting by and through KUB, shall
redeem Wastewater Bonds maturing April 1, 2040, April 1, 2045 and April 1, 2050 on the redemption dates set
forth on the following table the maturity dates, in aggregate principal amounts equal to the respective dollar
amounts set forth below opposite the respective redemption dates at a price of par plus accrued interest thereon to
the date of redemption. The dates of redemption and principal amount of Wastewater Bonds to be redeemed on
said dates are as follows:

Principal Amount of

Final Maturity Redemption Date Electric Bonds Redeemed
April 1, 2040 April 1, 2036 $ 975,000
April 1, 2037 $1,000,000
April 1, 2038 $ 500,000
April 1, 2039 $ 500,000
April 1, 2040* $ 500,000
April 1, 2045 April 1, 2041 $1,100,000
April 1, 2042 $1,150,000
April 1, 2043 $1,200,000
April 1, 2044 $1,250,000
April 1, 2045* $1,300,000
April 1, 2050 April 1, 2046 $1,350,000
April 1, 2047 $1,400,000
April 1, 2048 $1,450,000
April 1, 2049 $1,525,000
April 1, 2050* $1,575,000

*Final Maturity of Wastewater Bonds

At its option, to be exercised on or before the forty-fifth (45th) day next preceding any such redemption
date, the City, acting by and through KUB, may (i) deliver to the Registration Agent for cancellation Bonds of the
applicable series to be redeemed, in any aggregate principal amount desired, and/or (ii) receive a credit in respect
of its redemption obligation under this mandatory redemption provision for any Bonds of the maturity to be
redeemed which prior to said date have been purchased or redeemed (otherwise than through the operation of this
mandatory sinking fund redemption provision) and canceled by the Registration Agent and not theretofore applied
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as a credit against any redemption obligation under this mandatory sinking fund provision. Each Bond so
delivered or previously purchased or redeemed shall be credited by the Registration Agent at 100% of the
principal amount thereof on the obligation of KUB on such payment date and any excess shall be credited on
future redemption obligations in chronological order, and the principal amount of Bonds to be redeemed by
operation of this mandatory sinking fund provision shall be accordingly reduced.

Selection Of Bonds For Redemption And Notice Of Redemption

If less than all the Bonds of a series shall be called for redemption, the maturities to be redeemed shall be
designated by the Board, in its discretion. If less than all the principal amount of the Bonds of a maturity shall be
called for redemption, the interests within the maturity to be redeemed shall be selected as follows

() if the Bonds are being held under a Book-Entry-Only System by DTC, or a successor Depository,
the amount of the interest of each DTC Participant in the Bonds to be redeemed shall be determined by
DTC, or such successor Depository, by lot or such other manner as DTC, or such successor Depository,
shall determine; or

(i) if the Bonds are not being held under a Book-Entry-Only System by DTC, or a successor
Depository, the Bonds within the maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by the Registration Agent by
lot or such other random manner as the Registration Agent in its discretion shall determine.

Notice of call for redemption, whether optional or mandatory, shall be given by the Registration Agent not
less than twenty (20) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption by sending an
appropriate notice to the registered owners of the Bonds to be redeemed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at the
addresses shown on the Bond registration records of the Registration Agent as of the date of the notice; but neither
failure to mail such notice nor any defect in any such notice so mailed shall affect the sufficiency of the
proceedings for the redemption of any of the Bonds for which proper notice was given. The notice may state that
it is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys in an amount equal to the amount necessary to affect the redemption
with the Registration Agent no later than the redemption date (“Conditional Redemption”). As long as DTC, or a
successor Depository, is the registered owner of the Bonds, all redemption notices shall be mailed by the
Registration Agent to DTC, or such successor Depository, as the registered owner of the Bonds, as and when
above provided, and neither the District nor the Registration Agent shall be responsible for mailing notices of
redemption to DTC Participants or Beneficial Owners. Failure of DTC, or any successor Depository, to provide
notice to any DTC Participant will not affect the validity of such redemption. From and after any redemption date,
all Bonds called for redemption shall cease to bear interest if funds are available at the office of the Registration
Agent for the payment thereof and if notice has been duly provided as set forth in the Resolution. In the case of a
Conditional Redemption, the failure of the City, acting by and through KUB, to make funds available in part or
in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an event of default, and the Registration Agent
shall give immediate notice to the Depository or the affected Bondholders that the redemption did not occur and
that the Bonds called for redemption and not so paid remain outstanding.

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

The tables on the following pages set forth the sources and uses of funds in connection with the issuance of
the Bonds.

The Electric Bonds

Sources:
Principal amount of the Electric Bonds ...........cooeoreineineieeeeecee e $35,000,000.00
Net Reoffering PremiUm..........c.coiruiirieeeeeesesss s $ 2,325,426.75
TOLAl SOUICES ... vttt sttt sttt e st e st et e e st et s seeb et sresn e $37,325,426.75



Uses:
UNAEMWITEEI™S DISCOUNT.... oottt e bbb e b s
(000 0]l [S5SU = (o
Deposit to the Construction FUNG ...........cccceeviieiiiciriceseese e
TOLAl USES: ..ottt sttt st s sre b

The Water Bonds

Sources:
Principal amount of the Water Bonds..........c.ccoveirrinniineeeeeeee e,
Net Reoffering PremilM ... ..o e
TOUAI SOUICES........oviiiiii bbb

Uses:
UNAEerWter’s DISCOUNT........ccviiiieiicei ettt st
(001 A0l S U= Lo TS
Deposit to the CoNnstruction FUNG ............ccoooeiirineeneereese e
TOLAl USES: ...ttt st sre b

The Wastewater Bonds

Sources:
Principal amount of the Wastewater Bonds...........ccccccovveivveienineinseiceeeseennn
Net Reoffering PremilM ...........ooi oo e
TOLAl SOUICES ... ettt st

Uses:
UNAEMWIIEEI™S DISCOUNT.......covietiectieeti ettt e
(00 1S A0l S U= (o T
Deposit to the Construction FUNG ...........ccccccoeviveiiiciicceseese e
B 0] =L IO LT TR

PAYMENT OF BONDS

The Bonds will bear interest from their date or from the most recent interest payment date to which interest
has been paid or duly provided for, on the dates provided herein, such interest being computed upon the basis of a
360-day year of twelve 30-day months. Interest on each Bond shall be paid by check or draft of the Bond Registrar
day of the month next
preceding the interest payment date. The principal of and premium, if any, on the Bonds shall be payable in lawful

to the person in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on the 15th

money of the United States of America at the principal corporate trust office of the Bond Regi

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)

$ 432,968.76
$ 135,145.00
$36,757,312.99
$37,325,426.75

$20,000,000.00
$ 322,108.25
$20,322,108.25

$ 282,187.50
$  94,395.00
$19,945,525.75
$20,322,108.25

$30,000,000.00
$ 601,084.50
$30,601,084.50

$ 281,825.01
$ 114,595.00
$30,204,664.49
$30,601,084.50

strar.



SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

SECURITY FOR THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES FF-2015
Pledge Under the Bond Resolutions.

The Electric Bonds constitute and, when issued, will be part of an issue of bonds known as “Electric
System Revenue Bonds” under the Electric Bond Resolutions. All Electric Bonds are limited obligations of the City
payable solely and ratably from the net revenues of the Electric System and are on a parity and equality of lien with
the City’s outstanding: (i) Electric System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series W-2005 dated August 10, 2005; (ii)
Electric System Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series X-2006, dated May 23, 2006; (iii) Electric
System Revenue Bonds, Series Y-2009, dated February 20, 2009; (iv) Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series Z-
2010 (Federally Taxable Build America Bonds), dated December 8, 2010; (v) Electric System Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series AA-2012, dated April 20, 2012; (vi) Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series BB-2012, dated
December 18, 2012; (vii) Electric System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series CC-2013, dated March 15, 2013; (viii)
Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series DD-2014, dated September 18, 2014; and (ix) Electric System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series EE-2015, dated May 1, 2015 (collectively, the “Outstanding Electric System Bonds”)
issued pursuant to the Electric Bond Resolutions in addition to the Electric Bonds. The Electric Bonds, the
Outstanding Electric Bonds and any future parity bonds are sometimes hereinafter referred to as (the “Electric
System Bonds™).

Neither the Electric Bonds nor any of the Outstanding Electric System Bonds are general obligations of the
City, and no owner thereof shall have the right to compel the City to exercise its taxing power to pay principal of or
premium or interest on the Electric Bonds or any other Outstanding Electric System Bonds of the City.

Rate Covenant

The Electric Bond Resolutions provide that the Board will fix rates and collect charges for the Electric
System and the services, facilities and commaodities furnished by the Electric System of the City so as to provide
revenues sufficient to pay, as the same shall become due, the principal of and interest on the Electric Bonds and all
other Electric System Bonds in addition to paying, as the same shall become due, the necessary expenses of
operating and maintaining the Electric System and all other obligations and indebtedness payable out of the Electric
Fund of the Electric System, and that such rates and charges shall not be reduced so as to be insufficient to provide
revenues for said purposes. Rates and fees for electricity provided by the Electric System are established by the
Board.

Additional Electric Bonds

The City and the Board have covenanted in the Electric Bond Resolutions that no indebtedness will be
incurred payable from the revenues of the Electric System having priority over the Electric System Bonds,
including the Electric Bonds.

The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional bonds, notes or other
obligations pursuant to the Electric Bond Resolutions provided that all payments required to be made to the
Electric Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which may be required under resolutions authorizing parity
indebtedness are current as of the date of issuance of the additional bonds, notes or other obligations, on a parity
and equality of lien with the outstanding parity indebtedness under the Electric Bond Resolution with respect to
the lien and claim of such additional bonds, notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the Electric System
and the money on deposit in the Electric Debt Service Fund (i) for the purpose of refunding any outstanding parity
indebtedness, subordinate bonds, notes, loan agreements or other obligations, provided that after the issuance of
such additional parity indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Electric Bond Resolutions) on
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all outstanding parity indebtedness, including the additional parity indebtedness to be issued, in any fiscal year
shall not increase by more than ten percent (10%) after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness; (ii) for
the purpose of financing the completion or equipping of improvements to the Electric System for which
outstanding parity indebtedness have previously been issued but only to the extent necessary to complete such
improvements in the manner contemplated at the time of the issuance of the outstanding parity indebtedness that
financed such improvements; and (iii) for the purposes of refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness or any
prior lien bonds, subordinated bonds, notes or other obligations or extending, improving or replacing the Electric
System or for any other lawful purpose under applicable law, if one of the following conditions shall have been
met: (A) the Net Revenues (as defined in the Electric Resolution) for any twelve-month period selected by the
Board ending within the twelve months prior to the date of the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness must
have been equal to at least 120% of the Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Electric
Resolution) on outstanding parity indebtedness plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness
proposed to be issued or (B) the estimated Net Revenues of the Electric System for each of the three fiscal years
next succeeding the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness, must be equal at least to 120% of Maximum
Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding parity indebtedness and all outstanding prior lien bonds
plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be issued; provided, however, that if the
additional parity indebtedness is to be issued for the acquisition or construction of any extension, improvement or
replacement to the Electric System, then the estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three fiscal years ensuing
after the time that such improvement, extension or replacement is expected to be placed in service. See
APPENDIX F “Summary of Certain Provisions of the Electric Bond Resolutions — Additional
Indebtedness” for additional information, including amendments described therein.

SECURITY FOR THE WATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES CC-2015
Pledge Under the Water Bond Resolutions

The Water Bonds constitute and, when issued, will be part of an issue known as “Water System Revenue
Bonds” under the Water Bond Resolutions. All Water Bonds are limited obligations of the City payable solely and
ratably from the net revenues of the Water System of the City and are on a parity and equality of lien with the City's
outstanding: (i) Water System Revenue Improvement Bonds, Series R-2005, dated August 10, 2005; (ii) Water
System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series S-2005, dated August 10, 2005; (iii) Water System Revenue Bonds,
Series T-2007, dated November 1, 2007; (iv) Water System Revenue Bonds, Series U-2009, dated November 12,
2009; (v) Water System Revenue Bonds, Series W-2011, dated December 1, 2011; (vi) Water System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series X-2012, dated April 20, 2012; (vii) Water System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series Y-
2013, dated March 15, 2013; (viii) Water System Revenue Bonds, Series Z-2013, dated October 1, 2013; (ix) Water
System Revenue Bonds, Series AA-2014, dated September 18, 2014; and (x) Water System Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series BB-2015, dated May 1, 2015 (collectively, the “Outstanding Water System Bonds™). The Water
Bonds, the Outstanding Water System Bonds and any future parity Water Bonds are sometimes hereinafter referred
to as the “Water System Bonds”.

Neither the Water Bonds nor any of the Outstanding Water System Bonds are general obligations of the
City, and no owner thereof shall have the right to compel the City to exercise its taxing power to pay principal of or
premium or interest on the Water Bonds or any Outstanding Water System Bonds of the City.

Rate Covenant

The Water Bond Resolutions provides that the Board will fix rates and collect charges for the Water System
and the services, facilities and commaodities furnished by the Water System of the City so as to provide revenues
sufficient to pay, as the same shall become due, the principal of and interest on the Water Bonds and all other Water
System Water Bonds in addition to paying, as the same shall become due, the necessary expenses of operating and
maintaining the Water System and all other obligations and indebtedness payable out of the Water Fund of the
Water System, and that such rates and charges shall not be reduced so as to be insufficient to provide revenues for
said purposes.



Additional Water Bonds

The City, acting through the Board, has covenanted in the Water Bond Resolutions that it will incur no
indebtedness payable from the revenues of the Water System having priority over the Water System Bonds,
including the Water Bonds.

The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional Water Bonds, notes or other
obligations pursuant to the Water Bond Resolutions, provided that all payments required to be made to the Water
Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which may be required under resolutions authorizing parity
indebtedness are current as of the date of issuance of the additional Water Bonds, notes or other obligations, on a
parity and equality of lien with the outstanding parity indebtedness with respect to the lien and claim of such
additional Water Bonds, notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the Water System and the money on
deposit in the Water Debt Service Fund for the purpose of (i) refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness,
subordinate Water Bonds, notes, loan agreements or other obligations, provided that after the issuance of such
additional parity indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Water Bond Resolutions) on all
outstanding parity indebtedness, including the additional parity indebtedness to be issued, in any fiscal year shall
not increase by more than ten percent (10%) after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness; (ii) for the
purpose of financing the completion or equipping of improvements to the Water System for which outstanding
parity indebtedness have previously been issued but only to the extent necessary to complete such improvements
in the manner contemplated at the time of the issuance of the outstanding parity indebtedness that financed such
improvements; and (iii) for the purposes of refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness or any prior lien Water
Bonds, subordinated Water Bonds, notes or other obligations or extending, improving or replacing the Water
System or for any other lawful purpose under applicable law, if one of the following conditions shall have been
met: (A) the Net Revenues (as defined in the Water Bond Resolutions) for any twelve-month period selected by
the Board ending within the twelve months prior to the date of the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness
must have been equal to at least 120% of the Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Water
Bond Resolutions) on outstanding parity indebtedness plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness
proposed to be issued or (B) the estimated Net Revenues of the Water System for each of the three fiscal years
next succeeding the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness, must be equal at least to 120% of Maximum
Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding parity indebtedness and all outstanding prior lien Water
Bonds plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be issued; provided, however, that
if the additional parity indebtedness is to be issued for the acquisition or construction of any extension,
improvement or replacement to the Water System, then the estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three fiscal
years ensuing after the time that such improvement, extension or replacement is expected to be placed in service.
See APPENDIX G “Summary of Certain Provisions of the Water Bond Resolution — Additional
Indebtedness” for additional information.

SECURITY FOR THE WASTEWATER SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2015B
Pledge Under the Bond Resolution

The Wastewater Bonds constitute and, when issued, will be part of an issue known as “Wastewater System
Revenue Bonds” under the Wastewater System Bond Resolutions. All Wastewater Bonds are limited obligations of
the City payable solely and ratably from the net revenues of the Wastewater System of the City and are on a parity
and equality of lien with the City's outstanding: (i) Wastewater System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005B,
dated August 10, 2005; (ii) Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2008, dated December 23, 2008; (iii)
Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 (Federally Taxable Build America Bonds), dated February 10,
2010; (iv) Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010C (Federally Taxable Build America Bonds), dated
December 8, 2010; (v) Wastewater System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012A, dated April 20, 2012; (vi)
Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2012B, dated December 18, 2012 ; (vii) Wastewater System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A, dated March 15, 2013; (viii) Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A,
dated September 18, 2014; and (ix) Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015A, dated May 1, 2015
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(collectively, the “Outstanding Wastewater System Bonds”). The Wastewater Bonds, the Outstanding Wastewater
System Bonds and any future parity bonds are sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Wastewater System
Bonds”.

Neither the Wastewater Bonds nor any of the Outstanding Wastewater System Bonds are general
obligations of the City, and no owner thereof shall have the right to compel the City to exercise its taxing power to
pay principal of or premium or interest on the Wastewater Bonds or any other Outstanding Wastewater System
Bonds of the City.

Rate Covenant

The Wastewater System Bond Resolutions provide that the Board will fix rates and collect charges for the
Wastewater System and the services and facilities furnished by the Wastewater System of the City so as to provide
revenues sufficient to pay, as the same shall become due, the principal of and interest on the Bonds and all other
Wastewater System Bonds in addition to paying, as the same shall become due, the necessary expenses of operating
and maintaining the Wastewater System and all other obligations and indebtedness payable out of the Wastewater
Fund of the Wastewater System, and that such rates and charges shall not be reduced so as to be insufficient to
provide revenues for said purposes.

Additional Wastewater Bonds

The City and the Board have covenanted in the Wastewater Bond Resolutions that it will incur no
indebtedness payable from the revenues of the Wastewater System having priority over the Wastewater System
Bonds, including the Wastewater Bonds.

The City, acting by and through the Board, or the Board may issue additional bonds, notes or other
obligations pursuant to the Wastewater Bond Resolutions provided that all payments required to be made to the
Wastewater Debt Service Fund and into any reserve fund which may be required under resolutions authorizing
parity indebtedness are current as of the date of issuance of the additional bonds, notes or other obligations, on a
parity and equality of lien with the outstanding parity indebtedness under the Wastewater Bond Resolution, with
respect to the lien and claim of such additional bonds, notes or other obligations to the net revenues of the
Wastewater System and the money on deposit in the Wastewater Debt Service Fund (i) for the purpose of
refunding any outstanding parity indebtedness, subordinate bonds, notes, loan agreements or other obligations,
provided that after the issuance of such additional parity indebtedness, the Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in
the Wastewater Resolution) on all outstanding parity indebtedness, including the additional parity indebtedness to
be issued, in any fiscal year shall not increase by more than ten percent (10%) after the issuance of such additional
parity indebtedness; (ii) for the purpose of financing the completion or equipping of improvements to the
Wastewater System for which outstanding parity indebtedness have previously been issued but only to the extent
necessary to complete such improvements in the manner contemplated at the time of the issuance of the
outstanding parity indebtedness that financed such improvements; and (iii) for the purposes of refunding any
outstanding parity indebtedness or any prior lien bonds, subordinated bonds, notes or other obligations or
extending, improving or replacing the Wastewater System or for any other lawful purpose under applicable law, if
one of the following conditions shall have been met: (A) the Net Revenues (as defined in the Wastewater
Resolution) for any twelve-month period selected by the Board ending within the twelve months prior to the date
of the issuance of the additional parity indebtedness must have been equal to at least 120% of the Maximum
Annual Aggregate Debt Service (as defined in the Wastewater Resolution) on outstanding parity indebtedness plus
the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness proposed to be issued or (B) the estimated Net Revenues of
the Wastewater System for each of the three fiscal years next succeeding the issuance of the additional parity
indebtedness, must be equal at least to 120% of Maximum Annual Aggregate Debt Service, any other outstanding
parity indebtedness and all outstanding prior lien bonds plus the Debt Service on the additional parity indebtedness
proposed to be issued; provided, however, that if the additional parity indebtedness is to be issued for the
acquisition or construction of any extension, improvement or replacement to the Wastewater System, then the
estimate of Net Revenues may be for the three fiscal years ensuing after the time that such improvement,
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extension or replacement is expected to be placed in service. See APPENDIX H “Summary of Certain
Provisions of the Wastewater Bond Resolutions — Additional Indebtedness” for additional information.

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)
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BASIC DOCUMENTATION

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The Bonds, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., DTC’s partnership nominee.
When the Bonds are issued, ownership interests will be available to purchasers only through a book-entry-only
system maintained by DTC (the “Book-Entry-Only System”). One or more fully-registered bond certificates
will be issued for each maturity, in the entire aggregate principal amount of the Bonds and will be deposited
with DTC.

DTC and its Participants. DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Bank Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial
Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for securities that its participants (the “Direct
Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the settlement among Direct Participants of securities
transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited securities through electronic computerized
book-entry-only changes in DTC Participants’ accounts, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of
securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of its Direct
Participants and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Government Securities Clearing
Corporation, MBS Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation, (the “NSCC”,
“GSCC”, “MBSCC”, and “EMCC”, also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the New York Stock
Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”), the American Stock Exchange LLC and the National Association of Securities
Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others, such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities
brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
Direct DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants” and, together with the Direct
Participants, the “Participants”). DTC has S&P’s rating of “AA+.” The rules applicable to DTC and its
Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be
found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchase of Ownership Interests. Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or
through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest
of each actual purchaser of each Bond (a “beneficial owner™) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and
Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their
purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through
whom such beneficial owners entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to
be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of beneficial
owners. Beneficial owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds,
except as specifically provided in the Bonds in the event that use of the book-entry-only system is discontinued.

Payments of Principal and Interest. Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede
& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is
to credit Direct Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from
the Registration Agent on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s
records, unless DTC has reason to believe it will not receive payment on such date. Payments by Direct and
Indirect Participants to beneficial owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as
is the case with municipal securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street
name”, and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the City or the Registration Agent
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of
redemption proceeds, principal, tender price and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as
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may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Registration Agent,
disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of
such payments to the beneficial owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

Notices. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to beneficial owners
will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in
effect from time to time. Beneficial owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to
them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and
proposed amendments to the bond documents. Beneficial owners of the Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to beneficial owners, or in
the alternative, beneficial owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Registration Agent and
request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such
maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the
Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as practicable after the record date. The Omnibus
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the
Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

NONE OF THE CITY, KUB, THE FINANCIAL ADVISOR, THE UNDERWRITER OR THE
REGISTRATION AGENT WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO SUCH
PARTICIPANTS OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO THE
PAYMENT TO, OR THE PROVIDING OF NOTICE FOR, SUCH PARTICIPANTS OR THE PERSONS
FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES.

Transfers of Bonds. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with
DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of the Bonds with DTC and their registration in
the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no
knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct
Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the beneficial owners. The
Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers.

None of the City, KUB, the Financial Advisor, the Registration Agent or the Underwriter will have any
responsibility or obligation, legal or otherwise, to any party other than to the registered owners of any Bond on
the registration books of the Registration Agent.

NO ASSURANCE REGARDING DTC PRACTICES

The foregoing information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry-only system has
been obtained from sources that the City acting by and through KUB, believes to be reliable, but the City, KUB,
the Registration Agent and the Underwriter do not take any responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Bonds as nominee of DTC, references herein to

the holders or registered owners of the Bonds will mean Cede & Co. and will not mean the beneficial owners of
the Bonds.
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None of the City, KUB, the Registration Agent, the Financial Advisor or the Underwriter will have any
responsibility or obligation to the Participants, DTC or the persons for whom they act with respect to (i) the
accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or by any Direct or Indirect Participant of DTC, (ii) payments or
the providing of notice to Direct Participants, the Indirect Participants or the beneficial owners or (iii) any other
action taken by DTC or its partnership nominee as owner of the Bonds.

For more information on the duties of the Registration Agent, please refer to the Resolution.
DEBT LIMITATIONS

Pursuant to Title 7, Chapter 34, Tennessee Code Annotated, as amended, there is no limit on the amount of
bonds that may be issued when the City uses the statutory authority granted therein to issue bonds.

DISPOSITION OF BOND PROCEEDS
Electric Bonds
The proceeds of the sale of the Electric Bonds shall be applied as follows:

(@ an amount equal to interest accrued on the Electric Bonds from the dated date until the date of
delivery of the Electric Bonds, if any, shall be deposited to the Electric Debt Service Fund to be used to pay interest
on the Electric Bonds on the first interest payment date following delivery of the Electric Bonds; and

(b)  the remainder of the proceeds of the sale of the Electric Bonds shall be used to pay the costs of the
construction of improvements to and extensions to the Electric System, cost related to the issuance and sale of
the Electric Bonds, including necessary legal, accounting and fiscal expenses, printing, engraving, advertising
and similar expenses, administrative and clerical costs, rating agency fees, Registration Agent Fees and other
necessary miscellaneous expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Electric Bonds (as
more fully described in the Electric Bond Resolutions) and other necessary miscellaneous expenses incurred in
connection with the issuance and sale of the Electric Bonds.

Water Bonds
The proceeds of the sale of the Water Bonds shall be applied as follows:

(@ anamount equal to interest accrued on the Water Bonds, if any, from the dated date until the date of
delivery of the Water Bonds, if any, shall be deposited to the Water Debt Service Fund to be used to pay interest on
the Bonds on the first interest payment date following delivery of the Water Bonds; and

(b)  the remainder of the proceeds of the sale of the Water Bonds shall be used to pay the costs of the
construction of improvements to and extensions to the Water System, cost related to the issuance and sale of the
Water Bonds, including necessary legal, accounting and fiscal expenses, printing, engraving, advertising and
similar expenses, administrative and clerical costs, rating agency fees, Registration Agent Fees and other
necessary miscellaneous expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Water Bonds (as
more fully described in the Water Bond Resolutions) and other necessary miscellaneous expenses incurred in
connection with the issuance and sale of the Water Bonds.

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)
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Wastewater Bonds

The proceeds of the sale of the Wastewater Bonds shall be applied as follows:

(@ an amount equal to interest accrued on the Wastewater Bonds from the dated date until the date of
delivery of the Wastewater Bonds, if any, shall be deposited to the Wastewater Debt Service Fund to be used to pay
interest on the Bonds on the first interest payment date following delivery of the Wastewater Bonds; and

(b) the remainder of the proceeds of the sale of the Wastewater Bonds shall be used to pay the costs of
the construction of improvements to and extensions to the Wastewater System, cost related to the issuance and
sale of the Wastewater Bonds, including necessary legal, accounting and fiscal expenses, printing, engraving,
advertising and similar expenses, administrative and clerical costs, rating agency fees, Registration Agent Fees
and other necessary miscellaneous expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the
Wastewater Bonds (as more fully described in the Wastewater Bond Resolutions) and other necessary
miscellaneous expenses incurred in connection with the issuance and sale of the Wastewater Bonds.

DISCHARGE AND SATISFACTION OF BONDS

The respective series of Bonds may be discharged and deemed paid as described in Appendix F, Appendix
G and Appendix H, which are “Summaries of Resolutions”.

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)
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LEGAL MATTERS

LITIGATION

There are no suits pending or, to KUB’s knowledge, threatened challenging the legality or validity of the
Bonds or the right of KUB to sell or issue the Bonds, or that will have an adverse impact on KUB’s ability to pay
debt service on the Bonds.

TAX MATTERS
Federal
General. Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, Knoxville, Tennessee, is Bond Counsel for the Bonds. Their

opinion under existing law, relying on certain statements by KUB and assuming compliance by KUB with
certain covenants, is that interest on the Bonds:

. is excluded from a bondholder's federal gross income under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “Code”),

. is not a preference item for a bondholder under the federal alternative minimum tax, and

. is included in the adjusted current earnings of a corporation under the federal corporate

alternative minimum tax.

The Code imposes requirements on the Bonds that KUB must continue to meet after the Bonds are
issued. These requirements generally involve the way that Bond proceeds must be invested and ultimately
used. If KUB does not meet these requirements, it is possible that a bondholder may have to include interest on
the Bonds in its federal gross income on a retroactive basis to the date of issue. KUB has covenanted to do
everything necessary to meet these requirements of the Code.

A bondholder who is a particular kind of taxpayer may also have additional tax consequences from
owning the Bonds. This is possible if a bondholder is:

. an S corporation,

. a United States branch of a foreign corporation,

. a financial institution,

. a property and casualty or a life insurance company,

. an individual receiving Social Security or railroad retirement benefits,
. an individual claiming the earned income credit or

. a borrower of money to purchase or carry the Bonds.

If a bondholder is in any of these categories, it should consult its tax advisor.

Bond Counsel is not responsible for updating its opinion in the future. It is possible that future events or
changes in applicable law could change the tax treatment of the interest on the Bonds or affect the market price
of the Bonds. See also "Proposed Legislation and Other Matters" below in this heading.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action taken or not taken in reliance upon an
opinion of other counsel on the federal income tax treatment of interest on the Bonds, or under State, local or
foreign tax law.

Bond Premium. If a bondholder purchases a Bond for a price that is more than the principal amount,
generally the excess is "bond premium" on that Bond. The tax accounting treatment of bond premium is complex.
It is amortized over time and as it is amortized a bondholder's tax basis in that Bond will be reduced. The holder
of a Bond that is callable before its stated maturity date may be required to amortize the premium over a shorter
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period, resulting in a lower yield on such Bonds. A bondholder in certain circumstances may realize a taxable gain
upon the sale of a Bond with bond premium, even though the Bond is sold for an amount less than or equal to the
owner's original cost. If a bondholder owns any Bonds with bond premium, it should consult its tax advisor
regarding the tax accounting treatment of bond premium.

Original Issue Discount. A Bond will have "original issue discount” if the price paid by the original
purchaser of such Bond is less than the principal amount of such Bond. Bond Counsel's opinion is that any
original issue discount on these Bonds as it accrues is excluded from a bondholder's federal gross income under
the Internal Revenue Code. The tax accounting treatment of original issue discount is complex. It accrues on an
actuarial basis and as it accrues a bondholder's tax basis in these Bonds will be increased. If a bondholder owns
one of these Bonds, it should consult its tax advisor regarding the tax treatment of original issue discount.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. Information reporting requirements apply to interest on
tax-exempt obligations, including the Bonds. In general, such requirements are satisfied if the interest recipient
completes, and provides the payor with a Form W-9, "Request for Taxpayer ldentification Number and
Certification,” or if the recipient is one of a limited class of exempt recipients. A recipient not otherwise exempt
from information reporting who fails to satisfy the information reporting requirements will be subject to "backup
withholding," which means that the payor is required to deduct and withhold a tax from the interest payment,
calculated in the manner set forth in the Code. For the foregoing purpose, a "payor" generally refers to the person
or entity from whom a recipient receives its payments of interest or who collects such payments on behalf of the
recipient.

If an owner purchasing a Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in connection with
the establishment of such account, as generally can be expected, no backup withholding should occur. In any
event, backup withholding does not affect the excludability of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for
Federal income tax purposes. Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup withholding would be allowed as a
refund or a credit against the owner's Federal income tax once the required information is furnished to the Internal
Revenue Service.

State Taxes

Under existing law, the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all present state, county and
municipal taxes in Tennessee except (a) inheritance, transfer and estate taxes, (b) Tennessee excise taxes on
interest on the Bonds during the period the Bonds are held or beneficially owned by any organization or entity, or
other than a sole proprietorship or general partnership doing business in the State of Tennessee, and (c) Tennessee
franchise taxes by reason of the inclusion of the book value of the Bonds in the Tennessee franchise tax base of
any organization or entity, other than a sole proprietorship or general partnership, doing business in the State of
Tennessee.

CHANGES IN FEDERAL AND STATE TAX LAW

From time to time, there are Presidential proposals, proposals of various federal committees, and
legislative proposals in the Congress and in the states that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal and state tax
matters referred to herein or adversely affect the marketability or market value of the Bonds or otherwise prevent
holders of the Bonds from realizing the full benefit of the tax exemption of interest on the Bonds. Further, such
proposals may impact the marketability or market value of the Bonds simply by being proposed. It cannot be
predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to
bonds issued prior to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed and
litigation is threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could adversely
affect the market value, marketability or tax status of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether any such
regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether
the Bonds would be impacted thereby. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any
pending or proposed legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation. The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are
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based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of
the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date
subsequent thereto or with respect to any proposed or pending legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the foregoing
matters.

CLOSING CERTIFICATES

Upon delivery of the Bonds, the Board and / or KUB will execute in a form satisfactory to Bond Counsel,
certain closing certificates (which may be combined into one or more certificates) including the following: (i) A
certificate as to the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, signed by the President & Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer of KUB acting in their official capacity to the effect that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, and after reasonable investigation, (a) neither the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form,
nor any amendment or supplement thereto, contains any untrue statements of material fact or omits to state any
material fact necessary to make statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they are made,
misleading, (b) since the date of the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, no event has occurred which should
have been set forth in such a memo or supplement, (c) there has been no material adverse change in the operation
or the affairs of KUB since the date of the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, and having attached thereto a
copy of the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, and (d) there is no litigation of any nature pending or
threatened seeking to restrain the issuance, sale, execution and delivery of the Bonds, or contesting the validity of
the Bonds or any proceeding taken pursuant to which the Bonds were authorized; (ii) a non-arbitrage certificate
which supports the conclusions that based upon facts, estimates and circumstances in effect, upon delivery of the
Bonds, the proceeds of the Bonds will not be used in a manner which would cause the Bonds to be arbitrage
Bonds; (iii) certificates as to the delivery and payment, signed by the President & CEO and the CFO acting in
their official capacity, evidencing delivery of and payment for the Bonds; and (iv) a signature identification and
incumbency certificate, signed by the President & Chief Executive Officer and the CFO of KUB acting in their
official capacities certifying as to the due execution of the Bonds.

APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Certain legal matters relating to the authorization and the validity of the Bonds are subject to the approval
of Bass, Berry & Sims PLC, Knoxville, Tennessee, Bond Counsel. Bond counsel has not prepared the
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT or the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, or verified their
accuracy, completeness or fairness. Accordingly, bond counsel expresses no opinion of any kind concerning the
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT or OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, except for the
information under the caption “LEGAL MATTERS- Tax Matters”. The opinion of Bond Counsel will be limited
to matters relating to authorization and validity of the Bonds and to the tax-exemption of interest on the Bonds
under present federal income tax laws, both as described above. The legal opinion will be delivered with the
Bonds and is included in APPENDIX A, hereto.

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)
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MISCELLANEOUS
RATINGS

Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services (“Standard & Poor’s”) and Moody’s Investor Services, Inc.
(“Moody’s™) have given the Electric Bonds the ratings of “AA+” and “Aa2”, respectively. Standard and Poor’s
and Moody’s have given the Water Bonds the ratings of “AAA” and “Aa2”, respectively. Standard and Poor’s
and Moody’s have given the Wastewater Bonds the ratings of “AA+” and “Aa2”, respectively.

KUB furnished Moody's and Standard & Poor’s with certain information and materials concerning the
Bonds, the City and KUB. Generally, Moody's and Standard & Poor’s base their ratings on such information and
materials and also on such investigations, studies and assumptions that they may undertake independently. Such
ratings reflect only the views of such organizations and explanations of the significance of such ratings should be
obtained from such agencies.

There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of time or that the ratings may not
be suspended, lowered or withdrawn entirely by Moody's and Standard & Poor’s, if circumstances so warrant. Due
to the ongoing uncertainty regarding the economy of the United States of America, including, without limitation,
matters such as the future political uncertainty regarding the United States debt limit, obligations issued by state
and local governments, such as the Bonds, could be subject to a rating downgrade. Additionally, if a significant
default or other financial crisis should occur in the affairs of the United States or of any of its agencies or political
subdivisions, then such event could also adversely affect the market for and ratings, liquidity, and market value of
outstanding debt obligations, including the Bonds. Any such downward change in or withdrawal of the ratings
may have an adverse effect on the secondary market price of the Bonds.

Any explanation of the significance of the ratings may be obtained only from Moody's and Standard &
Poor’s.

COMPETITIVE PUBLIC SALE

The Bonds will be offered for sale at competitive public bidding on the sale date indicated in the
OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE. Details concerning the public sale were provided to potential bidders and others
in the PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT dated April 10, 2015.

The successful bidder for the Electric Bonds was an account led by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, New
York, New York (the “Electric Underwriters”) who contracted with the City, acting by and through KUB, subject
to the conditions set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and Bid Form, to purchase the Electric Bonds at a
purchase price of $36,892,457.99 (consisting of the par amount of the Bonds, plus a reoffering premium of
$2,325,426.75 and less an underwriter’s discount of $432,968.76) or 105.407% of par.

The successful bidder for the Water Bonds was an account led by Raymond James, Memphis, Tennessee
(the “Water Underwriters”) who contracted with the City, acting by and through KUB, subject to the conditions
set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and Bid Form, to purchase the Water Bonds at a purchase price of
$20,039,920.75 (consisting of the par amount of the Bonds, plus a net reoffering premium of $322,108.25 and less
an underwriter’s discount of $282,187.50) or 100.200% of par.

The successful bidder for the Wastewater Bonds was an account led by Bank of America Merrill Lynch,
New York, New York (the “Wastewater Underwriters”) who contracted with the City, acting by and through
KUB, subject to the conditions set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and Bid Form, to purchase the Wastewater
Bonds at a purchase price of $30,319,259.49 (consisting of the par amount of the Bonds, plus a net reoffering
premium of $601,084.50 and less an underwriter’s discount of $281,825.01) or 101.064% of par.
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After the Bonds have been awarded, KUB will prepare an OFFICIAL STATEMENT in final form to be
dated as of the sale date. The OFFICIAL STATEMENT in final form will include, among other matters, the
identity of the winning bidders, the expected selling compensation to such underwriters and other information on
the interest rates and offering prices or yields of the Bonds, all as supplied by the successful bidders. For
additional information, see the section entitled LEGAL MATTERS - Closing Certificates contained herein.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR; RELATED PARTIES; OTHER

Financial Advisor. Cumberland Securities Company, Inc., Knoxville, Tennessee has been employed by
KUB to serve as its Financial Advisor. The Financial Advisor is an independently owned financial advisory
firm.

Regions Bank. Regions Bank (the “Bank™) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Regions Financial
Corporation. The Bank provides, among other services, commercial banking, investments and corporate trust
services to private parties and to State and local jurisdictions, including serving as registration, paying agent, filing
agent or escrow agent related to debt offerings. The Bank will receive compensation for its role in serving as
Registration and Paying Agent for the Bonds. In instances where the Bank serves KUB in other normal
commercial banking capacities, it will be compensated separately for such services.

Official Statements. Certain information relative to the location, economy and finances of the Issuer is
found in the Preliminary Official Statement, in final form and the Official Statement, in final form. Except where
otherwise indicated, all information contained in this Official Statement has been provided by KUB. The
information set forth herein has been obtained by KUB from sources which are believed to be reliable but is not
guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as a representation of, the Financial
Advisor or the Underwriter. The information contained herein is subject to change without notice, and neither the
delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances create an
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of KUB, or the other matters described herein since the
date hereof or the earlier dates set forth herein as of which certain information contained herein is given.

Cumberland Securities Company, Inc. distributed the Preliminary Official Statement, in final form, and
the Official Statement, in final form on behalf of KUB and will be compensated and/or reimbursed for such
distribution and other such services.

Bond Counsel. From time to time, Bass, Berry & Sims PLC has represented the Bank on legal matters
unrelated to KUB and may do so again in the future.

Other. Among other services, Cumberland Securities Company, Inc. and the Bank may also assist local
jurisdictions in the investment of idle funds and may serve in various other capacities, including Cumberland
Securities Company’s role as serving as KUB’s Dissemination Agent. If KUB chooses to use one or more of
these other services provided by Cumberland Securities Company, Inc. and/or the Bank, then Cumberland
Securities Company, Inc. and/or the Bank may be entitled to separate compensation for the performance of such
services.

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

The financial statements of the Electric Division, the Gas Division, the Water Division and the
Wastewater Division of KUB, as of June 30, 2014 and June 30, 2013 for the years then ended, included in this
Official Statement, have been audited by Rodefer Moss & Co., PLLC, independent accountants, as stated in their
report appearing herein. Effective January 20, 2015, KUB’s independent accountants are Coulter & Justus, P.C.
Coulter & Justus will perform audits of the financial systems of the Electric, Gas, Water and Wastewater
Divisions beginning as of June 30, 2015.
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FUTURE BONDS

KUB does expect to occasionally sell, from time to time, additional Electric System Bonds, Gas System
Bonds, Water System Bonds and Wastewater System Bonds to finance normal and customary extensions and
improvements to the Systems, and to refinance certain outstanding bonds at lower interest rates.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

KUB will at the time the Bonds are delivered execute a Continuing Disclosure Certificate as to each
System under which it will covenant for the benefit of holders and beneficial owners of the Bonds to provide
certain financial information and operating data relating to KUB by not later than twelve months after the end of
each fiscal year commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015 (the "Annual Report"), and to provide
notice of the occurrence of certain significant events not later than ten business days after the occurrence of the
events and notice of failure to provide any required financial information of KUB. The Annual Report (and
audited financial statements if filed separately) and notices described above will be filed by KUB with the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board ("MSRB") at www.emma.msrb.org and with any State Information
Depository which may be established in Tennessee (the "SID"). The specific nature of the information to be
contained in the Annual Report or the notices of events is summarized below. These covenants have been made in
order to assist the Underwriters in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15¢2-12(b), as it
may be amended from time to time (the "Rule™).

Five-Year History of Filing. While it is believed that all appropriate filings were made with respect to the
ratings of KUB’s outstanding bond issues, which some were insured by the various municipal bond insurance
companies, no absolute assurance can be made that all such rating changes of the bonds or various insurance
companies which insured some transactions were made or made in a timely manner as required by SEC Rule
15c2-2. With the exception of the foregoing, for the past five years, KUB has complied in all material respects
with its existing continuing disclosure agreements in accordance with SEC Rule 15¢2-12.

Content of Annual Reports. KUB’s Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference the audited
financial statements of each System for the prior fiscal year, prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, and audited in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America; provided, however, if KUB’s audited financial statements are not
available by the time the Annual Report is required to be filed, the Annual Report shall contain unaudited financial
statements in a format similar to the financial statements contained herein, and the audited financial statements
shall be filed when available. The Annual Report shall also include in a similar format the following information
included in APPENDIX B entitled “SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION STATEMENT.”

Electric Division.

1 Electric Rates of the Electric Division as shown on page B-7 through B-84;

2. Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position - Knoxville Utilities Board Electric
Division for the fiscal year as shown on page B-87;

3. Operating and financial history for such year as shown on page B-88;

4. The ten largest electric customers of the Electric Division as shown on page B-89;
5. Summary of outstanding bonded indebtedness as shown on page B-90;

6. Summary of bonded debt service requirements as shown on page B-91; and

7. Historical Debt Service Coverages as shown on page B-92.
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Water System.

1 Water Rates of the Water Division as shown on page C-6 through C-12;
2. Operating statistics and customer numbers for such year as shown on page C-14;
3. Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position - Knoxville Utilities Board Water

Division for the fiscal year as shown on page C-15;

4. The ten largest Water customers of the Water Division as shown on page C-17;
5. Summary of outstanding bonded indebtedness as shown on page C-18;

6. Summary of bonded debt service requirements as shown on page C-19; and

4, Historical Debt Service Coverages as shown on page C-20.

Wastewater System.

1 Wastewater Rates of the Wastewater Division as shown on page D-6 through D-15;
2. Operating statistics and customer numbers for such year as shown on page D-17;
3. Statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position - Knoxville Utilities Board

Wastewater Division for the fiscal year as shown on page D-18;

4. The ten largest Wastewater customers of the Wastewater Division as shown on page D-19;
5. Summary of outstanding bonded indebtedness as shown on page D-20;

6. Summary of bonded debt service requirements as shown on page D-21; and

7. Historical Debt Service Coverages as shown on page D-22.

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including
OFFICIAL STATEMENTS in final form for debt issues of KUB or the City or related public entities, which have
been submitted to the MSRB’s EMMA site. If the document incorporated by reference is a final OFFICIAL
STATEMENT, in final form, it will be available from the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. KUB or the
City shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.

Reporting of Significant Events. KUB will file notice regarding material events with the MSRB and the
SID, if any, as follows:

1. Upon the occurrence of a Listed Event (as defined in (3) below), KUB shall in a timely manner, but
in no event more than ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such event, file a notice of
such occurrence with the MSRB and SID, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of
Listed Events described in subsection (3)(h) and (i) need not be given under this subsection any
earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of affected Bonds
pursuant to the Resolution.
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2. For Listed Events where notice is only required upon a determination that such event would be
material under applicable Federal securities laws, KUB shall determine the materiality of such
event as soon as possible after learning of its occurrence.

3. The following are the Listed Events:

a.

b.

Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

Non-payment related defaults, if material,

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

Modifications to rights of Bondholders, if material,

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

Defeasances;

Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;

Rating changes;

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;

The consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving an obligated person
or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in
the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such
an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other

than pursuant to its terms, if material; and

Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material.

Termination of Reporting Obligation. KUB’s obligations under the Disclosure Certificate shall terminate
upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds.

Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of a Disclosure Certificate, KUB may amend
any Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of a Disclosure Certificate may be waived, provided that the
following conditions are satisfied:

(@) If the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions concerning the Annual Report and reporting
of material significant events it may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a
change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature or status of an obligated person with
respect to the Bonds, or the type of business conducted;
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(b) The undertaking, as amended or taking into account such waiver, would, in the opinion of
nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the original
issuance of the Bonds, after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any
change in circumstances; and

) The amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by the holders of the applicable Bonds in the
same manner as provided in the applicable Resolution for amendments to that Resolution with the consent of
holders, or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests of the
holders or beneficial owners of the Bonds.

In the event of any amendment or waiver of a provision of a Disclosure Certificate, KUB shall describe
such amendment in the next Annual Report, and shall include, as applicable, a narrative explanation of the reason
for the amendment or waiver and its impact on the type (or, in the case of a change of accounting principles, on
the presentation) of financial information or operating data being presented by KUB. In addition, if the
amendment relates to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, (i) notice of such
change shall be given, and (ii) the Annual Report for the year in which the change is made should present a
comparison (in narrative form and also, if feasible, in quantitative form) between the financial statements as
prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting
principles.

Default. In the event of a failure of KUB to comply with any provision of a Disclosure Certificate, any
holder or any beneficial owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking
mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause KUB to comply with its obligations under the Disclosure
Certificate. A default under a Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default, if any, under any
Resolution and the sole remedy under each Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of KUB to comply
with the Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Use of the words “shall,”" "must," or "will" in the PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT and
OFFICIAL STATEMENT in summaries of documents or laws to describe future events or continuing obligations
is not intended as a representation that such event will occur or obligation will be fulfilled but only that the
document or law contemplates or requires such event to occur or obligation to be fulfilled.

Any statements made in the PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT and OFFICIAL STATEMENT
involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as
representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates or matters of opinion will be
realized. Neither the PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT and OFFICIAL STATEMENT nor any
statement which may have been made orally or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the owners of the
Bonds.

The references, excerpts and summaries contained herein of certain provisions of the laws of the State of
Tennessee, and any documents referred to herein, do not purport to be complete statements of the provisions of
such laws or documents, and reference should be made to the complete provisions thereof for a full and complete
statement of all matters of fact relating to the Bonds, the security for the payment of the Bonds, and the rights of
the holders thereof.

The PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT and OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, and any
advertisement of the Bonds, is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the City and the purchasers
of any of the Bonds. Any statements or information printed in this PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT or
the OFFICIAL STATEMENT, in final form, involving matters of opinions or of estimates, whether or not
expressly so identified, is intended merely as such and not as representation of fact.
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KUB, on behalf of the City, has deemed this OFFICIAL STATEMENT as “final” as of its date within
the meaning of Rule 15¢2-12(b) of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(the balance of this page left blank intentionally)
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CERTIFICATION OF ISSUER

On behalf of the City and KUB, we hereby certify that to the best of our knowledge and belief, the
information contained herein as of this date is true and correct in all material respects, and does not contain an
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated where necessary to make the
statement made, in light of the circumstance under which they were made, not misleading.

KNOXVILLE UTILITIES BOARD

/sl Mintha E. Roach
President & CEO

[s/ Mark A. Walker
Senior Vice President & CFO
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LAW OFFICES OF
BASS, BERRY & SIMS PLC
900 SOUTH GAY STREET, SUITE 1700
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37902

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of Knoxville,
Tennessee (the "lIssuer") of $35,000,000 Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series FF-2015, dated May 20,
2015 (the "Bonds"). In such capacity, we have examined the law and such certified proceedings and
other papers as we deemed necessary to render this opinion.

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and
other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify such facts
by independent investigation.

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion, as of the date hereof, as follows:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued in accordance with the
constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and are valid and binding obligations of the Issuer.

2. Resolution No. R-129-2015 of the City Council of the Issuer authorizing the Bonds has
been duly and lawfully adopted, is in full force and effect and is a valid and binding agreement of the
Issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms.

3. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable solely from and
secured by a pledge of the income and revenues to be derived from the operation of the electric system of
the Issuer, subject only to the payment of the reasonable and necessary costs of operating, maintaining,
repairing, and insuring said system and on a parity and equality of lien with the Issuer's Electric System
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series W-2005, dated August 10, 2005, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter,
its Electric System Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series X-2006, dated May 23, 2006,
maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter, its Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series Y-2009, dated February
20, 2009, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter, its Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series Z-2010
(Federally Taxable Build America Bonds), dated December 8, 2010, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter,
its Electric System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series AA-2012, dated April 20, 2012, maturing July 1,
2015 and thereafter, its Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series BB-2012, dated December 18, 2012,
maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter, its Electric System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series CC-2013,
dated March 15, 2013, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter, its Electric System Revenue Bonds, Series
DD-2014, dated September 18, 2014, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter and its Electric System
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series EE-2015, dated May 1, 2015, maturing July 1, 2015 and thereafter.
We express no opinion as to the sufficiency of such revenues for the payment of principal of, premium, if
any, or interest on the Bonds. The owners of the Bonds shall have no recourse to the power of taxation of
the Issuer.

4. Interest on the Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an
owner thereof) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations;
however, it should be noted that for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on
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certain corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in
determining adjusted current earnings. The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the
condition that the Issuer comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue
to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply
with all such requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause interest on
the Bonds to be so included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. Except as
set forth in this Paragraph 4, we express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with
respect to the Bonds.

5. Under existing law, the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all present
state, county and municipal taxation in Tennessee except (a) inheritance, transfer and estate taxes, (b)
Tennessee excise taxes on all or a portion of the interest on any of the Bonds during the period such
Bonds are held or beneficially owned by any organization or entity, other than a sole proprietorship or
general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee, and (c) Tennessee franchise taxes by reason
of the inclusion of the book value of the Bonds in the Tennessee franchise tax base or any organization or
entity, other than a sole proprietorship or general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee.

It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the
Bonds and the resolution authorizing the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable
principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official
Statement relating to the Bonds.

This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update or supplement
this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or changes in
law that may hereafter occur.

Very truly yours,
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LAW OFFICES OF
BASS, BERRY & SIMS PLC
900 SOUTH GAY STREET, SUITE 1700
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37902

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of Knoxuville,
Tennessee (the "Issuer™) of $20,000,000 Water System Revenue Bonds, Series CC-2015, dated May 20,
2015 (the "Bonds"). In such capacity, we have examined the law and such certified proceedings and
other papers as we deemed necessary to render this opinion.

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and
other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify such facts
by independent investigation.

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion, as of the date hereof, as follows:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued in accordance with the
constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and are valid and binding obligations of the Issuer.

2. Resolution No. R-127-2015 of the City Council of the Issuer authorizing the Bonds has
been duly and lawfully adopted, is in full force and effect and is a valid and binding agreement of the
Issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms.

3. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable solely from and
secured by a pledge of the income and revenues to be derived from the operation of the water distribution
and treatment system of the Issuer, subject only to the payment of the reasonable and necessary costs of
operating, maintaining, repairing, and insuring said system and on a parity and equality of lien with the
Issuer's outstanding its Water System Revenue Improvement Bonds, Series R-2005, dated August 10,
2005, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Water System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series S-
2005, dated August 10, 2005, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Water System Revenue Bonds,
Series T-2007, dated November 1, 2007, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Water System
Revenue Bonds, Series U-2009, dated November 12, 2009, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its
Water System Revenue Bonds, Series W-2011, dated December 1, 2011, maturing March 1, 2016 and
thereafter, its Water System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series X-2012, dated April 20, 2012, maturing
March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Waster System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series Y-2013, dated March
15, 2013, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Water System Revenue Bonds, Series Z-2013, dated
October 1, 2013, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Water System Revenue Bonds, Series AA-
2014, dated September 18, 2014, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter and its Water System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series BB-2015, dated May 1, 2015, maturing March 1, 2016 and thereafter. We
express no opinion as to the sufficiency of such revenues for the payment of principal of, premium, if any,
or interest on the Bonds. The owners of the Bonds shall have no recourse to the power of taxation of the
Issuer.

4. Interest on the Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an
owner thereof) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations;
however, it should be noted that for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on
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certain corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in
determining adjusted current earnings. The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the
condition that the Issuer comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue
to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply
with all such requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause interest on
the Bonds to be so included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. Except as
set forth in this Paragraph 4, we express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with
respect to the Bonds.

5. Under existing law, the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all present
state, county and municipal taxation in Tennessee except (a) inheritance, transfer and estate taxes, (b)
Tennessee excise taxes on all or a portion of the interest on any of the Bonds during the period such
Bonds are held or beneficially owned by any organization or entity, other than a sole proprietorship or
general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee, and (c) Tennessee franchise taxes by reason
of the inclusion of the book value of the Bonds in the Tennessee franchise tax base or any organization or
entity, other than a sole proprietorship or general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee.

It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the
Bonds and the resolution authorizing the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable
principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official
Statement relating to the Bonds.

This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update or supplement
this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or changes in
law that may hereafter occur.

Very truly yours,
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LAW OFFICES OF
BASS, BERRY & SIMS PLC
900 SOUTH GAY STREET, SUITE 1700
KNOXVILLE, TENNESSEE 37902

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of Knoxuville,
Tennessee (the "lIssuer') of $30,000,000 Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2015B, dated May
20, 2015 (the "Bonds"). In such capacity, we have examined the law and such certified proceedings and
other papers as we deemed necessary to render this opinion.

As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the certified proceedings and
other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to verify such facts
by independent investigation.

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion, as of the date hereof, as follows:

1. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed and issued in accordance with the
constitution and laws of the State of Tennessee and are valid and binding obligations of the Issuer.

2. Resolution No. R-128-2015 of the City Council of the Issuer authorizing the Bonds has
been duly and lawfully adopted, is in full force and effect and is a valid and binding agreement of the
Issuer enforceable in accordance with its terms.

3. The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable solely from and
secured by a pledge of the income and revenues to be derived from the operation of the wastewater
treatment and collection system of the Issuer, subject only to the payment of the reasonable and necessary
costs of operating, maintaining, repairing, and insuring said system and on a parity and equality of lien
with the Issuer's outstanding its Wastewater System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005B, dated
August 10, 2005, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series
2008, dated December 23, 2008, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Wastewater System Revenue
Bonds, Series 2010 (Federally Taxable Build America Bonds), dated February 20, 2010, maturing April
1, 2043 and thereafter, its Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2010C (Federally Taxable Build
America Bonds), dated December 8, 2010, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Wastewater System
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012A, dated April 20, 2012, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter, its
Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2012B, dated December 18, 2012, maturing April 1, 2016 and
thereafter, its Wastewater System Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2013A, dated March 15, 2013,
maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter, its Wastewater System Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A, dated
September 18, 2014, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter and its Wastewater System Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A, dated May 1, 2015, maturing April 1, 2016 and thereafter. We express
no opinion as to the sufficiency of such revenues for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or
interest on the Bonds. The owners of the Bonds shall have no recourse to the power of taxation of the
Issuer.

4. Interest on the Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an
owner thereof) is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, is not an item of tax
preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations;
however, it should be noted that for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on
certain corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in
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determining adjusted current earnings. The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the
condition that the Issuer comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue
to be, excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The Issuer has covenanted to comply
with all such requirements. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause interest on
the Bonds to be so included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. Except as
set forth in this Paragraph 4, we express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with
respect to the Bonds.

5. Under existing law, the Bonds and the income therefrom are exempt from all present
state, county and municipal taxation in Tennessee except (a) inheritance, transfer and estate taxes, (b)
Tennessee excise taxes on all or a portion of the interest on any of the Bonds during the period such
Bonds are held or beneficially owned by any organization or entity, other than a sole proprietorship or
general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee, and (c) Tennessee franchise taxes by reason
of the inclusion of the book value of the Bonds in the Tennessee franchise tax base or any organization or
entity, other than a sole proprietorship or general partnership, doing business in the State of Tennessee.

It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the
Bonds and the resolution authorizing the Bonds may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable
principles, whether considered at law or in equity.

We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official
Statement relating to the Bonds.

This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligation to update or supplement
this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention or changes in
law that may hereafter occur.

Very truly yours,
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APPENDIX B-1

THE ELECTRIC DIVISION
(CUSIP 499746)






THE ELECTRIC DIVISION

INTRODUCTION

Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”) was established in 1939 and, under terms of the
current City Charter, is vested with the authority to purchase, produce, sell and distribute utility
services both inside and outside the city limits. All of the facilities used to provide these services
are under the jurisdiction, control and management of the Board of Commissioners of KUB.

SOURCE OF ELECTRIC POWER

KUB does not generate any electric power. KUB purchases its entire power supply
requirements from the Tennessee Valley Authority (“TVA”) pursuant to a power contract dated
May 11, 1988 as supplemented and amended (the “Power Contract”). The Power Contract is the
fourth to be entered into between KUB and TVA. Under the Power Contract, TVA agrees to
supply the amount of electric power required for service to KUB’s electric customers and KUB
agrees to purchase all of its electric power from TVA, about 6 billion kilowatt hours annually.

The Power Contract provides that TVA shall make every reasonable effort to increase the
generating capacity of its system and to provide transmission facilities required to deliver the
output thereof so as to be in a position to supply additional power when and to the extent needed
by KUB. Neither TVA nor KUB is liable for breach of contract if the availability or use of
power is interrupted or curtailed or if either party is prevented from performing under the Power
Contract by circumstances reasonably beyond its control. The amount of power supplied by
TVA and the contractual obligation to supply such power are limited by the capacity of TVA’s
generating and transmission facilities and the customary purchases from other companies on the
power grid.

The Power Contract provides that KUB may sell power to all customers in its service
area, except certain federal installations and large customers, which TVA may serve directly. At
the present time, TVA does not directly serve any customers located within KUB’s electric
service territory.

The initial term of the contract was for twenty years, with an automatic one-year
extension beginning on the tenth anniversary of the contract. In May 2002, KUB and TVA
amended the contract in several ways to provide more flexibility to both parties. First, KUB’s
contract termination notification requirement was reduced from ten years to five years. Also,
TVA relinquished its regulatory authority over KUB’s electric retail rates (prior to May 2002,
the Power Contract specified the retail rates to be charged by KUB, and KUB was obligated to
adjust these rates in response to any adjustment in TVA wholesale rates. The adjustment of
retail rates to cover changes in KUB cost also had to be approved by TVA).

To date the deregulation of the electric industry has not directly impacted the Tennessee
Valley region. In April 1996 the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) issued Order
888 which effectively ordered public interstate transmission companies to provide open access to
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their transmission systems. TVA, which is not presently subject to FERC jurisdiction, cannot be
ordered by FERC to transmit (wheel) power on behalf of others for use inside its legislatively
defined service territory (the “Fence”). Consequently, this “Anti-Cherry Picking” provision of
federal law combined with KUB’s long-term power contract with TVA has essentially precluded
KUB from having the opportunity to purchase power from alternative sources.

THE TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY

TVA was established as a wholly-owned corporate agency and instrumentality of the
United States of America by the Tennessee Valley Authority Act of 1933, as amended. The
Act’s objective is the development of the resources of the Tennessee Valley and adjacent areas in
order to strengthen the regional and national economy and the national defense. Its specific
purposes include: (1) flood control on the Tennessee River and its tributaries, and assistance to
flood control on the lower Ohio and the Mississippi Rivers; (2) a modern navigable channel for
the Tennessee River; (3) an ample supply of power within an area of 80,000 square miles; (4)
development and introduction of more efficient soil fertilizers; and (5) greater agricultural and
industrial development and improved forestry in the region.

In 2005, Congress passed legislation that impacted TVA in two significant ways. First, it
changed the structure of TVA’s Board from a three-person, full-time Board to a nine-person,
part-time Board, which meets at least four times per year. The new Board members, whose
appointment terms are five years, were appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate.
All powers of TVA are vested in its Board. Second, the new law requires TVA to file periodic
financial updates with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and be subject to
certain reporting requirements of the SEC.

THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM

KUB’s electric system service territory covers 688 square miles, including portions of
seven counties. The system includes over 5,268 miles of service lines and 60 distribution
substations. The peak capacity of the system is 2,600 MVA.

In 2007 KUB launched Century Il, a new infrastructure management program, which
includes life cycle replacement programs for all major assets for KUB’s utility systems. KUB
placed the programs on hold in 2009 in response to the economic recession in an effort to help
customers struggling in the difficult economy. In April 2011, given the critical infrastructure
needs of its systems, the KUB Board endorsed a plan to resume Century Il in the fall of 2011.
The Board endorsed ten-year funding plans to support the implementation of the programs,
which included a combination of rate increases and debt issues to fully fund the programs over
the next ten years. In September 2011, the Board adopted the first three rate increases of the ten-
year funding plan for the electric system, which were effective October 2011, October 2012, and
October 2013, respectively.

The electric distribution system is an older system with several major components

nearing the end of or exceeding their respective service lives, including poles, underground
electric cable, and certain substation transformers. In addition, KUB needs to upgrade certain
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existing circuits and build new circuits to provide greater operational flexibility and reduce storm
restoration times.

Ten years of Century Il funding for the electric system will result in the replacement of
all critical substation transformers, 26,000 wood poles, and all XLP (cross-linked polyethylene)
underground cable. By 2021, no poles older than the mid-1960s will remain on the distribution
system.

Over the last three fiscal years, KUB has invested approximately $112 million in capital
expenditures in its electric system Century Il program and is on track to achieve its target
replacement goals for the ten-year plan endorsed by the KUB Board in 2011.

In June 2014, the Board approved the next phase of rate increases to support the Century
electric program. The rate increases will provide an additional $5 million in annual revenue to
help fund Century Il. The first rate increase was effective July 2014, and the remaining rate
increases will be effective July 2015, and July 2016, respectively.

SMART GRID DOE GRANT

KUB was awarded a grant from the Department of Energy in October 2009 under DOE's
Smart Grid Investment Grant Program. The grant, which totals $3.58 million, was used to help
fund a smart grid pilot project in the University of Tennessee and surrounding areas. The pilot
project included the installation of over 6,000 digital electronic smart meters and an advanced
metering infrastructure (AMI) communications backbone, which provides coverage for KUB's
entire service territory. The communications infrastructure enables KUB to remotely read the
meters, and also provide remote service connection/disconnection capabilities. The original term
for the project was three years and was due to end in 2013. An additional year was added to the
project as approved by the United States Department of Energy. During fiscal year 2014, KUB
developed a customer e-portal to provide detailed utility consumption information. The
deployment strategy of the customer e-portal to customers is underway. Successful completion
of the integration of polyphase meter data into KUB’s customer billing system for commercial
and industrial customers was also achieved during fiscal year 2014. The grant funded $0.3
million of the communications infrastructure installed this fiscal year. KUB is in the process
with DOE to close out this phase of the project, as all requirements of this grant were completed
during fiscal year 2014.

Based on the success of the pilot, KUB intends to phase in a system-wide deployment of
smart meters and other smart grid technologies over a multi-year period commencing in fiscal
year 2016. The total projected cost of the system-wide deployment is $103 million through 2024,
including $52 million for the installation of electric, gas and water smart meters; $35 million for
the extension of fiber to substations and other critical utility system infrastructure; $11 million
for the strategic installation of distribution and substation automation devices (faulted circuit
indicators and voltage control devices); and $5 million for on-going support and administrative
costs, including licensing fees and additional staffing. The Electric Division’s estimated share of
the cost is $78.5 million. The deployment will be funded by debt and incremental rate increases
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beginning fiscal year 2018. The electric rate increases previously adopted by the Board for July
2015 and July 2016, respectively, will not be modified.

SUPERFUND SITE

At the request of the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), the U.S. Department of Justice
has advised KUB that KUB is a potential responsible party for contribution liability under the
Superfund Act for part of the DOE’s costs of responding to the release and threatened release of
hazardous substances from what is known as the Witherspoon Landfill Sites (1630 and 901
Maryville Pike, Knoxville, Tennessee). DOE completed the remedial cleanup for all sites.

PENSION PLAN

The Plan is a single-employer contributory, defined benefit pension plan established by
Resolution No. 980 dated February 18, 1999, effective July 1, 1999, as authorized by the Charter
of the City of Knoxville § 1107(J). The Plan is designed to provide retirement, disability and
death benefits. The Plan is a governmental plan as defined by the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974 and is not subject to any of the provisions of the Act, and was
revised January 1, 2014 to include all prior approved amendments.

At December 31, 2013, the Plan had approximately 639 retirees and beneficiaries
currently receiving benefits and 49 terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet
receiving them. Of the approximately 778 current employees in the Plan, 743 were fully vested
at December 31, 2013. The Plan issues a financial report, which includes financial statements
and required supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville
Utilities Board Pension Division, P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

Effective January 1, 2011, KUB has frozen the Plan such that persons employed or re-
employed by KUB on or after January 1, 2011, shall not be eligible to participate, but that
eligible employees hired prior to January 1, 2011, who have not separated from service, shall
continue as Participants and accrue benefits under the Plan.

For the Plan year ended December 31, 2013, a contribution of $6.3 million was required
to be made in the Plan sponsor’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. The Electric Division’s
portion of this contribution was $3 million. The annual required contribution was determined as
part of the January 1, 2013 valuation using the Individual Entry Age Normal funding method.
The objective under this method is to fund each participant’s benefits under the Plan as payments
which are level as a percentage of salary, starting on the original participation date (employment
date) and continuing until the assumed retirement, termination, disability or death. For the Plan
year ended December 31, 2013, the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 89.3 percent, and the
market value funded ratio was 94.7 percent.

Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the actuarial valuation for the Plan year ending December
31, 2014 was completed. The actuarial valuation resulted in an actuarially determined
contribution of $5.7 million for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, based on the Plan’s current
funding policy. The Electric Division’s portion of this contribution is $2.7 million. For the Plan
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year ending December 31, 2014, the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 94.6 percent, and the
market value funded ratio was 102.5 percent.

GASB has adopted new accounting standards for governmental defined benefit pension
plans that will be effective for KUB for its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014. These standards
are known as GASB 67, which covers pension plan accounting, and GASB 68, which provides
for financial reporting by governmental plan sponsors. The new standards require the immediate
recognition of the plan’s unfunded liability, if any, and faster recognition of investment gains and
losses on plan assets. As a result, annual pension expense will be subject to increased volatility
and will no longer represent annual cash contributions to the pension fund. Given the new
standards effectively decouple pension accounting from pension funding, governmental plan
sponsors, such as KUB, will need to adopt funding policies for their plans. In fact, the Tennessee
General Assembly adopted legislation in 2014 that requires all governmental plan sponsors in the
state to formally adopt funding policies, which must include certain provisions, including fully
funding annual actuarially determined contributions. The KUB Board of Commissioners
adopted a Formal Pension Plan Funding Policy on December 2014.

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) established new standards for
the measurement, recognition, and reporting of other post-employment benefits (OPEB). OPEB
includes post-employment benefits other than pension, which, for KUB, is presently limited to
post-employment health care. GASB 45 requires the recognition of the accrued OPEB liability
for the respective year, plus the disclosure of the total unfunded liability. GASB 45 was
effective for KUB for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2007.

KUB currently provides post-employment health care benefits to 604 former employees
and 619 covered dependents. The cost of coverage is shared with retirees and beneficiaries.
KUB recognizes its share of the cost of post-employment health care benefits as an expense as
claims are paid.

In anticipation of GASB 45, KUB amended its Group Health Plan in 1999, eliminating
post-employment health care benefits for all employees hired on or after July 1, 1999. As of
June 30, 2013, 399 active employees were eligible for individual and dependent coverage at
separation if the employee meets the Rule of 80 (age plus years of service) with a minimum of
20 years of service.

In May 2006, the state of Tennessee adopted Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter
50, Part 12 authorizing governmental entities to establish Trusts for the purpose of pre-funding
their respective OPEB liabilities.

Although GASB 45 does not require pre-funding of the liability, KUB has determined

that it is in the long-term economic interest of KUB and its ratepayers to establish a Trust to pre-
fund KUB’s OPEB liability.
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In October 2007, the KUB Board authorized the establishment of an OPEB Trust. The
applicable documentation was submitted to the State Funding Board and, in December 2007, the
State Funding Board approved the Trust. The Trust was also approved by the Internal Revenue
Service in June 2008.

The Trust issues a financial report, which includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville Utilities Board
Retirement System, P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Trust is
governed by a board of trustees, appointed by KUB’s President & CEO. The investment of all
deposits to the Trust is governed by an Investment Policy, which was adopted by the KUB Board
and approved by the State Funding Board.

Total contributions to the OPEB Trust for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 were $4.1
million (Division’s share $1.9 million). The contribution to the Trust exceeded the annual
actuarially determined contribution, as determined by the Postretirement Benefit Plan’s actuarial
valuation for the year ended December 31, 2012, which was $3.3 million (Division’s share $1.6
million). As of June 30, 2014, the employer’s OPEB obligation has been exceeded by $0.2
million (Division’s share $0.08 million).

The actuarially determined contribution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, as
determined by the Plan’s actuarial valuation for the year ended December 31, 2013 is $3.5
million (Division’s share $1.7 million).

The actuarial valuation for the Plan for the year ending December 31, 2014 has been
completed. The valuation determined that the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 93 percent, and
the market value funded ratio was 100 percent. The valuation also determined that the
employer’s actuarially determined contribution is $0.9 million for the fiscal year ending June 30,
2016 (Division’s share $0.46 million).

FISCAL YEAR 2015 FINANCIAL UPDATE

For the six months ending December 31, 2014, KUB’s Electric Division recorded
earnings of $6.8 million, representing an increase of $0.3 million over the same period last fiscal
year. KUB sold $40 million in electric system revenue bonds in August 2014. Electric sales
volumes were 0.04 percent higher than the same period last fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2014, the Electric Division had $211 million in outstanding debt,
representing a debt to capitalization ratio of 39.8 percent. The Electric Division’s maximum debt
service coverage ratio was 3.65 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Capital investment in electric system infrastructure was $58.8 million for Fiscal Year

2014, reflecting KUB’s continued commitment to the timely replacement of critical electric
system assets, including poles, underground cable, and substation transformers, in addition to
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key overhead line and substation improvement projects. (KUB’s electric system registered a new
all-time peak on February 20, 2015 at 1.328 MW.)

ELECTRIC RATES

The rate schedules of the Electric Division are subject to the approval of the KUB Board
of Commissioners. In October 2002, the Board established a Purchased Power Adjustment (the
“PPA”) mechanism, which provides for the adjustment of applicable electric rates to changes in
TVA’s wholesale power costs. In October 2006, TVA incorporated a Fuel Cost Adjustment that
is evaluated on a quarterly basis to reflect change in the TVA’s fuel costs. These fuel cost
adjustments are flowed through the KUB’s electric customers via the PPA mechanism. In
October of 2009 TVA'’s Fuel Cost Adjustments were changed to a monthly evaluation.

In April 2011, TVA modified its wholesale rate structure to demand and energy billing
for its distributors. In response, KUB revised its Purchased Power Adjustment to include a
deferred accounting component to ensure appropriate matching of revenue and expenses and
power cost recovery. KUB will adjust its retail rates on an annual basis to flow any over or under
recovery of wholesale power costs through to its customers via the Purchased Power Adjustment.

The December 2014 rate schedules of the Electric Division are as follows:

RESIDENTIAL RATE - SCHEDULE RS
Availability

This rate shall apply only to electric service to a single-family dwelling and its
appurtenances, where the major use of electricity is for domestic purposes such as lighting,
household appliances, and the personal comfort and convenience of those residing therein.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a service voltage

available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB. Multi-phase service shall be supplied in

accordance with KUB’s standard policy.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $14.00 per month

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 8.575¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 8.534¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 8.534¢ per kWh per month
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Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months.

Minimum Monthly Bill

The base customer charge constitutes the minimum monthly bill for all customers served
under this rate schedule except those customers for which a higher minimum monthly bill is
required under KUB’s standard policy because of special circumstances affecting the cost of
rendering service.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

GENERAL POWER RATE - SCHEDULE GSA
Availability
This rate shall apply to the firm power requirements (where a customer’s contract
demand is 5,000 kKW or less) for electric service to commercial, industrial, and governmental
customers, and institutional customers including without limitation, churches, clubs, fraternities,
orphanages, nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses, and like customers. This rate shall also
apply to customers to whom service is not available under any other resale rate schedule.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a service
voltage available in the vicinity or agreed to by KUB.

[balance of page left blank]
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Base Charges

1) If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand, if any, or
(ii) its highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is not more than 50 kW and
(b) the customer's monthly energy takings for any month during such period do not exceed
15,000 kWh:

Customer Charge: $20.00 per delivery point per month
Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 9.986¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 9.945¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 9.945¢ per kWh per month

2) If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (ii) its
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 50 kW but not more than
1,000 kW or (b) the customer's billing demand is less than 50 kW and its energy takings for any
month during such period exceed 15,000 kWh:

Customer Charge: $55.00 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand
charge
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at
$13.05 per kW
Winter Period - First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand
charge
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at
$12.26 per kW
Transition Period -  First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand
charge
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at
$12.26 per kW
Energy Charge:
Summer Period - First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.067¢ per kWh

Additional kwWh per month at 5.792¢ per kWh

Winter Period - First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.026¢ per kWh
Additional kwWh per month at 5.792¢ per kWh

Transition Period -  First 15,000 kwh per month at 11.026¢ per kWh
Additional kwh per month at 5.792¢ per kWh

[balance of page left blank]
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3) If the higher of (a)the customer's currently effective contract demand or (b) its
highest billing demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 1,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $150.00 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $13.10
per KW

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at
$14.26 per kW, plus an additional $14.26 per kW
per month for each kW, if any, of the amount by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds the
higher of 2,500 kKW or its contract demand

Winter Period - First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.34
per KW

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at
$13.50 per kW, plus an additional $13.50 per kW
per month for each kW, if any, of the amount by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds the
higher of 2,500 kW or its contract demand

Transition Period - First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.34
per KW

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at
$13.50 per kW, plus an additional $13.50 per kW
per month for each kW, if any, of the amount by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds the
higher of 2,500 kW or its contract demand

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 6.177¢ per KWh per month
Winter Period - 6.177¢ per KWh per month

Transition Period -  6.177¢ per KWh per month
Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods
Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter Period
shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition Period shall
mean the April, May, October, and November billing months.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers having loads in excess of 50 kW.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
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minute period of the month of the load metered in kW. The measured demand for any month
shall be the higher of the highest average during any 30-consecutive-minute period of the month
of (a) the load metered in KW or (b) 85 percent of the load in k\VA plus an additional 10 percent
for that part of the load over 5,000 kVA, and such measured demand shall be used as the billing
demand, except that the billing demand for any month shall in no case be less than 30 percent of
the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established
during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule shall not be less than the sum of (a) the base
customer charge, (b) the base demand charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s billing
demand, and (c) the base energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s energy takings;
provided, however, that, under (2.) of the Base Charges, the monthly bill shall in no event be less
than the sum (a) the base customer charge and (b) 20 percent of the portion of the base demand
charge, as adjusted, applicable to the second block (excess over 50kW) of billing demand,
multiplied by the higher of the customer’s currently effective contract demand or its highest
billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirements

KUB shall require contracts for service provided under this rate schedule to customers
whose demand requirements exceed 1,000 kW and such contracts shall be for an initial term of at
least one year. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not
exceed the amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated
to supply power in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective contract
demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate
schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

Single — Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.
Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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OUTDOOR LIGHTING RATE - SCHEDULE LS
Availability

Available for service to street and park lighting systems, traffic signal systems, athletic

field lighting installations, and outdoor lighting for individual customers.

Service under this schedule is for a term of not less than one year.
Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter

Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months.

PART A — CHARGES FOR STREET AND PARK LIGHTING SYSTEMS, TRAFFIC

SIGNAL SYSTEMS, AND ATHLETIC FIELD LIGHTING INSTALLATIONS

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 6.970¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 6.970¢ per KWh per month
Transition Period - 6.970¢ per kWh per month

Facility Charge

The annual facility charge shall be 14.45 percent of the installed cost to KUB’s electric
system of the facilities devoted to street and park lighting service specified in this Part A.
Such installed cost shall be recomputed on July 1 of each year, or more often if
substantial changes in the facilities are made. Each month, one-twelfth of the then total
annual facility charge shall be billed to the customer. If any part of the facilities has not
been provided at the electric system’s expense or if the installed cost of any portion
thereof is reflected on the books of another municipality or agency or department, the
annual facility charge shall be adjusted to reflect properly the remaining cost to be borne
by the electric system.

Traffic signal systems and athletic field lighting installations shall be provided, owned,
and maintained by and at the expense of the customer, except as KUB may agree
otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the paragraph next following in this
Section 1l. The facilities necessary to provide service to such systems and installations
shall be provided by and at the expense of KUB’s electric system, and the annual facility
charge provided for first above in this Section Il shall apply to the installed cost of such
facilities.

When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, traffic signal systems and
athletic field lighting installations may be provided, owned, and maintained by KUB’s
electric system for the customer’s benefit. In such cases KUB may require reimbursement
from the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such system or
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installation and shall require payment by the customer of a facility charge sufficient to
cover all of KUB’s costs (except reimbursed costs), including appropriate overheads, of
providing, owning, and maintaining such system or installation; provided that, for athletic
field lighting installations, such facility charge shall be 13.41 percent per year of such
costs. Said facility charge shall be in addition to the annual facility charge on the facilities
necessary to provide service to such system or installation as provided for in the
preceding paragraph. Replacement of lamps and related glassware for traffic signal
systems and athletic field lighting installations provided under this paragraph shall be
paid for under the provisions of paragraph A in section IV.

I11. Customer Charge — Traffic Signal Systems and Athletic Field Lighting Installations.
KUB shall apply a uniform monthly customer charge of $2.50 for service to each traffic
signal system or athletic field lighting installation.

IV. Replacement of Lamps and Related Glassware — Street and Park Lighting
Customer shall be billed and shall pay for replacements as provided in paragraph A
below, which shall be applied to all service for street and park lighting.

@) KUB shall bill the customer monthly for such replacements during each
month at KUB’s cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expense.

(b) KUB shall bill the customer monthly for one-twelfth of the amount by
which KUB’s cost of materials, including appropriate storeroom expenses,
exceeds the products of 3 mills multiplied by the number of kilowatt-hours used
for street and park lighting during the fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal
year in which such month occurs.

Metering

For any billing month or part of such month in which the energy is not metered or for
which a meter reading is found to be in error or a meter is found to have failed, the energy for
billing purposes for that billing month or part of such month shall be computed from the rated
capacity of the lamps (including ballast) plus 5 percent of such capacity to reflect secondary
circuit losses, multiplied by the number of hours of use.

Revenue and Cost Review

KUB’s costs of providing service under Part A of this rate schedule are subject to review
at any time to determine if KUB’s revenues from the charges being applied are sufficient to
cover its costs. (Such costs, including applicable overheads, include, but are not limited to, those
incurred in the operation and maintenance of the systems provided and those resulting from
depreciation and payments for taxes, tax equivalents and interest). If any such review discloses
that revenues are either less or more than sufficient to cover said costs, the Board shall revise the
above facility charges so that revenues will be sufficient to cover said costs.
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PART B—CHARGES FOR OUTDOOR LIGHTING FOR INDIVIDUAL CUSTOMERS

Charges Per Fixture Per Month

Lamp Size Rated Facility Total Lamp
(@) Type of Fixture (Watts) (Lumens) kWh Charge Charge
Mercury Vapor or 175 7,650 70 $4.52 $9.40
Incandescent* 400 19,100 155 6.31 17.11
1,000** 47,500 378 10.09 36.44
High Pressure 100 8,550 42 $4.52 $7.45
Sodium 250 23,000 105 5.36 12.68
400 45,000 165 6.31 17.81
1,000** 126,000 385 10.09 36.92
Decorative 100 8,550 42 $5.14 $8.07

* Mercury Vapor and Incandescent fixtures not offered for new service.
** 1,000 watt fixtures not offered for new service.

(b) Energy Charge:  For each lamp size under (a) above,

Summer Period - 6.970¢ per KWh per month
Winter Period - 6.970¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 6.970¢ per KWh per month

Additional Facilities

The above charges in this Part B are limited to service from a photoelectrically controlled
standard lighting fixture installed on a pole already in place. If the customer wishes to have the
fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already in place, the customer shall pay an
additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for additional poles required to serve the fixture
from KUB’s nearest available source. (This section does not apply to Decorative Lighting
Fixtures).

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Lamp Replacements

Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with
replacement policies of KUB.

Special Outdoor Lighting Installations

When so authorized by policy duly adopted by the Board, special outdoor lighting
installations (other than as provided for under Parts A and B above) may be provided, owned,
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and maintained by KUB’s electric system. In such cases, KUB may require reimbursement from
the customer for a portion of the initial installed cost of any such installation and shall require
payment by the customer of monthly charges sufficient to cover all of KUB’s costs (except
reimbursed costs), including appropriate overheads of providing, owning, and maintaining such
installations, and making lamp replacements.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL TIME OF USE
GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE TDGSA

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract
demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW for electric service to commercial,
industrial, and governmental customers, and to institutional customers, including, without
limitation, churches, clubs, fraternities, orphanages, nursing homes, rooming or boarding houses,
and like customers, provided that the other conditions of this section are met.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.92 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus
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Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

$4.75 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds
its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.92 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if
any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing
demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand or (2) the
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak
contract demand, whichever is higher

$10.40 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.75 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds
its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.40 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if
any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak billing
demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand or (2) the
customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak
contract demand, whichever is higher

$4.75 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.40 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if
any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand

9.897¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of
maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of
offpeak energy to total energy, plus

4.248¢ per kwh per month for the next 195 hours use
of maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of
offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of

maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy
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Winter Period - 6.650¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of
maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of
offpeak energy to total energy, plus

4.248¢ per kwWh per month for the next 195 hours use
of maximum metered demand multiplied by the ratio of
offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy

Transition Period -  6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of
maximum metered demand, plus

4.248¢ per kwh per month for the next 195 hours use
of maximum metered demand, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 6.223¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge
If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered

demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
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demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).
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KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher
of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of
5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak
billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and such
contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall contract for its
maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by
the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time than
the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand. If the customer uses any
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may include other
special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment,
modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the Board.
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After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA. In such case the term of the power contract shall
remain the same and the contract demand for service under the General Power Rate--Schedule
GSA shall not be less than the onpeak contract demand in effect when service was taken under
this rate schedule.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSB
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract
demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW; provided that the other
conditions of this section are met.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service
Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

[balance of page left blank]
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Customer Charge:

Administrative Charge:

Demand Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

Base Charges

$1,500 per delivery point per month.
$700 per delivery point per month.

$17.92 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.75 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.92 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$10.40 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.75 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.40 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$4.75 per KW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.40 per kW per month for each kW of the

amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

9.897¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus
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Winter Period -

Transition Period -

6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

4.248¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

6.650¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

4.248¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

6.223¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

4.248¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.568¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 6.223¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is

greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
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added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
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are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher
of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any KW in excess of
5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak
billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.
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KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate
schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSC
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract
demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW; provided that the other
conditions of this section are met.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.
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Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.46 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.29 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.46 per KW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Winter Period - $9.94 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.29 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$9.94 per KW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Transition Period - $4.29 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$9.94 per KW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
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Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

Transition Period -

billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

9.516¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

5.945¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

3.968¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.288¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

6.346¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

5.945¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

3.968¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.288¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

5.945¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

3.968¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.288¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

[balance of page left blank]
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For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.945¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

[balance of page left blank]
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Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any
kKW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or
the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak
billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2)
40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the
higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
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the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

Single Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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GENERAL POWER RATE SCHEDULE GSD
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where the higher of a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract
demand is greater than 25,000 kW; provided that the other conditions of this section are met.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.69 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.52 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.69 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Winter Period - $10.17 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus
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Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

$4.52 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$4.52 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.17 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

9.387¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

5.707¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

3.728¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.050¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

6.127¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

5.707¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

3.728¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours

use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus
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2.050¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

Transition Period - 5.707¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

3.728¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.050¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 5.707¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.
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Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
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higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW; (3) 50 percent of the next
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 kw, (6) 80
percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all KW in excess of 350,000 kW of the
higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next
100,000 kw, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kW in excess of
350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest
offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than sixteen
months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not
exceed the amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated
to supply power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or
offpeak contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under
this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any
power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to
time as approved by the Board.
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Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
GENERAL POWER RATE—SCHEDULE SGSB

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 5,000 kW
but not more than 15,000 kW

Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for continued
participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at KUB’s sole discretion.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $23.42 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$23.42 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Winter Period - $16.72 per kKW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus
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$16.72 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Transition Period - $11.69 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus
$11.69 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 4.907¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 4.471¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 4.376¢ per kWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently
effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,
including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.
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Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of
any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the
highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of
billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract demand. If
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the
Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,

subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the General Power Rate - Schedule GSB. In such case the term of the power contract shall
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remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the General Power Rate —
Schedule GSB shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under
this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSC

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 15,000 kW
but not more than 25,000 kW

Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for continued
participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at KUB’s sole discretion.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $22.96 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus
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$22.96 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Winter Period - $16.26 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$16.26 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Transition Period - $11.23 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$11.23 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 4.920¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 4.475¢ per KWh per month
Transition Period - 4.383¢ per kWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently
effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,
including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
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beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the
next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the
currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established during the
preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of
billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract demand. If
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the
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contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the
Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the General Power Rate - Schedule GSC. In such case the term of the power contract shall
remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the General Power Rate —
Schedule GSC shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under
this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service

at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
GENERAL POWER RATE--SCHEDULE SGSD

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall apply to the firm electric power
requirements where the customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than 25,000
KW.

Prior to participation in this rate, contract amendments may be required for continued
participation in certain other programs and rate overlays as determined at KUB’s sole discretion.

Character of Service
Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest

voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

[balance of page left blank]
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Customer Charge:

Administrative Charge:

Demand Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -
Winter Period -
Transition Period -

Base Charges

$1,500 per delivery point per month
$700 per delivery point per month

$26.99 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$26.99 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

$20.25 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$20.25 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

$15.24 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$15.24 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

4.205¢ per kWh per month
3.817¢ per kWh per month
3.732¢ per KWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently

B-43



effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,
including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the
next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5)
70 percent of the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of
all KW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the
highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill
The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of
billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
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Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than sixteen
months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not
exceed the amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated
to supply power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract
demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate
schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the General Power Rate - Schedule GSD. In such case the term of the power contract shall
remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the General Power Rate —
Schedule GSD shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service was taken under
this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL TIME OF USE
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE TDMSA

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand,
whichever is higher, is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW, and (b) the major use
of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or
2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for
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service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that
for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based
on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this
section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage
calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered
demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours
during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s
service and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure
event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form.

Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.91 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus
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Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

$4.74 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.91 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$10.39 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.74 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.39 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$4.74 per KW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.39 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

8.274¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
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multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

Winter Period - 5.093¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

Transition Period - 4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.642¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.
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Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.
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Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher
of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of
5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak
billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
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Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule and such
contracts shall be for an initial term of at least one year. The customer shall contract for its
maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the amount of power capable of being used by
the customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply power in greater amount at any time than
the customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand. If the customer uses any
power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the contract may include other
special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be subject to adjustment,
modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the General Power Rate--Schedule GSA. In such case the term of the power contract shall
remain the same and the contract demand for service under the General Power Rate--Schedule
GSA shall not be less than the onpeak contract demand in effect when service was taken under
this rate schedule.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSB
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand,
whichever is higher, is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW, and (b) the major
use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or
2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for
service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that
for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based
on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this
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section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage
calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered
demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours
during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s
service and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure
event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form.

Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.91 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.74 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by

which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus
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Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

$17.91 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$10.39 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.74 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.39 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$4.74 per KW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.39 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

8.274¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy
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Winter Period - 5.093¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

Transition Period - 4.642¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.664¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

0.986¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.642¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge
If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period

beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
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of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).
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KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher
of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of any KW in excess of
5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak
billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
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contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSC
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand,
whichever is higher, is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW, and (b) the major
use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are
classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or
classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or
2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for
service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly
load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that
for the first 12 months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based
on the customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer
begins taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this
section are met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage
calculated by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered
demand for that month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours
during which power was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s
service and of any hours in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure
event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form.
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Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.47 per KW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.30 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.47 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Winter Period - $9.95 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.30 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by

which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus
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Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

$9.95 per KW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

$4.30 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$9.95 per KW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

8.361¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.627¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.651¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.973¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

5.108¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kWh, plus

4.627¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.651¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.973¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy
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Transition Period - 4.627¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.651¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

0.973¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.627¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is
greater than the metered energy.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

[balance of page left blank]
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Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any
KW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or
the highest onpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak
billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2)
40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any kKW in excess of 25,000 kW of the
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higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest offpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or offpeak
contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this
rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

Single Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.
Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE SCHEDULE MSD
Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer’s currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand,
whichever is higher, is greater than 25,000 kW, and (b) the major use of electricity is for
activities conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit
Standard Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes
5182, 522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this
schedule on the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least
80 percent during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12
months of service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the
customer’s expected load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins
taking service; provided that the other applicable conditions specified below in this section are
met. As used in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated
by dividing the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that
month and the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power
was unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours
in which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond
the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form.

Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

For a customer requesting that its onpeak contract demand be different from its offpeak
contract demand, this rate schedule shall be available only for (1) a new contract, (2) a
replacement or renewal contract following expiration of the existing contract, or (3) a
replacement or renewal contract or an amended existing contract in which the customer is
increasing its demand requirements above the existing contract demand level, but under this item
(3) neither the new onpeak nor the new offpeak contract demand shall be lower than the
customer’s existing contract demand.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
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voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $17.68 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.51 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand plus

$17.68 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Winter Period - $10.16 per kW per month of the customer’s onpeak
billing demand, plus

$4.51 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus

$10.16 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which (1) the customer’s onpeak
billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer’s offpeak billing demand
exceeds its offpeak contract demand, whichever is
higher

Transition Period - $4.51 per kW per month of the customer’s offpeak
billing demand, plus

$10.16 per kW per month for each kW of the
amount, if any, by which the customer’s offpeak
billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand

Energy Charge:

Summer Period - 8.210¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kwWh, plus
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Winter Period -

Transition Period -

4.479¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.502¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.824¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

4.939¢ per kWh per month for all metered onpeak
kwh, plus

4.479¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

2.502¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand multiplied by the
ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus

0.824¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours
multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total
energy

4.479¢ per kWh per month for the first 425 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

2.502¢ per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus

0.824¢ per kWh per month for the hours use of
maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours

For the Summer Period, Winter Period and Transition Period, 4.479¢ per kWh per month
shall be applied to the portion, if any, of the minimum offpeak energy takings amount that is

greater than the metered energy.

[balance of page left blank]
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Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161kV, there shall be
added to the customer’s bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per kW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the higher of the customer’s
currently effective onpeak or offpeak contract demand and shall be in addition to all other
charges under this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charge

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Hours

Except for Saturdays and Sundays and the weekdays that are observed as Federal
holidays for New Year’s Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving
Day, and Christmas Day, onpeak hours for each day shall be 1 p.m. to 7 p.m. during the Summer
Period and from 4 a.m. to 10 a.m. during the Winter Period. For the Summer Period and the
Winter Period, all other hours of each day that are not otherwise defined as onpeak hours and all
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hours of such excepted days shall be offpeak hours. Such times shall be Central Standard Time
or Central Daylight Time, whichever is then in effect. Said onpeak and offpeak hours are subject
to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that such changed onpeak and offpeak hours
are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior to the effective date of such
changed hours, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

For the Transition Period, all hours shall be offpeak hours.

Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak Demands,
Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts

The onpeak and offpeak kWh for any month shall be the energy amounts taken during the
respective hours of the month designated under this rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours;
provided, however, that notwithstanding the metered energy amount, the offpeak energy for any
month shall in no case be less than the product of (1) the offpeak billing demand as calculated in
the last sentence of the paragraph below and (2) 110 hours (reflecting a 15 percent load factor
applied to the average number of hours in a month).

KUB shall meter the onpeak and offpeak demands in kW of all customers taking service
under this rate schedule. The onpeak metered demand and offpeak metered demand for any
month shall be determined separately for the respective hours of the month designated under this
rate schedule as onpeak and offpeak hours and in each case shall be the highest average during
any 30-consecutive-minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load
metered in KW, and, except as provided below in this section, such amounts shall be used as the
onpeak and offpeak billing demands. The maximum metered demand for any month shall be the
higher of (1) the highest onpeak metered demand in the month or (2) the highest offpeak metered
demand in the month. The onpeak billing demand shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30
percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW (3) 50 percent of the next
25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5) 70 percent of the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80
percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all kKW in excess of 350,000 kW of the
higher of the currently effective onpeak contract demand or the highest onpeak billing demand
established during the preceding 12 months. The offpeak billing demand shall in no case be less
than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the next 20,000 kW, (3) 50
percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, and (5) 70 percent of the
next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of all KW in excess
of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective offpeak contract demand or the highest
offpeak billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the portion of
the base demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to
excess of billing demand over contract demand) applicable to onpeak billing demand applied to
the customer’s onpeak billing demand, (3) the portion of the base demand charge, as adjusted,
(but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of billing demand over contract
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demand) applicable to any excess of offpeak over onpeak billing demand applied to the amount,
if any, by which the customer’s offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, (4)
the base onpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer’s onpeak energy takings, and
(5) the base offpeak energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the higher of customer’s actual
offpeak energy takings or the minimum offpeak energy takings amount provided for in the first
paragraph of the section of this rate schedule entitled “Determination of Onpeak and Offpeak
Demands, Maximum Metered Demand, and Energy Amounts”.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than sixteen
months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not
exceed the amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated
to supply power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective onpeak or
offpeak contract demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under
this rate schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any
power contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to
time as approved by the Board.

Single Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery point and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same customer through
more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service at each delivery
point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSB

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than
5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard
Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North
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American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182,
522320, and 541214; provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on
the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent
during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of
service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected
load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used
in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and
the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was
unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in
which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond
the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form to Distributor.

Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $20.35 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$20.35 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Winter Period - $13.65 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus
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$13.65 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Transition Period - $8.61 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$8.61 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 4.079¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 3.588¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 3.472¢ per KWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently
effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,
including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.
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Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW and (2) 40 percent of
any kW in excess of 5,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the
highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of
billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract demand. If
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the
Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,

subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSB. In such case the term of the power contract
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shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the Manufacturing
Service Rate — Schedule MSB shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service
was taken under this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery

The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSC

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than
15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard
Industrial Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North
American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182,
522320, and 541214, provided, however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on
the basis of such a NAICS code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent
during the preceding 12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of
service to a new customer this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected
load factor for those 12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used
in the previous sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing
the total metered energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and
the number of clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was
unavailable due to an interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in
which the customer was unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond
the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form to Distributor.
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Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

Character of Service

Alternating current, single- or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer's request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.

Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month
Demand Charge:
Summer Period - $19.91 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$19.91 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Winter Period - $13.21 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$13.21 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Transition Period - $8.17 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$8.17 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

Energy Charge:
Summer Period - 4.047¢ per kWh per month
Winter Period - 3.586¢ per kWh per month
Transition Period - 3.474¢ per KWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.
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Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently
effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,
including minimum bill charges.

Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the
next 20,000 kW, and (3) 50 percent of any kW in excess of 25,000 kW of the higher of the
currently effective contract demand or the highest billing demand established during the
preceding 12 months.
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Minimum Bill

The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of
billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least one year; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than four months
notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not exceed the
amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated to supply
power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract demand. If
the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate schedule, the
contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power contract shall be
subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time as approved by the
Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSC. In such case the term of the power contract
shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the Manufacturing
Service Rate — Schedule MSC shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service
was taken under this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.
Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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SEASONAL DEMAND AND ENERGY
MANUFACTURING SERVICE RATE--SCHEDULE SMSD

Availability

This rate, subject to availability from TVA, shall be available for firm electric power
requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract demand is greater than
25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery point
serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code
between 20 and 39, inclusive, or classified with 2002 North American Industry Classification
System (NAICS) code 5181, or 2007 NAICS codes 5182, 522320, and 541214; provided,
however, customers qualifying for service under this schedule on the basis of such a NAICS
code shall have an average monthly load factor of at least 80 percent during the preceding
12 months; provided further, however, that for the first 12 months of service to a new customer
this load factor requirement shall be based on the customer’s expected load factor for those
12 months as projected before the customer begins taking service. As used in the previous
sentence “monthly load factor” shall mean a percentage calculated by dividing the total metered
energy for a month by the product of the metered demand for that month and the number of
clock hours in that month, exclusive of any hours during which power was unavailable due to an
interruption or curtailment of the customer’s service and of any hours in which the customer was
unable to use power due to a Force Majeure event reasonably beyond the customer’s control.

Prior to initially taking any service under this schedule, and from time to time thereafter
as may be required by KUB, a customer shall certify to KUB that it meets the requirements set
forth in condition (b) above. The certification form to be used shall be furnished by KUB to the
customer, and signed and promptly returned by the customer to KUB. Further, such customer
shall promptly certify any change in the status of any of the information contained in the
certification form to Distributor.

Service during any period for which a customer does not meet the eligibility requirements
set forth in condition (b) above will be made available by KUB under, and billed in accordance
with, the applicable General Power schedule.

Character of Service
Alternating current, single or three-phase, 60 hertz. Power shall be delivered at a
transmission voltage of 161 kV or, if such transmission voltage is not available, at the highest
voltage available in the vicinity, unless at the customer’s request a lower standard voltage is
agreed upon.
Base Charges

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month
Administrative Charge: $700 per delivery point per month
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Demand Charge:
Summer Period -

Winter Period -

Transition Period -

Energy Charge:
Summer Period -
Winter Period -
Transition Period -

$23.18 per kW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$23.18 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

$16.48 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$16.48 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

$11.45 per KW per month of the customer’s billing
demand, plus

$11.45 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by
which the customer's billing demand exceeds its
contract demand

3.318¢ per kWh per month
2.949¢ per kWh per month
2.861¢ per kWh per month

Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Facilities Rental Charge

There shall be no facilities rental charge under this rate schedule for delivery at bulk
transmission voltage levels of 161 kV or higher. For delivery at less than 161 kV, there shall be
added to the customer's bill a facilities rental charge. This charge shall be 37 cents per KW per
month except for delivery at voltages below 46 kV, in which case the charge shall be 97 cents
per KW per month for the first 10,000 kW and 76 cents per KW per month for the excess over
10,000 kW. Such charge shall be applied to the higher of (1) the highest billing demand
established during the latest 12-consecutive-month period or (2) the customer's currently
effective contract demand and shall be in addition to all other charges under this rate schedule,

including minimum bill charges.
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Reactive Demand Charges

If the reactive demand (in KVAR) is lagging during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s highest metered
demand occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.46 per kVAR
of the amount, if any, by which the reactive demand exceeds 33 percent of such metered
demand. If the reactive demand (in kVAR) is leading during the 30-consecutive-minute period
beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month in which the customer’s lowest metered
demand (excluding any metered demands which are less than 25 percent of the highest metered
demand) occurs, there shall be added to the customer’s bill a reactive charge of $1.14 per kVAR
of the amount of reactive demand. Such charges shall be in addition to all other charges under
this rate schedule, including minimum bill charges.

Determination of Seasonal Periods

Summer Period shall mean the June, July, August, and September billing months. Winter
Period shall mean the December, January, February, and March billing months. Transition
Period shall mean the April, May, October, and November billing months. The Seasonal Periods
under this rate schedule are subject to change by KUB. In the event KUB determines that
changed Seasonal Periods are appropriate, such decision shall be made at least 11 months prior
to the effective date of such changed periods, and KUB shall promptly notify customer.

Determination of Demand

KUB shall meter the demands in kW of all customers served under this rate schedule.
The metered demand for any month shall be the highest average during any 30-consecutive-
minute period beginning or ending on a clock hour of the month of the load metered in kW, and
such amount shall be used as the billing demand, except that the billing demand for any month
shall in no case be less than the sum of (1) 30 percent of the first 5,000 kW, (2) 40 percent of the
next 20,000 kW, (3) 50 percent of the next 25,000 kW, (4) 60 percent of the next 50,000 kW, (5)
70 percent of the next 100,000 kW, (6) 80 percent of the next 150,000 kW, and (7) 85 percent of
all KW in excess of 350,000 kW of the higher of the currently effective contract demand or the
highest billing demand established during the preceding 12 months.

Minimum Bill
The monthly bill under this rate schedule, excluding any facilities rental charges and any
reactive charges, shall not be less than the sum of (1) the base customer charge, (2) the base
demand charge, as adjusted (but excluding the additional portion thereof applicable to excess of

billing demand over contract demand) applied to the customer's billing demand, and (3) the base
energy charge, as adjusted, applied to the customer's energy takings.

KUB may require minimum bills higher than those stated above.
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Contract Requirement

KUB shall require contracts for all service provided under this rate schedule. The contract
shall be for an initial term of at least five years and any renewals or extensions of the initial
contract shall be for a term of at least five years; after ten years of service, any such contract for
the renewal or extension of service may provide for termination upon not less than sixteen
months notice. The customer shall contract for its maximum requirements, which shall not
exceed the amount of power capable of being used by customer, and KUB shall not be obligated
to supply power in greater amount at any time than the customer's currently effective contract
demand. If the customer uses any power other than that supplied by KUB under this rate
schedule, the contract may include other special provisions. The rate schedule in any power
contract shall be subject to adjustment, modification, change, or replacement from time to time
as approved by the Board.

After having received service for at least one year under this rate schedule, the customer,
subject to appropriate amendments in its power contract with KUB, may receive service under
the Manufacturing Service Rate - Schedule MSD. In such case the term of the power contract
shall remain the same and the onpeak contract demand for service under the Manufacturing
Service Rate — Schedule MSD shall not be less than the contract demand in effect when service
was taken under this rate schedule.

Single-Point Delivery
The charges under this rate schedule are based upon the supply of service through a
single delivery and metering point, and at a single voltage. If service is supplied to the same
customer through more than one point of delivery or at different voltages, the supply of service
at each delivery and metering point and at each different voltage shall be separately metered and
billed.
Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

LIGHT-EMITTING DIODE (LED) PILOT PROGRAM - SCHEDULE LED
OUTDOOR LIGHTING

Pilot Program Description
The purpose of the LED Pilot Program is to enable a phased implementation of LED
equipment on KUB’s electric system. The LED Pilot Program will provide KUB and
participating customers experience with LED technologies. The duration of the LED Pilot
Program shall be determined by KUB in its sole discretion.

[balance of page left blank]

B-79



Pilot Program Availability

Service under the LED Pilot Program shall only be available for select outdoor (security)
lighting facilities of governmental entities located in the KUB electric system service territory.
Participation in the LED Pilot Program shall be on a voluntary basis. KUB reserves the right to
limit the number of customers participating in the LED Pilot Program and/or to limit the extent
of any customer’s participation in the program.

Pilot Program Charges — No Capital Contribution
The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED Pilot

Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities for providing service under the program has
been borne by the electric system. The following charges are per LED fixture per month.

Energy
Facility Rated Charge Total
LED Fixture Type Charge KWh per KWh Charge
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $12.11 38 $0.06970 $14.76
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $11.05 38 $0.06970 $13.70
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $14.56 57 $0.06970 $18.53
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $13.27 57 $0.06970 $17.24

In the event a customer voluntarily elects to discontinue service under this program, the
customer, at the sole discretion of KUB, shall be subject to a capital recovery charge to ensure
appropriate cost recovery for the electric system.

Pilot Program Charges — Capital Contribution
The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED Pilot

Program, for whom the installed cost of facilities providing service under the program has been
borne by the customer. The following charges are per LED fixture per month.

Energy
Facility Rated Charge Total
LED Fixture Type Charge kWh per KWh Charge
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $5.22 38 $0.06970 $7.87
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head $5.09 38 $0.06970 $7.74
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $6.07 57 $0.06970 $10.04
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head $5.90 57 $0.06970 $9.87
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Additional Facilities
The above charges are limited to service installed on a pole already in place. If the
customer wishes to have the fixture installed at a location other than on a pole already in place,
the customer shall pay an additional monthly charge of $3.00 per pole for additional poles
required to serve the fixture from KUB’s nearest available source.
Adjustment
Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.
Lamp Replacements

Replacements of lamps and related glassware will be made in accordance with
replacement policies of KUB.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

DISCOUNT POWER - FIVE-MINUTE RESPONSE (5 MR)
INTERRUPTIBLE POWER

Availability

KUB provides Five-Minute Response (5 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified general
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA.

5 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual arrangements may
be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter sometimes referred to as the
“Contract”).

Charges for 5 MR
All 5 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.

Interruptibility

5MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption and to
suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract.
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Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

DISCOUNT POWER - SIXTY-MINUTE RESPONSE (60 MR)
INTERRUPTIBLE POWER

Availability

KUB provides Sixty-Minute Response (60 MR) Interruptible Power to qualified general
power users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA.

60 MR shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual arrangements may
be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter sometimes referred to as the
“Contract”).

Charges for 60 MR
All 60 MR-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.
Interruptibility

60 MR furnished to a customer under the Contract shall be subject to interruption and to
suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

TWO-PART REAL TIME PRICING (RTP)
Availability

KUB provides Two-Part Real Time Pricing (Two-Part RTP) to qualified general power
users through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in
accordance with the power supply contract between KUB and TVA.

Two-Part RTP shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to
specific contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual
arrangements may be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter
sometimes referred to as the “Contract”).
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Charges for Two-Part RTP
All Two-Part RTP charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.
Interruptibility

Two-Part RTP furnished to a customer under the Contract may be subject to interruption
and to suspension of availability as provided for in the Contract.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SUMMER MARKET DAYS (SMKT) POWER
Availability

KUB provides Summer Market Days (SMKT) Power to qualified general power users
through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in accordance with
the power supply contract between KUB and TVA.

SMKT shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual arrangements may
be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter sometimes referred to as the
“Contract”).

Charges for SMKT
All SMKT-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SEASONAL TIME OF USE (STOU) POWER
Availability
KUB provides Seasonal Time of Use (STOU) Power to qualified general power users
through its wholesale power supplier, the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA), in accordance with

the power supply contract between KUB and TVA.

STOU shall be made available to qualified general power users pursuant to specific
contractual arrangements between KUB and the customer (such contractual arrangements may
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be contained in one or more written instruments and are hereinafter sometimes referred to as the
“Contract”).

Charges for STOU
All STOU-related charges shall be established in accordance with the Contract.
Adjustment

Charges under this rate schedule may be increased or decreased to reflect changes in
purchased power costs as determined by any purchased power adjustment adopted by the Board.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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HISTORIC CAPITALIZATION AND CUSTOMERS

Electric Division Capitalization - Historic

(Net Assets)
Fiscal Accumulated Revenue Revenue Total Debt as % of
Year Earnings Bonds Notes Capitalization Capitalization
Historical 2010 $ 268,467,687 $ 142,620,000 $ - $ 411,087,687 34.69%
2011 $ 280,656,984 $ 168,265,000 $ - $ 448,921,984 37.48%
2012 $ 289,790,306 $ 158,870,000 $ - $ 448,660,306 35.41%
2013 $ 300,996,474 $ 186,510,000 $ - $ 487,506,474 38.26%
2014 $ 312,984,264 $ 178,940,000 $ - $ 491,924,264 36.38%
Electric Division Customers - Historic
(Measured by Bills Rendered)
Historical Number of
Customers 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Residential 173,038 172,226 173,362 173,846 175,146
Small Commercial and Industrial 20,388 20,301 20,458 20,727 20,430
Large Commercial and Industrial 2,991 3,061 2,907 2,869 2,854
Outdoor Lighting 882 911 930 914 952
Total 197,299 196,499 197,657 198,356 199,382

Historic Electric Division Use

The following table shows historical figures for Knox County's population, the Electric Division's number of customers, and

electric sales.

Fiscal Knox Co. Number of Total Sales
Year Population Customers MWh
1995 357,447 160,893 4,703,769
2000 382,032 177,201 5,210,716
2010 432,226 197,299 5,587,374
2011 436,929 196,499 5,674,655
2012 441,311 197,657 5,397,117
2013 444,622 198,356 5,456,983
2014 444,622 199,382 5,535,230
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KNOXVILLE UTILITIES BOARD

ELECTRIC DIVISION
OPERATING STATISTICS
for the Fiscal Years ended on June 30

Revenues: 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Residential 212,390,714 246,186,288 $ 224,870,899 $ 244,493,773 $ 242,439,020
Commercial 38,420,449 43,080,853 42,262,802 45,486,773 45,892,309
Industrial 192,401,485 219,150,525 219,674,054 227,250,089 220,298,930
Outdoor Lighting 7,223,836 7,791,710 7,819,998 8,231,980 8,153,718

Total Sales Revenues 450,436,484 516,209,376 3$ 494,627,753 $ 525,462,615 $ 516,783,977

Other Revenues 12,599,703 5,372,583 11,426,034 9,425,591 11,048,815

Total Revenues 463,036,187 521,581,959 $ 506,053,787 $ 534,888,206 $ 527,832,791

Electric Usage - MWh:

Residential 2,528,987 2,603,859 2,344,358 2,436,697 2,499,987
Commercial 397,074 396,768 385,345 395,642 408,581
Industrial 2,600,123 2,615,431 2,609,259 2,566,669 2,569,046
Outdoor Lighting 61,191 58,597 58,154 57,976 57,616

Total Electric Usage 5,587,375 5,674,655 5,397,117 5,456,984 5,535,230

Number of Customers:

Residential 173,038 172,226 173,362 173,846 175,146
Commercial 20,388 20,301 20,458 20,727 20,430
Industrial 2,991 3,061 2,907 2,869 2,854
Outdoor Lighting 882 911 930 914 952
Total Customers 197,299 196,499 197,657 198,356 199,382
0.43%

Purchased Power:

MWh 5,811,905 5,839,091 5,627,366 5,625,144 5,728,465
Total Cost 373,139,253 424,040,924 $ 409,442,667 $ 432,023,455 $ 419,557,996

Wholesale Power Cost
as % of Sales 82.84% 82.15% 82.78% 82.22% 81.19%

Electric Division Peak (kW) 1,246,398 1,246,398 1,246,398 1,246,398 1,312,699
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL HISTORY OF THE ELECTRIC DIVISION

Sales in MWh

Fiscal Outdoor

Year Residential Commercial Industrial Lighting Total
2005 2,307,714 481,785 2,704,845 60,988 5,555,332
2006 2,474,091 394,502 2,858,485 61,737 5,788,815
2007 2,504,428 397,123 2,893,530 62,276 5,857,357
2008 2,550,312 399,161 2,936,301 62,902 5,948,677
2009 2,496,346 388,010 2,658,692 61,953 5,605,001
2010 2,528,987 397,074 2,600,123 61,191 5,587,375
2011 2,603,859 396,768 2,615,431 58,597 5,674,655
2012 2,344,358 385,345 2,609,259 58,154 5,397,117
2013 2,436,697 395,642 2,566,669 57,976 5,456,984
2014 2,499,987 408,581 2,569,046 57,616 5,535,230

Total Operating Revenue

Fiscal Outdoor

Year Residential Commercial Industrial Lighting Other Total
2005 158,760,680 29,088,284 158,625,982 6,477,386 9,279,347 362,231,679
2006 179,302,246 32,699,626 177,886,318 6,833,533 8,037,545 404,759,266
2007 191,389,412 34,678,982 185,778,982 7,064,923 8,163,335 427,075,634
2008 202,366,369 36,077,584 199,104,402 7,360,942 9,722,076 454,631,373
2009 232,762,006 40,568,610 220,399,634 8,078,626 7,742,640 509,551,516
2010 212,390,714 38,420,449 192,401,485 7,223,836 12,599,703 463,036,187
2011 246,186,288 43,080,853 219,150,525 7,791,710 5,372,583 521,581,959
2012 224,870,899 42,262,802 219,674,054 7,819,998 11,426,034 506,053,787
2013 244,493,773 45,486,773 227,250,089 8,231,980 9,425,591 534,888,206
2014 242,439,020 45,892,309 220,298,930 8,153,718 11,048,815 527,832,791

Growth Rates for Key Operating Data

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 2013-2014
Number of Customers 0.43% -0.41% 0.59% 0.35% 0.52%
Total Sales (MWh) -0.31% 1.56% -4.89% 1.11% 1.43%
Total Operating Revenues -9.13% 12.64% -2.98% 5.70% -1.32%
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TEN LARGEST ELECTRIC SYSTEM CUSTOMERS - 2014

The ten largest Electric System customers, as of June 30, 2014 in order of total sales generated are listed
below. Those ten electric customers represent 15.17% of the total electric sales based on revenue and
19.00% of the total electric sales based on sales volume.

Consumption Electric Sales Percent of
Customer MWh Revenue Sales Revenue
1. University of Tennessee 305,232 $ 19,346,324 3.67%
2. Gerdau Ameristeel 228,353  $ 17,943,105 3.40%
3. Knox County Schools 64,947 $ 7,290,598 1.38%
4. KUB 67,009 $ 6,153,646 1.17%
5. City of Knoxville 48,233 $ 6,125,719 1.16%
6. University Health Systems Inc 74,452 $ 5,986,726 1.13%
7. CemexInc 84,081 $ 5,099,580 0.97%
8.  Knoxville HMA Holdings LLC 59,213 $ 4,971,355 0.94%
9. KEMET Foil Manufacturing LLC 73,761 $ 3,583,373 0.68%
10.  Exedy America Corporation 46,655 _$ 3,562,374 0.67%
TOTAL 1,051,936  $ 80,062,800 15.17%
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Commissioners
Knoxville Utilities Board - Electric Division
Knoxville, Tennessee

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Knoxville Utilities Board, Electric Division, (the
“Division”), an independent agency reported as a component unit for financial reporting purposes only, of Knoxville,
Tennessee, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Division’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Division’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Division’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the Division, as of June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the respective changes in financial position and
cash flows, for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Tennessee | Kentucky | Indiana



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis and Schedule of Funding Progress on pages 3-22 and 41 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the Division’s basic financial statements. The supplemental schedules on pages 42-71 are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The supplemental schedules have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 24, 2014, on our
consideration of the Division’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the
Division’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Zﬂ'dp('\ Moss Co, FUL

Knoxville, Tennessee
October 24, 2014
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Knoxville Utilities Board (KUB), comprised of the Electric Division, Gas Division, Water Division, and
Wastewater Division (Divisions), is reported as a component unit enterprise fund in the financial
statements of the City of Knoxville. KUB's responsibility is to oversee the purchase, production,
distribution, and processing of electricity, natural gas, water, and wastewater services. A seven-member
Board of Commissioners governs KUB. The Board has all powers to construct, acquire, expand, or
operate the Divisions. It has full control and complete jurisdiction over the management and operation of
the Divisions. The Electric Division (Division) provides services to certain customers in Knox County and
in seven surrounding counties in East Tennessee. The Division's accounts are maintained in conformity
with the Uniform System of Accounts of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, as applicable. The financial statements present only the
Electric Division and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the consolidated financial position of
Knoxville Utilities Board at June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the changes in its financial position for the years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Division’s discussion and analysis is designed to (a) assist the reader in focusing on significant
financial issues, (b) provide an overview of the Division’s financial activity, (c) identify major changes in
the Division’s financial position, and (d) identify any financial concerns.

The Division’s Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) focuses on the fiscal year ending June
30, 2014 activities, resulting changes and current known facts, and should be read in conjunction with the
Division’s financial statements.

Electric Division Highlights

System Highlights

KUB serves 199,382 electric customers over a 688 square mile service area and maintains 5,300 miles of
service lines and 60 electric substations to provide 5.7 million megawatt hours to its customers annually.

KUB'’s electric system experienced five record peaks in demand during this fiscal year. Record breaking
cold temperatures lead to a new electric system peak on January 24, 2014 of 1,313 megawatt hours.
The previous peak before this fiscal year was 1,246 megawatt hours, which occurred in January 2009.

KUB added 1,026 customers to its electric system in fiscal year 2014, which is up from the addition of 650
customers in fiscal year 2013.

The Division generated $4.8 million of additional margin during the fiscal year as a result of the 2012 and
2013 rate increases, previously adopted by the KUB Board of Commissioners to help fund the electric
system’s Century Il infrastructure program.

The typical residential customer’'s monthly electric bill was $99.52 as of June 30, 2014, representing a
decrease of $2.76 or 2.7 percent compared to June 30, 2013. The decrease in the monthly bill during
fiscal year 2014 was the net result of the flow through of previously over recovered wholesale power
costs, KUB's one percent rate increase, and the flow through of TVA wholesale rate adjustments.

Two historic storm events, with a combined cost of $8.4 million, impacted the electric system during fiscal
year 2011. To date, KUB's electric system has received $4.2 million in reimbursements from the Federal
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), including $0.1 million in reimbursements during fiscal year
2014. KUB anticipates an additional $1.4 million in reimbursements from FEMA in fiscal year 2015.

KUB was awarded a grant from the Department of Energy in October 2009 under DOE’s Smart Grid
Investment Grant Program. The grant, which totals $3.58 million, was used to help fund a smart grid pilot
project in the University of Tennessee and surrounding areas. The pilot project includes the installation of
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over 6,000 digital electronic smart meters and an advanced metering infrastructure (AMI) communications
backbone, which will provide coverage for KUB's entire service territory. The communications
infrastructure will enable KUB to remotely read the meters, and also provide remote service
connection/disconnection capabilities. The term of the pilot is approximately four years. During fiscal year
2014, KUB developed a customer e-portal to provide detailed utility consumption information. The
deployment strategy of the customer e-portal to customers is underway. Successful completion of the
integration of polyphase meter data into KUB’s customer billing system for commercial and industrial
customers was also achieved during fiscal year 2014. The grant funded $0.3 million of the
communications infrastructure installed this fiscal year. KUB is in the process with DOE to close out this
phase of the project, as all requirements of this grant have been completed during fiscal year 2014.

Century Il Infrastructure Program

Century Il is KUB's proactive long-range program to improve and maintain the electric, natural gas, water
and wastewater systems for its customers. It includes the maintenance and replacement strategies for
each system and establishes sustainable replacement cycles. Century Il moves KUB into its second
century of service by improving each system through sound planning, resource allocation, and continued,
but accelerated, investment.

KUB'’s Century Il programs were resumed in 2011, after a break due to the economic recession. At that
time, the KUB Board of Commissioners endorsed a ten year funding plan for the electric system through
a formal resolution. The Board adopted three years of electric rate increases to help fund the plan. All
three of the rate increases, adopted in 2011, have gone into effect.

In May 2014, KUB management provided an updated assessment of the overall condition of each utility
and the progress made during the resumption of the Century Il program. At that time the Board endorsed
a long range ten year funding plan for the continuation of Century Il programs for the electric system,
including a combination of rate increases and debt issues to fully fund the programs for the next ten
years.

In June 2014, the Board approved a series of three annual rate increases for the electric system. Each
electric rate increase will generate an additional $5 million in electric system revenue.

KUB exceeded its target replacement goals for its key electric system assets, while staying within the
Division’s total capital budget during fiscal year 2014. The electric system replaced 2,674 poles,
exceeding the target level of 2,600 and 14.7 miles of underground electric cable, exceeding the target
level of 14 miles.

Financial Highlights

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

The Division’s net position increased $12 million or 4 percent, compared to a $11.2 million increase last
fiscal year.

Operating revenue decreased $7.1 million or 1.3 percent over the prior fiscal year. The decline in
operating revenue was the net result of additional revenue from KUB electric rate increases, increased
sales volumes, the flow through of TVA rate adjustments and the flow through of prior year over
recovered purchase power costs to electric customers. KUB flows changes to wholesale power rates
directly through to its retail electric rates via its Purchased Power Adjustment.

The Division expended 81 percent of electric system sales revenue to TVA for wholesale power
purchases for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. Purchased power expense decreased $12.5 million
compared to last year, the net result of higher sales volumes and lower wholesale power rates from TVA.
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Margin on electric sales (operating revenue less purchased power expense) increased $5.4 million or 5.3
percent.

Operating expenses (excluding purchased power expense) increased $4.1 million or 4.8 percent.
Operating and maintenance (“O&M”) expenditures increased $2.6 million or 5.2 percent. Depreciation
expense increased $0.8 million or 3.6 percent. Taxes and tax equivalents were $0.7 million higher than
the prior fiscal year.

Lower interest rates on investments resulted in a $0.1 million decrease in interest income. Interest
expense increased $0.5 million or 6.3 percent, primarily due to the additional interest expense in the first
and second quarter from revenue bonds issued December 2012.

Capital contributions increased $0.1 million, reflecting additional street lighting assets provided to KUB.

Total plant assets (net) increased $39.5 million or 9.7 percent over the end of the last fiscal year reflecting
distribution system improvements and pole replacements as part of KUB’s Century Il electric program.

Long-term debt represented 36.4 percent of the Division’s capital structure as of June 30, 2014,
compared to 38.3 percent last year. Capital structure equals long-term debt (including the current portion
of any revenue bonds and notes, as applicable, due to be retired the next fiscal year) plus net position.

The Division’s bond covenants require a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.2 times the maximum
principal and interest payments over the life of the Division’s outstanding bonds. Current year debt
coverage for the fiscal year was 3.66. Maximum debt service coverage was 3.63.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

The Division’s net position increased $11.2 million or 3.9 percent, compared to a $9.1 million increase last
fiscal year.

Operating revenue increased $28.8 million or 5.7 percent over the prior fiscal year. The growth in
operating revenue was the result of additional revenue from KUB electric rate increases, increased sales
volumes, and the flow through of TVA rate adjustments. KUB flows changes to wholesale power rates
directly through to its retail electric rates via its Purchased Power Adjustment.

The Division expended 81 percent of electric system sales revenue to TVA for wholesale power
purchases for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. Purchased power expense decreased $22.6 million
compared to last year, the net result of higher purchases and slightly lower TVA wholesale power rates.

Margin on electric sales (operating revenue less purchased power expense) increased $6.3 million or 6.5
percent.

Operating expenses (excluding purchased power expense) increased $3.8 million or 4.7 percent.
Operating and maintenance (“O&M”") expenditures increased $1.1 million or 2.4 percent. Depreciation
expense increased $1.7 million or 8.3 percent. Taxes and tax equivalents were $0.9 million higher than
the prior fiscal year.

Lower interest rates on investments resulted in a $0.1 million decrease in interest income. Interest
expense increased $0.3 million or 4.2 percent, reflecting a partial year of interest expense on revenue
bonds sold in December 2012.

Capital contributions fell $0.1 million, reflecting fewer street lighting assets provided to KUB this fiscal
year.
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Total plant assets (net) increased $29.7 million or 7.9 percent over the end of the last fiscal year reflecting
distribution system improvements and pole replacements as part of KUB’s Century Il electric program.

Long-term debt represented 38.3 percent of the Division’s capital structure as of June 30, 2013,
compared to 35.4 percent last year. Capital structure equals long-term debt (including the current portion
of any revenue bonds and notes, as applicable, due to be retired the next fiscal year) plus net position.

The Division’s bond covenants require a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.2 times the maximum
principal and interest payments over the life of the Division’s outstanding bonds. Current year debt
coverage for the fiscal year was 3.95. Maximum debt service coverage was 3.45.

Division Cash Budget Appropriations

KUB'’s Board of Commissioners adopted an Electric Division budget of $563.4 million for fiscal year 2014.
In April 2014, additional appropriations were approved by the Board in the amount of $10 to cover higher
than anticipated wholesale energy costs. Actual disbursements exceeded the original budget by $0.9
million, with Purchased Energy exceeding the original budget by $4.9 million and O&M and Capital
expenses lagging the budget by a total of $3.6 million. The general fund balance was $3.3 million higher
than originally budgeted as a result of higher than anticipated revenues from operations, driven primarily
by the colder than normal winter. The chart below depicts KUB’s original budget compared to actual
results.

Electric Division Cash Report
As of June 30, 2014

(in thousands of dollars) FY 2014 FY 2014 Dollar Percent
Budget** Actual FYTD Variance* Variance

Beginning Balance General Fund $ 69586 $ 69,586

Operating Receipts 523,678 528,070 4,392 0.8%

Disbursements

Purchased Energy Expense 413,369 418,277 (4,908) 1.2%
Operation & Maintenance Expense 53,419 52,092 1,327 2.5%
Capital Expenditures 67,176 64,869 2,307 3.4%
Debt Service & Taxes 29,477 29,138 339 1.2%

Total Disbursements 563,441 564,376 (935) 0.2%
Net Flow throughs and Transfers (1,693) (1,808) (115) -6.8%

Ending General Fund Balance with Appropriations $ 28,130 $ 31,472 $ 3,342 11.9%
* Impact to Cash; (-) indicates a decrease or negative impact to cash
** Excludes additional appropriations of $10 million
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division - Financial Statements

The Division’s financial performance is reported under three basic financial statements: the Statement of
Net Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of
Cash Flows.

Statement of Net Position

The Division reports its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and net position in the Statement of Net Position. Assets are classified as current, restricted, electric
plant in service, or other assets.

Liabilities are classified as current, other, or long-term debt. Net position is classified as net investment in
capital assets; restricted; or unrestricted. Net position tells the user what the Division has done with its
accumulated earnings, not just the balance.

Net investment in capital assets, is the net book value of all capital assets less the outstanding balances
of debt used to acquire, construct, or improve those assets.

Restricted net position includes assets that have been limited to specific uses by the Division’s bond
covenants or through resolutions passed by the KUB Board of Commissioners.

Unrestricted net position is a residual classification; the amount remaining after reporting net position as
either invested in capital or restricted is reported there.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The Division reports its revenues and expenses (both operating and non-operating) on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. In addition, any capital contributions or assets
donated by developers are reported on this statement.

Total revenue less total expense equals the change in net position for the reporting period. Net position
at the beginning of the period is increased or decreased, as applicable, by the change in net position for
the reporting period.

The change in net position for the reporting period is added to the net position segment of the Statement
of Net Position.

Statement of Cash Flows

The Division reports its cash flows from operating activities, capital and related-financing activities, and
investing activities on its Statement of Cash Flows. This statement tells the user the Division’s sources
and uses of cash during the reporting period.

The statement indicates the Division’s beginning cash balance and ending cash balance and how it was
either increased or decreased during the reporting period.

The statement also reconciles cash flow back to operating income as it appears on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
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Condensed Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position for the Electric Division compared to
the prior year and the year preceding the prior year.

Statements of Net Position
As of June 30

(in thousands of dollars) 2014 2013 2012
Current and other assets $ 150,076 $ 183,172 $ 165,590
Capital assets, net 445,495 406,026 376,338
Deferred outflows of resources 1,415 1,605 1,852
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 596,986 590,803 543,780
Current and other liabilities 108,777 106,386 98,274
Long-term debt outstanding 171,005 178,940 151,950
Deferred inflows of resources 4,220 4,481 3,766
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 284,002 289,807 253,990
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 262,995 216,052 214,981
Restricted 7,956 7,595 6,924
Unrestricted 42,033 77,349 67,885
Total net position $ 312984 $ 300,996 $ 289,790

Normal Impacts on Statement of Net Position

The following is a description of activities which will normally impact the comparability of the Statement of
Net Position presentation.

Change in net position (from Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position):
impacts (increase/decrease) current and other assets and/or capital assets and unrestricted net
position.

Issuing debt for capital: increases deferred inflows/outflows of resources and long-term debt.
Spending debt proceeds on new capital: reduces current assets and increases capital assets.
Spending of non-debt related current assets on new capital: (a) reduces current assets and
increases capital assets and (b) reduces unrestricted net position and increases net investment in

capital assets.

Principal payment on debt: (a) reduces current and other assets and reduces long-term debt and (b)
reduces unrestricted net position and increases net investment in capital assets.

Reduction of capital assets through depreciation: reduces capital assets and net investment in
capital assets.
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Impacts and Analysis
Current and Other Assets

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Current and other assets decreased $33.1 million or 18.1 percent. The decrease is predominately
attributable to the reduction in general fund cash of $38.1 million primarily for funding capital projects. The
decrease is offset by a $1.9 million increase in operating contingency reserves, $0.9 million increase in
inventories, $0.6 million increase in other current assets and a $0.4 million increase in accounts
receivable.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Current and other assets increased $17.6 million or 10.6 percent. The increase in assets is attributed to
cash proceeds from the $35 million December 2012 bond issue and increased revenue from one percent
October 2011 and 2012 rate increases. Accounts receivable was $3.9 million higher than June 30 of the
previous year contributing to the overall increase in assets. Operating contingency reserves increased $1

million. Other assets decreased by $17.7 million as KUB flowed through previously under recovered
wholesale power costs to its electric customers through the Purchased Power Adjustment.

Capital Assets
Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013
Capital assets, net of depreciation, increased $39.5 million or 9.7 percent. Major capital expenditures

included $31.8 million for distribution system improvements, $8.7 million for pole replacements, $5.5
million for system growth-related expenditures and $2.7 million for fleet and heavy equipment.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012
Capital assets, net of depreciation, increased $29.7 million or 7.9 percent. Major capital expenditures

included $23.6 million for distribution system improvements, $8.9 million for pole replacements, $4.6
million for system growth-related expenditures, and $2.2 million for fleet and heavy equipment.

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Deferred outflows of resources decreased $0.2 million or 11.8 percent compared to the prior fiscal year,
reflecting amortization of deferred losses on bonds refunded in prior periods.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Deferred outflows of resources decreased $0.2 million compared to the prior year, reflecting issuance
costs received in the refunding of long term debt in March 2013.
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Current and Other Liabilities

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Current and other liabilities increased $2.4 million or 2.2 percent, due in part to increased accounts
payables of $1.4 million from higher contractor costs for June 2014 compared to June 2013. TVA
conservation loans increased $0.9 million. Over recovery of purchased power cost was $0.5 million less
in fiscal year 2014. The $4.4 million over recovery in fiscal year 2014 will be flowed back to KUB'’s electric
customers next fiscal year through adjustments to electric rates via the Purchased Power Adjustment.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Current and other liabilities increased $8.1 million or 8.3 percent, due in part to a $4.9 million over
recovery of purchased power expenses in fiscal year 2013. The $4.9 million over recovery will be flowed
back to KUB's electric customers next fiscal year through adjustments to electric rates via the Purchased
Power Adjustment. Accounts payable rose $0.8 million, due to higher contractor costs for June 2013
compared to June 2012. TVA conservation loans increased $0.7 million.

10
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Long-Term Debt

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Long-term debt decreased $7.9 million or 4.4 percent from the scheduled repayment of debt.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Long-term debt increased $27 million or 17.8 percent, the net result of a $35 million December 2012 bond
issue, the scheduled repayment of debt, and a $0.4 million reduction in principal as a result of the March
2013 debt refunding.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

The net unamortized cost of debt decreased $0.3 million or 5.8 percent compared to the prior fiscal year.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

The net unamortized cost of debt increased $0.7 million reflecting premiums received in the refunding of
long term debt in March 2013.

(Space left intentionally blank)
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Resources

Net Position
Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Net investment in capital assets increased by $46.9 million or 21.7 percent. The increase was primarily
the result of $39.5 million of net electric plant additions. Unrestricted net position decreased $35.3
million, due to the $33.1 million decrease in current and other assets. Restricted net position increased
$0.4 million, due to the net increase of the electric bond fund and the associated interest payable.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Net investment in capital assets increased by $1.1 million or 0.5 percent. The increase was the net result
of $29.7 million of net electric plant additions and the addition of new electric system debt and debt
issuance costs totaling $28.6 million. Unrestricted net position increased $9.5 million, due to the $17.6
million increase in current and other assets. Restricted net position increased $0.7 million, due to the net
increase of the electric bond fund and the associated interest payable.

12
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net
Position for the Electric Division compared to the prior year and the year preceding the prior year.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30

(in thousands of dollars) 2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues $ 527,833 $ 534,888 $ 506,054
Less: Purchased power expense 419,558 432,024 409,443
Margin from sales 108,275 102,864 96,611
Operating expenses
Distribution 32,905 30,914 29,123
Customer service 5,858 5,588 5,305
Administrative and general 13,351 13,021 13,954
Depreciation and amortization 23,190 22,377 20,656
Taxes and tax equivalents 13,627 12,940 12,003
Total operating expenses 88,931 84,840 81,041
Operating income 19,344 18,024 15,570
Interest income 290 371 502
Interest expense (7,739) (7,281) (6,990)
Other income/(expense) (213) (85) (251)
Change in net position before capital contributions 11,682 11,029 8,831
Capital contributions 306 177 302
Change in net position $ 11,988 $ 11,206 $ 9,133

Normal Impacts on Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net
Position

The following is a description of activities which will normally impact the comparability of the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presentation.

e Operating revenue is largely determined by the volume of electric power sales for the fiscal year. Any
change (increase/decrease) in retail electric rates would also be a cause of change in operating
revenue.

e Purchased power expense is determined by volume of power purchases from TVA for the fiscal year.
Also, any change (increase/decrease) in TVA wholesale power rates would result in a change in
purchased power expense.

e Operating expenses (distribution, customer service, administrative and general) are normally
impacted by changes in areas including, but not limited to, labor costs (staffing, wage rates), active
employee and retiree medical costs, and overhead line maintenance (tree trimming, pole inspection,
etc.).

e Depreciation expense is impacted by plant additions and retirements during the fiscal year.

e Taxes and tax equivalents are impacted by plant additions/retirements, changes in property tax rates,
and gross margin levels.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

e Interest income is impacted by the level of interest rates and investments.

e Interest expense on debt is impacted by the level of outstanding debt and the interest rates on the
outstanding debt.

e Other income/(expenses) is impacted by miscellaneous non-operating revenues and expenses.

o Capital contributions are impacted by a donation of facilities/infrastructure to KUB by developers and
governmental agencies. The contributions are recognized as revenue and recorded as plant in
service based on the fair market value of the asset(s).

Impacts and Analysis
Margin from Sales

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

The Division’s net position increased $12 million, which was $0.8 million more than last year's $11.2
million increase. The higher earnings were due to the net effect of a $5.4 million increase in margin on
sales, a $4.1 million rise in operating expenses, a $0.5 million increase in interest expense, and a $0.1
million rise in capital contributions.

Margin on electric sales grew $5.4 million, which was the combined result of an increase in sales volumes
and additional revenue from the one percent October 2012 and 2013 rate increases.

Operating revenue decreased $7.1 million or 1.3 percent, reflecting the flow through of over recovered
purchased power from the prior fiscal year, a 1.4 percent in billed sales volumes and additional revenue
from electric rate increases effective October 2012 and 2013. Purchased power expense decreased
$12.5 million over last year the net result of higher sales volumes and wholesale purchase power rates
from TVA. Power sales of 5.5 million MWh were 1.4 percent higher than the prior year.

FY 2014 Total Electric Customers = 199,382 FY 2014 Electric Sales = 5.5 million MWh
2% <1% 1%

® Residential ® Small Commerical & Industrial = Residential ® Small Commerical & Industrial
© Large Commercial & Industrial = Lighting = Large Commercial & Industrial = Lighting

Residential customers represented 88 percent of total electric system customers and accounted for 45
percent of electric sales volumes for the year. Large commercial and industrial customers accounted for
the largest portion of total sales volumes for the year, which was consistent with the prior year due to a
steady customer base. KUB'’s ten largest electric customers accounted for 15.8 percent of KUB'’s billed
volumes. Those ten customers represent five industrial and five commercial customers, including two
governmental customers. Sales to Gerdau Ameristeel, KUB’s largest industrial customer, were 305.2
MWh or 5.5 percent of total electric system sales.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Electric sales volumes were 1.1 percent lower during the first six months of fiscal year 2014 compared to
the previous fiscal year. However, sales over the course of the winter heating season were significantly
higher, reflecting colder temperatures than the prior fiscal year.

KUB has added 2,875 electric system customers over the past three years, representing annual growth of
less than 1 percent.

Electric sales volumes have increased 2.6 percent since fiscal year 2012. Large commercial and
industrial sales have decreased 1.5 percent over the same period of time.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

The Division’s net position increased $11.2 million, which was $2.1 million more than last year's $9.1
million increase. The higher earnings were due to the net effect of a $6.3 million increase in margin on
sales, a $3.8 million rise in operating expenses, a $0.3 million increase in interest expense, and a $0.1
million decline in capital contributions.

Margin on electric sales grew $6.3 million, which was the combined result of an increase in sales volumes
and additional revenue from the one percent October 2011 and 2012 rate increases.

Operating revenue increased $28.8 million or 5.7 percent. Purchased power expense increased $22.6
million over last year, the net result of higher purchases and slightly lower TVA wholesale power rates.
Power sales of 5.5 million MWh were 1.1 percent higher than the prior year.

FY 2013 Total Electric Customers = 198,356 FY 2013 Electric Sales = 5.5 million MWh
2%, <1% 1%

AT%

® Residential m Small Commerical & Industrial = Residential m Small Commerical & Industrial
" Large Commercial & Industrial = Lighting " Large Commercial & Industrial = Lighting

Residential customers represented 88 percent of total electric system customers and accounted for 45
percent of electric sales volumes for the year. Large commercial and industrial customers accounted for
the largest portion of total sales volumes for the year, which was consistent with the prior year due to a
steady customer base. KUB'’s ten largest electric customers accounted for 15.6 percent of KUB’s billed
volumes. Those ten customers represent five industrial and five commercial customers including two
governmental customers. Sales to Gerdau Ameristeel, KUB’s largest industrial customer, were 291.3
MWh or 5.3 percent of total electric system sales.

Electric sales were slightly lower during the first six months of fiscal year 2013 compared to the previous
fiscal year. However, sales over the course of the winter heating season were significantly higher than
the prior year, reflecting colder temperatures. Sales in the last two months of the fiscal year were lower
than the previous year due to milder summer temperatures.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
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Operating Expenses
Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013
Operating expenses (excluding purchased power expense) increased $4.1 million, or 4.8 percent
compared to fiscal year 2013. Operating expenses are categorized as distribution (O&M), customer

service (O&M), administrative and general (O&M), depreciation or taxes and tax equivalents:

= Distribution expenses increased $2 million or 6.4 percent, primarily from an increase in
substation breaker replacements and outside contractor expenses.

= Customer service expenses were up $0.3 million compared with the prior year, primarily due
to the Division’s share of increased meter reading expenses.

= Administrative and general expenses increased $0.3 million or 2.5 percent, primarily due to
an increase in the Division’s portion of shared costs.

FY 2014 Electric O&M Expense = $52.1 Million

Materials Utilities
$0.7 Million $1.3 Million
Other 1% 2%

$4.7 Million

9%
Vegetation
Management
$6.6 Million
13%
Contractors &
Consultants
$11.4 Million
22%

= Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2014 increased $0.8 million or 3.6 percent. This increase
was primarily attributable to station equipment, poles and overhead conductors.

= Taxes and tax equivalents were $0.7 million higher than the prior fiscal year due to an
increase in tax equivalent payments to the City of Knoxville, Knox County, and other taxing
jurisdictions as a result of capital asset and margin growth.
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Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Operating expenses (excluding purchased power expense) increased $3.8 million, or 4.7 percent
compared to fiscal year 2012. Operating expenses are categorized as distribution (O&M), customer
service (O&M), administrative and general (O&M), depreciation or taxes and tax equivalents:

= Distribution expenses increased $1.8 million or 6.1 percent, due in large part to an increase in
outside contractor expenses.

= Customer service expenses were up $0.3 million compared with the prior year, primarily due
to the Division’s share of increased meter reading expenses.

= Administrative and general expenses decreased $0.9 million or 6.7 percent, primarily due to a
$0.7 million decrease in the Division’s portion of shared costs.

FY 2013 Electric O&M Expense = $49.5 Million

Materials Utilities
$1 Million $1.3 Million
Other
$3.7 Million
8%

Vegetation
Management
$6.7 Million
14%

Contractors &
Consultants
$10.4 Million

21%

| \1”.

= Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2013 increased $1.7 million or 8.3 percent. This increase
was the result of a full year of depreciation on $27 million of assets added in the fiscal year
2012 and a partial year of depreciation on $46.4 million of assets placed in service in fiscal
year 2013. The Division also retired $10.4 million in assets over the course of the fiscal year.

= Taxes and tax equivalents were $0.9 million higher than the prior fiscal year due to an

increase in tax equivalent payments to the City of Knoxville, Knox County, and other taxing
jurisdictions as a result of capital asset and margin growth.
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Electric Division Operation & Maintenance Expense

$60 -
S50 -
$40 -
$30 -
$20 -

$10 -

$0 -
2012 2013 2014

(Millions)

Other Income and Expense

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

Interest income decreased $0.1 million. This decrease was primarily due to lower long-term interest rates
on operating contingency fund investments.

Interest expense increased $0.5 million or 6.3 percent, primarily due to the additional interest from
revenue bonds issued December 2012.

Other income (net) decreased $0.1 million.

The Division recorded $0.3 million in capital contributions from donated street lighting assets during the
fiscal year.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012

Interest income decreased $0.1 million. This decrease was primarily due to lower long-term interest rates
on operating contingency fund investments.

Interest expense increased $0.3 million or 4.2 percent, the net result of interest cost on $35 million of
bonds issued during the fiscal year and savings on the refunding of $10.1 million of outstanding bonds in
March 2013.

Other income (net) increased $0.2 million.

The Division recorded $0.2 million in capital contributions from donated street lighting assets during the
fiscal year.
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Capital Assets
Capital Assets
As of June 30
(Net of Depreciation)

(in thousands of dollars) 2014 2013 2012
Distribution plant:
Services and meters $ 16,851 $ 16,968 $ 16,949
Electric station equipment 32,797 30,227 25,181
Poles, towers and fixtures 84,332 72,274 63,621
Overhead conductors 73,663 67,448 69,161
Line transformers 55,600 52,503 48,486
Others 106,894 100,458 94,414
Total distribution plant 370,137 339,878 317,812
General plant 27,288 25,959 25,131
Total plant 397,425 365,837 342,943
Work in progress 48,070 40,189 33,395
Total net plant $ 445,495 $ 406,026 $ 376,338

Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013

As of June 30, 2014, the Division had $445.5 million invested in a variety of capital assets, as reflected in
the schedule above, which represents a net increase (including additions, retirements, and depreciation)
of $39.5 million or 9.7 percent over the end of the last fiscal year.

FY 2014 Electric Division Capital Assets = $445.5 Million
(in Millions)
$16.8

m Other Distribution = 24% m Poles, Towers & Fixtures = 19%
= Overhead Conductors = 17% ®Line Transformers = 12%

= Work in Progress = 11% u Electric Station Equipment = 7%
u General Plant = 6% u Services & Meters = 4%
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Major capital asset expenditures during the year were as follows:
= $31.8 million for various electric distribution system improvements.
= $8.7 million for pole replacements.

= $5.5 million for installation of new electric services and the upgrade or replacement of
existing services.

= $2.7 million for fleet and heavy equipment.
Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012
As of June 30, 2013, the Division had $406 million invested in a variety of capital assets, as reflected in

the schedule above which represents a net increase (including additions, retirements, and depreciation)
of $29.7 million or 7.9 percent over the end of the last fiscal year.

FY 2013 Electric Division Capital Assets = $406 Million

(in Millions)

= Other Distribution = 25% E Poles, Towers & Fixtures = 18%
m Overhead Conductors = 17% ® Line Transformers = 13%

= Work in Progress = 10% u Electric Station Equipment= 7%
" General Plant = 6% w Services & Meters = 4%

Major capital asset expenditures during the year were as follows:
= $23.6 million for various electric distribution system improvements.
= $8.9 million for pole replacements.

=  $4.6 million for installation of new electric services and the upgrade or replacement of
existing services.

= $2.2 million for fleet and heavy equipment.
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Debt Administration

The Division’s outstanding debt peaked in fiscal year 2013 at $186.5 million. Scheduled repayments of
debt decreased the amount outstanding as of June 30, 2014 to $178.9 million. Debt as a percentage of
capitalization represented 36.4 percent in 2014, 38.3 percent in 2013 and 35.4 percent at the end of fiscal
year 2012,

Outstanding Debt
As of June 30

(in thousands of dollars) 2014 2013 2012
Revenue bonds $ 178,940 $ 186,510 $ 158,870
Total outstanding debt $ 178,940 $ 186,510 $ 158,870
Electric Division Outstanding Debt Electric Division Funding

$200 100%

$160 80%
$120 60%

$80 40%

$40 20%

$- L 0% . .
2012 2013 2014 2012 2013 2014
(Millions)

EmDebt mENet Assets
The Division will pay $96.1 million in principal payments over the next ten years, representing 53.7
percent of the outstanding bonds. KUB’s Debt Management Policy requires that a minimum of 30 percent
of electric debt principal be repaid over the next ten years.
Fiscal Year 2014 Compared to Fiscal Year 2013
As of June 30, 2014, the Division had $178.9 million in outstanding debt (including the current portion of
revenue bonds), compared to $186.5 million last year, a decrease of $7.6 million or 4.1 percent. The
Division’s weighted average cost of debt at June 30, 2014 was 4.08 percent.
This decrease in debt was attributable to the scheduled repayment of bond debt during the fiscal year.
The Division’s outstanding debt is rated by Standard & Poor’'s and Moody’s Investors Service. As of June

30, 2014, the Division’s revenue bonds were rated AA+ by Standard & Poor's and Aa2 by Moody’'s
Investors Service.

Fiscal Year 2013 Compared to Fiscal Year 2012
As of June 30, 2013, the Division had $186.5 million in outstanding debt (including the current portion of

revenue bonds), compared to $158.9 million last year, an increase of $27.6 million or 17.4 percent. The
Division’s weighted average cost of debt at June 30, 2013 was 4.06 percent.
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This increase in debt was attributable to the net result of scheduled repayment of bond debt during the
fiscal year, the issuance of $35 million in electric bonds to fund Century Il capital improvements, and the
refunding of outstanding bonds.

In March 2013, KUB sold $9.7 million in revenue refunding bonds for the purpose of refunding electric
bonds issued in 2006 at lower interest rates. The Division will realize a total debt service savings of $1.2
million over the life of the bonds ($0.7 million on a net present value basis).

The Division’s outstanding debt is rated by Standard & Poor’'s and Moody’s Investors Service. As of June
30, 2013, the Division’'s revenue bonds were rated AA+ by Standard & Poor's and Aa2 by Moody’s
Investors Service.

Impacts on Future Financial Position
KUB anticipates adding 1,050 additional electric system customers in fiscal year 2015.

In June 2014, the KUB Board adopted three years of rate increases for the electric systems to help fund
the ongoing Century Il infrastructure programs for each system. The electric rate increases will be
effective July 2014, July 2015, and July 2016, respectively. Each rate increase will provide approximately
$5 million in additional electric system revenue.

KUB sold $40 million in electric system revenue bonds in August 2014 for the purpose of funding electric
system capital improvements in fiscal year 2015. The true interest cost of the bonds, which were sold
through a competitive bidding process was 3.514 percent.

KUB debt portfolio includes $26.5 million of Electric Division 2010 Build America Bonds (BABs) in which
the U.S. Treasury provides a rebate to KUB for a portion of the interest. The interest rebates were
subject to federal sequestration during the fiscal year and were reduced by 7.2 percent. Any future
actions by Congress may also affect the anticipated rebates for future fiscal years.

The TVA Board approved a 1.5 percent October 2014 wholesale base rate increase which will be flowed
through to KUB’s electric retail sales via its Purchase Power Adjustment. The flow through of this
wholesale rate increase will raise the typical residential electric customer’'s monthly bill $1.70.

GASB Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, is effective for periods beginning after
June 15, 2013. GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and GASB No.
71, Pension Transition for Contributions made Subsequent to the Measurement Date — an amendment of
GASB Statement No. 68, are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2014. KUB has not elected
early implementation of these standards and has not completed the process of evaluating the impact of
these statements on its financial statements.

No other facts, decisions, or conditions are currently known which would have a significant impact on the
Division’s financial position or results of operations during fiscal year 2014.

Financial Contact

The Division’s financial statements are designed to present users (citizens, customers, investors, and
creditors) with a general overview of the Division’s financial position and results of operations for the fiscal
years ending June 30, 2014 and 2013. If you have questions about the statements or need additional
financial information, contact KUB's Chief Financial Officer at 445 South Gay Street, Knoxville,
Tennessee 37902.
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Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Short-term contingency fund investments
Other current assets
Accrued interest receivable

Accounts receivable, less allowance of uncollectible accounts

of $542,991 in 2014 and $706,454 in 2013
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

Restricted assets:
Electric bond fund
Other funds
Total restricted assets

Electric plant in service
Less accumulated depreciation

Retirement in progress
Construction in progress
Net plant in service

Other assets:
Long-term contingency fund investments
TVA conservation program receivable
Other
Total other assets
Total assets

Deferred outflows of resources:
Unamortized bond refunding costs
Total deferred outflows of resources
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
31,472,251  $ 60,586,059
- 9,000,000
12,287,377 9,105,900
581,348 9,878
10,907 23,071
56,667,360 56,265,887
7,522,325 6,605,123
1,112,036 1,107,435
109,653,604 142,703,353
11,583,829 11,326,535
20,620 25,295
11,604,449 11,351,830
750,921,975 708,307,167
(353,496,822) (342,470,640)
397,425,153 365,836,527
801,031 1,264,225
47,268,838 38,925,048
445,495,022 406,025,800
14,753,028 16,037,087
11,093,821 10,189,286
2,971,392 2,890,228
28,818,241 29,116,601
595,571,316 589,197,584
1,415,368 1,605,482
1,415,368 1,605,482
596,986,684 $ 590,803,066




Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2014 and 2013

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Capitalization
Current liabilities:

Current portion of revenue bonds

Sales tax collections payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Customer deposits plus accrued interest

Accrued interest on revenue bonds

Total current liabilities

Other liabilities:
TVA conservation program
Accrued compensated absences
Customer advances for construction
Over recovered purchased power cost
Other
Total other liabilities

Long-term debt:
Electric revenue bonds
Total long-term debt
Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unamortized costs
Total deferred inflows of resources
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources

Net position

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for:
Debt service
Other

Unrestricted
Total net position
Total liabilities, deferred inflows, and net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

2014 2013
7,935,000 $ 7,570,000
878,073 882,823
44,031,673 42,610,817
21,760,276 21,440,709
10,526,010 10,414,112
3,648,729 3,756,435
88,779,761 86,674,896
10,885,245 10,005,739
3,819,218 3,879,950
755,380 588,441
4,412,769 4,927,581
124,804 309,274
19,997,416 19,710,985
171,005,000 178,940,000
171,005,000 178,940,000
279,782,177 285,325,881
4,220,243 4,480,711
4,220,243 4,480,711
284,002,420 289,806,592
262,994,767 216,052,130
7,935,100 7,570,100
20,620 25,295
42,033,777 77,348,949
312,984,264 300,996,474
596,986,684 $ 590,803,066




Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Purchased power
Distribution
Customer service
Administrative and general
Provision for depreciation and amortization
Taxes and tax equivalents
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Non-operating revenues (expenses)
Contributions in aid of construction
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Write-down of plant for costs recovered through contributions
Other
Total non-operating revenues (expenses)
Change in net position before capital contributions
Capital contributions
Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

2014 2013
527,832,791  $ 534,888,206
419,557,996 432,023,455
32,904,889 30,914,192
5,858,398 5,587,902
13,350,746 13,021,407
23,190,530 22,376,706
13,626,589 12,940,143
508,489,148 516,863,805
19,343,643 18,024,401
1,726,458 3,953,118
289,857 370,800
(7,739,346) (7,281,191)
(1,726,458) (3,953,118)
(212,614) (85,206)
(7,662,103) (6,995,597)
11,681,540 11,028,804
306,250 177,364
11,987,790 11,206,168
300,996,474 289,790,306
312,984,264  $ 300,996,474




Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash receipts from customers
Cash receipts from other operations
Cash payments to suppliers of goods or services
Cash payments to employees for services
Payment in lieu of taxes
Cash receipts from collections of TVA conservation loan program participants
Cash payments for TVA conservation loan program
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Net proceeds from bond issuance
Principal paid on revenue bonds and notes payable
Interest paid on revenue bonds and notes payable
Acquisition and construction of electric plant
Changes in electric bond fund, restricted
Customer advances for construction
Proceeds received on disposal of plant
Cash received from developers and individuals for capital purposes
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Changes in deposit and investment accounts:
Purchase of investment securities
Maturities of investment securities
Interest received
Other property and investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating activities
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
TVA conservation program receivable
Other assets
Sales tax collections payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Unrecovered purchased power cost
TVA conservation program payable
Customer deposits plus accrued interest
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

Noncash capital activities:
Acquisition of plant assets through developer contributions

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2014 2013
520,465,490 $ 524,253,890
6,753,607 8,560,444
(450,856,828) (440,706,161)
(22,182,793) (21,692,297)
(11,905,037) (11,301,342)
2,803,444 2,825,755
(2,811,356) (2,757,835)
42,266,527 59,182,454
- 35,565,144
(7,570,000) (6,920,000)
(7,405,114) (6,488,457)
(66,014,116) (57,024,217)
(257,294) (1,442,734)
166,939 15,571
606,719 23,551
1,726,458 3,953,118
(78,746,408) (32,318,024)
(2,056,857) 5,870,736
9,159,439 213,389
302,020 411,611
(38,529) (29,743)
7,366,073 6,465,993
(29,113,808) 33,330,423
60,586,059 27,255,636
31,472,251  $ 60,586,059
19,343,643  $ 18,024,401
24,273,528 23,437,295
(401,473) (3,890,367)
(917,202) (322,532)
(4,602) (492,382)
(904,534) (637,077)
(1,089,896) (1,245,124)
(4,750) 33,586
1,679,690 353,465
(514,812) 22,582,300
879,506 670,330
111,899 371,295
(184,470) 297,263
42,266,527 $ 59,182,454
306,250 $ 177,364



Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

1.

Description of Business

Knoxville Utilities Board (KUB), comprised of the Electric Division, Gas Division, Water Division,
and Wastewater Division (Divisions), is reported as a component unit enterprise fund in the
financial statements of the City of Knoxville. KUB's responsibility is to oversee the purchase,
production, distribution, and processing of electricity, natural gas, water, and wastewater services.
A seven-member Board of Commissioners governs KUB. The Board has all powers to construct,
acquire, expand, or operate the Divisions. It has full control and complete jurisdiction over the
management and operation of the Divisions including setting rates. The Electric Division (Division)
provides services to certain customers in Knox County and in seven surrounding counties in East
Tennessee. The Division's accounts are maintained in conformity with the Uniform System of
Accounts of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) and the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB), as applicable. The financial statements present only the
Electric Division and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the consolidated financial position
of Knoxville Utilities Board at June 30, 2014 and 2013, and the changes in its financial position for
the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

KUB follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34 (Statement No. 34), Financial Statements —
and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments. Statement No.
34 established standards for external financial reporting for all state and local governmental
entities.

The financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues are
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. The accounting and
financial reporting treatment applied to the Division is determined by measurement focus. The
transactions of the Division are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement
focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operations are
included on the statement of net position. Net position (i.e., total assets and deferred outflows of
resources net of total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources) are segregated into net
investment in capital assets; restricted for capital activity and debt service; and unrestricted
components.

Recently Adopted New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2010, the GASB issued Statement No. 62 (Statement No. 62), Codification of
Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and
AICPA Pronouncements, effective for KUB's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. The objective of
this Statement is to incorporate into the GASB’s authoritative literature certain Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ (AICPA)
accounting and financial reporting guidance issued on or before November 30, 1989, which does
not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.

Statement No. 62 supersedes Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting,
thereby eliminating the election to apply FASB statements, related interpretations, Accounting
Principles Board opinions and accounting research bulletins issued post-November 30, 1989 that
do not conflict with Governmental Accounting Standards. However, FASB pronouncements issued
post-November 30, 1989 that do not conflict with or contradict Governmental Accounting Standards
can continue to apply as other accounting literature.
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In June 2011, the GASB issued Statement No. 63 (Statement No. 63), (Financial Reporting of
Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position, effective for
KUB'’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. Statement No. 63 amends the net asset reporting
requirements in Statement No. 34 and other pronouncements. Under these new standards,
financial statements include deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, in
addition to assets and liabilities, and will report net position instead of net assets. Statement No.
63 requires the classification of net position into three components — net investment in capital
assets; net position-restricted; and net position-unrestricted.

These classifications are defined as follows:

¢ Net investment in capital assets — This component of net position consists of capital assets,
including restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable
to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt also should be included in this
component of net position. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year end,
the portion of the debt attributable to the unspent proceeds are not included in the calculation of
net investment in capital assets. Rather, that portion of the debt is included in the same net
position component as the unspent proceeds.

¢ Net position-restricted — This component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources related to those assets. Generally, a liability relates
to restricted assets if the asset results from a resource flow that also results in the recognition
of a liability or if the liability will be liquidated with the restricted assets reported.

e Net position-unrestricted — This component of net position consists of assets, deferred outflows
of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the
determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted component of net position.

Implementation of Statement No. 63 had no effect on KUB'’s net position or changes in net position.

In March 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 65 (Statement No. 65), Items Previously Reported
as Assets and Liabilities, effective for KUB’s fiscal year beginning July 1, 2013; however, KUB early
adopted Statement No. 65 effective for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. Statement No. 65
establishes accounting and financial reporting standards that reclassify as deferred outflows of
resources or deferred inflows of resources certain items that were previously reported as assets
and liabilities. Implementation of Statement No. 65 had no effect on KUB’s net position or changes
in net position.

Electric Plant

Electric plant and other property are stated on the basis of original cost. The cost of current repairs
and minor replacements is charged to operating expense. The cost of renewals and improvements
is capitalized. The original cost of utility plant assets retired or otherwise disposed of and the cost
of removal less salvage value is charged to accumulated depreciation. When other property is
retired, the related asset and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the
gain or loss is included in the results of operations.

The provision for depreciation of electric plant in service is based on the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which range from three to forty years, and is computed using the straight-line method.
Pursuant to FERC, the caption "Provision for depreciation" in the statements of revenues,
expenses and changes in net position does not include depreciation for transportation equipment of
$1,082,998 in fiscal year 2014 and $1,060,589 in fiscal year 2013. Interest costs are expensed as
incurred.
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Operating Revenue

Operating revenue consists primarily of charges for services provided by the principal operations of
the KUB Electric Division. Operating revenue is recorded when the service is rendered, on a cycle
basis, and includes an estimate of unbilled revenue. Revenues are reported net of bad debt
expense of $ 1,166,257 in fiscal year 2014 and $1,555,482 in fiscal year 2013.

Non-operating Revenue
Non-operating revenue consists of revenues that are related to financing and investing types of
activities and result from non-exchange transactions or ancillary activities.

Expense

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which there are both restricted and unrestricted net
assets available, it is KUB’s policy to apply those expenses to restricted net assets to the extent
such are available and then to unrestricted net assets.

Contributions in Aid of Construction and Capital Contributions

Contributions in aid of construction are cash collections from customers or others for a particular
purpose, generally the construction of new facilities to serve new customers in excess of the
investment KUB is willing to make for a particular incremental revenue source. KUB reduces the
plant account balances to which contributions relate by the actual amount of the contribution and
recognizes the contributions as non-operating revenue in accordance with Statement No. 62.

Capital contributions represent contributions of utility plant infrastructure constructed by developers
and others in industrial parks and other developments, and transferred to KUB upon completion of
construction and the initiation of utility service. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 33,
“Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions”, such contributions are
recognized as revenues and capital assets upon receipt.

Inventories
Inventories, consisting of plant materials and operating supplies, are valued at the lower of average
cost or replacement value.

Pension Plan

The Division’s employees are participants in the Knoxville Utilities Board Pension Plan as
authorized by the Charter of the City of Knoxville §1107(J) (Note 10). The Division’s policy is to
fund pension cost accrued. As required by GASB Statement No. 27, KUB measures and discloses
the annual pension cost on the accrual basis of accounting. At the time the funding method is
introduced, there is a liability, which represents the contributions that would have been
accumulated if this method of funding had always been used. The excess, if any, of this liability
over the actuarial value of the assets held in the fund is the unfunded actuarial accrued liability,
which is typically funded over a chosen period in accordance with an amortization schedule.

Investments
Investments are carried at fair value as determined by quoted market prices at the reporting date.

Self-Insurance

KUB has established self-insurance programs covering portions of workers' compensation,
employee health, environmental liability, general liability, property and casualty liability and
automobile liability claims. A liability is accrued for claims as they are incurred. When applicable,
claims in excess of the self-insured risk are covered by KUB's insurance carrier. Additionally, KUB
provides certain lifetime health benefits to eligible retired employees under a self-insurance plan
administered by a third party.
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Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
These estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that KUB
believes are reasonable under the circumstances. However, future events are subject to change
and the best estimates and judgments routinely require adjustment. Estimates are used for, but
not limited to, inventory valuation, provision for doubtful accounts, depreciable lives of plant assets,
unbilled revenue volumes, pension trust valuations, OPEB trust valuations, insurance liability
reserves, and potential losses from contingencies and litigation. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Restricted and Designated Assets

Certain assets are restricted by bond resolutions for the construction of utility plant and debt
repayment. Certain additional assets are designated by management for contingency purposes
and economic development.

Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, KUB considers all unrestricted and undesignated
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents.

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources are items previously reported as assets related to the acquisition of
assets or related debt which are amortized over the life of the asset or debt. Deferred inflows of
resources are items previously reported as liabilities related to the acquisition of assets or related
debt which are amortized over the life of the asset or debt. In accordance with Statement No. 62,
KUB records debt issuance costs, including discounts and premiums as a deferred outflow or
inflow. Likewise, KUB records costs associated with the gain or loss on refunding of debt as either
a deferred outflow or inflow based on the parameters of Statement No. 65.

Compensated Absences
KUB accrues a liability for earned but unpaid paid-time off (PTO) days.

Subsequent Events
KUB has evaluated events and transactions through October 24, 2014, the date these financial
statements were issued, for items that should potentially be recognized or disclosed.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to fiscal year 2013 balances to conform to fiscal year
2014 presentation.

Purchased Power Adjustment

In October 2002, the Board adopted a Purchased Power Adjustment (PPA) to address changes in
wholesale power costs. The PPA was established in response to an amendment to KUB'’s power
supply contract under which, among other things, TVA relinquished its regulatory authority over
KUB retail electric rates. The PPA allows KUB to promptly adjust retail electric rates in response to
wholesale rate changes or adjustments, thus ensuring that KUB will recover the costs incurred for
purchased power. These changes in electric costs are reflected as adjustments to the base
electric rates established by KUB's Board of Commissioners. The rate-setting authority vested in
the KUB Board by the City Charter meets the “self-regulated” provisions of Statement No. 62,
Cadification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989
FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, and KUB meets the remaining criteria of Statement No. 62.
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TVA implemented a fuel cost adjustment in October 2006 applied on a quarterly basis to wholesale
power rates. TVA's quarterly fuel cost adjustment became a monthly fuel cost adjustment effective
October 2009. KUB flows changes to wholesale power rates, from TVA's fuel cost adjustment
mechanism, directly through to its retail electric rates via the PPA.

In April 2011, TVA modified its wholesale rate structure to demand and energy billing for its
distributors. In response, KUB revised its PPA to include a deferred accounting component to
ensure appropriate matching of revenue and expense and cost recovery. KUB will adjust its retail
rates on an annual basis to flow any over or under recovery of wholesale power costs through to its
customers via the PPA.

Under the PPA mechanism, the Division tracks the actual (under)/over recovered amount in the
(Under)/Over recovered Purchased Power Costs accounts. These accounts are rolled into the
PPA rate adjustments thereby assuring that any (under)/over recovered amounts are promptly
passed on to the Division's customers. The amount of over recovered cost was $4,412,769 at
June 30, 2014 and 4,927,581 at June 30, 2013.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2012, the GASB issued two related Statements that affect accounting and financial
reporting of pensions by state and local governments. GASB Statement No. 67 (Statement No.
67), Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, is intended to improve financial reporting for state and
local government pension plans. GASB Statement No. 68 (Statement No. 68), Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions, establishes new accounting and financial reporting requirements
for governments that provide their employees with pensions. Statements No. 67 and 68 supersede
existing guidance on financial reporting for defined pension plans found in Statement No. 25,
Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined
Contribution Plans, Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental
Employers, and Statement No. 50, Pension Disclosures.

In November 2013, GASB issued Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions made
Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. The objective
of this statement is to clarify accounting and financial reporting for pensions. This statement
requires governments to recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for pension
contributions made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension liability
calculated under Statement No. 68.

Statement No. 67 is effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2013 and Statements No. 68 and
71 are effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2014. KUB has not elected early
implementation of these standards and has not completed the process of evaluating the impact of
these statements on its financial statements.

3. Deposits and Investments

KUB follows the provisions of Statement No. 40 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosures an amendment of GASB Statement No. 3. This
Statement establishes and modifies disclosure requirements for state and local governments
related to deposit and investment risks.

KUB'’s investment policy provides the framework for the administration and investment of cash
deposits. The investment policy follows State law and defines the parameters under which KUB
funds should be invested. State law authorizes KUB to invest in obligations of the United States
Treasury, its agencies and instrumentalities; certificates of deposit; repurchase agreements; money
market funds; and the State Treasurer's Investment Pool.
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Interest Rate Risk. KUB's primary investment objectives are to place investments in a manner to
ensure the preservation of capital, remain sufficiently liquid to meet all operating requirements, and
maximize yield of return. KUB minimizes its exposure to interest rate risk by adhering to Tennessee
state law requirements for the investment of public funds. This includes limiting investments to
those types described above and limiting maturity horizons. The maximum maturity is four years
from the date of investment. KUB also limits its exposure by holding investments to maturity unless
cash flow requirements dictate otherwise.

Credit Risk. KUB's investment policy, as required by state law, is to apply the prudent-person rule:
Investments are made with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons
of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for
speculation, but for investment, considering the probable income to be derived, as well as the
probable safety of their capital. KUB's Agency Bond investments are rated Aaa by Moody’s
Investors Service.

Custodial Credit Risk. KUB'’s investment policy limits exposure to custodial credit risk by restricting
investments to a standard set forth by State law. All deposits in excess of federal depository
insurance limits are collateralized with government securities held in KUB's name by a third-party
custodian bank(s) acting as KUB's agent(s), or through the state of Tennessee's collateral pool.
Financial institutions that participate in the collateral pool are subject to special assessment;
therefore, the deposits are considered insured. A portion of KUB'’s investments are generally held in
the State of Tennessee Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). The LGIP is a part of the State
Pooled Investment Fund and is sponsored by the State of Tennessee Treasury Department.
Tennessee Code Annotated 19-4-701 et seq. authorizes local governments to invest in the LGIP.
None of KUB'’s investments are exposed to custodial credit risk.

Classification of deposits and investment of net position:

2014 2013

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 31472251 $ 60,586,059

Short-term investments - 9,000,000

Short-term contingency fund investments 12,287,377 9,105,900
Other assets

Long-term contingency fund investments 14,667,816 15,965,018
Restricted assets

Electric bond fund 11,583,829 11,326,535

Other funds 20,620 25,295

$ 70,031,893 $ 106,008,807

The above amounts do not include accrued interest of $85,212 in fiscal year 2014 and $72,069 in
fiscal year 2013. Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis.
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Investments and maturities of KUB's deposits and investments:

Deposit and Investment Maturities (in Years)

Fair Less
Value Than 1 1-5
Supersweep NOW and Other Deposits $ 37,546,211 $ 37,546,211 $ -
State Treasurer's Investment Pool 694 694 -
Agency Bonds 19,340,523 4,673,402 14,667,121
Certificates of Deposits 19,197,805 19,197,805 -
$ 76,085,233 % 61,418,112 $ 14,667,121
4, Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following:
2014 2013
Wholesale and retail customers
Billed services $ 33,353,764 $ 33,748,677
Unbilled services 21,080,325 20,691,034
Other 2,776,262 2,532,630
Allowance for uncollectible accounts (542,991) (706,454)
$ 56,667,360 $ 56,265,887
5.  Accounts Payable and Accruals
Accounts payable and accruals were composed of the following:
2014 2013
Trade accounts $ 44,031,673 $ 42,610,817
Salaries and wages 664,201 598,379
Advances on pole rental 1,156,634 1,142,702
Self-insurance liabilities 738,983 816,900
Other current liabilities 19,200,458 18,882,728
$ 65,791,949 $ 64,051,526
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6.

Long-Term Obligations

Long-term debt consists of the following:

W-2005 - 3.0 - 4.5%
X-2006 - 4.0 - 5.0%
Y-2009 - 2.5 -5.0%
Z-2010-1.45 - 6.35%
AA-2012 - 3.0 - 5.0%
BB-2012 - 3.0 - 4.0%
CC-2013-3.0-4.0%
Total debt

Other liabilities consist of the following:

TVA conservation program  $
Accrued compensated

absences

Customer advances
for construction

Other

Fiscal
Year

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020-2024
2025-2029
2030-2034
2035-2039
2040-2043

Amounts
Balance Balance Due
June 30, June 30, Within
2013 Additions Payments 2014 One Year
34,860,000 $ - $ 1,720,000 $ 33,140,000 $ 1,790,000
5,200,000 - 1,650,000 3,550,000 1,725,000
37,350,000 - 1,450,000 35,900,000 1,525,000
27,725,000 - 1,255,000 26,470,000 1,265,000
36,715,000 - 920,000 35,795,000 955,000
35,000,000 - 500,000 34,500,000 625,000
9,660,000 - 75,000 9,585,000 50,000
$ 186,510,000 $ - $ 7,570,000 $ 178,940,000 $ 7,935,000
Amounts
Balance Balance Due
June 30, June 30, Within
2013 Increase Decrease 2014 One Year
10,005,739 $ 3,734,967 $ (2,855,461) $ 10,885,245 $ 1,500,000
3,879,950 6,618,561 $ (6,679,293) 3,819,218 1,500,000
588,441 536,881 (369,942) 755,380 8,000
309,274 63,880 (248,350) 124,804 20,000
$ 14,783,404 $ 10,954,289 $ (10,153,046) $ 15,584,647 $ 3,028,000
Debt service over remaining term of the debt is as follows:
Total Grand
Principal Interest Total
$ 7,935,000 $ 7,145,450 $ 15,080,450
8,270,000 6,832,230 15,102,230
8,585,000 6,503,212 15,088,212
8,940,000 6,157,884 15,097,884
9,305,000 5,779,848 15,084,848
53,085,000 22,165,634 75,250,634
50,485,000 10,915,036 61,400,036
16,885,000 3,256,630 20,141,630
7,850,000 1,747,500 9,597,500
7,600,000 468,750 8,068,750
$ 178,940,000 $ 70,972,174 $ 249,912,174

Total
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The Division has pledged sufficient revenue, after deduction of all current operating expenses
(exclusive of tax equivalents), to meet the revenue bonds principal and interest payments when
due. Such bond requirements are being met through monthly deposits to the Electric Bond Fund
as required by the bond covenants. As of June 30, 2014, these requirements had been satisfied.

During fiscal year 2006, KUB'’s Electric Division issued Series W 2005 bonds in part to retire certain
existing debt and to fund electric system capital improvements. Concurrent with the issuance of
these bonds, KUB transferred funds to an irrevocable trust to pay a portion of the Series U 2001
bonds, as such amounts mature. KUB'’s Electric Division also issued Series X 2006 bonds in part
to retire certain existing debt and to fund electric system capital improvements. Concurrent with
the issuance of these bonds, KUB transferred funds to an irrevocable trust to pay the remaining
maturities of principal and interest on the Series S 1998 bonds.

During fiscal year 2009, KUB’s Electric Division issued Series Y 2009 bonds to fund electric system
capital improvements.

During fiscal year 2011, KUB'’s Electric Division issued Series Z 2010 bonds to fund electric system
capital improvements. The bonds were issued as federally taxable Build America Bonds with a 35
percent interest payment rebate to be received from the United States Government for each
interest payment. Effective March 1, 2013 these bonds became subject to a 7.2% reduction in
rebate payment amounts due to the United States Government sequestration. The sequestration
is effective until intervening Congressional action, at which time the sequestration rate is subject to
change.

During fiscal year 2012, KUB's Electric Division issued Series AA 2012 bonds to retire a portion of
outstanding Series V 2004 bonds.

During fiscal year 2013, KUB’s Electric Division issued Series BB 2012 bonds to fund electric
system capital improvements. KUB’s Electric Division also issued Series CC 2013 bonds to retire
a portion of outstanding Series X 2006 bonds.

In prior years, certain revenue bonds were defeased by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old bonds. Accordingly, the
liability for the defeased bonds, $68 million at June 30, 2014, and the trust account assets are not
included in the financial statements.

7. Lease Commitments

KUB has non-cancelable operating lease commitments for office equipment and vehicles,
summarized for the following fiscal years:

2015 $ 27,338
2016 9,861
2017 1,028

Total operating minimum lease payments $ 38,227
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8.

Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2014 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
6/30/2013 Increase Decrease 06/30/2014
Distribution Plant
Services and Meters 40,494,806 $ 898,255 (157,890) 41,235,171
Electric Station Equipment 114,555,002 6,885,926 (476,777) 120,964,151
Poles, Towers and Fixtures 114,380,474 14,300,504 (4,352,351) 124,328,627
Overhead Conductors 112,732,790 9,216,310 (1,781,000) 120,168,100
Line Transformers 86,755,917 5,304,894 (1,957,010) 90,103,801
Other Accounts 168,436,833 11,769,390 (1,470,908) 178,735,315
Total Distribution Plant 637,355,822 $ 48,375,279 (10,195,936) 675,535,165
General Plant 70,951,345 6,057,153 (1,621,688) 75,386,810
Total Plant Assets $ 708,307,167 $ 54,432,432 $ (11,817,624) $ 750,921,975

Less Accumulated Depreciation (342,470,640) (22,707,126) 11,680,944 (353,496,822)
Net Plant Assets $ 365,836,527 $ 31,725,306 $ (136,680) $ 397,425,153
Work In Progress 40,189,273 60,112,686 (52,232,090) 48,069,869
Total Net Plant $ 406,025,800 $ 91,837,992 $ (52,368,770) $ 445,495,022

9. Risk Management

KUB is exposed to various risks of loss related to active and retiree medical claims; injuries to
workers; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; environmental damages; and natural
disasters. Claims expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has
occurred and the amount of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an
estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported.

These liabilities are included in accrued expenses in the Statement of Net Position. The liability is
KUB'’s best estimate based on available information. At June 30, 2014, the amount of these
liabilities was $738,983 resulting from the following changes:

2014 2013
Balance, beginning of year $ 816,900 $ 880,493
Current year claims and changes in estimates 5,685,495 5,742,173
Claims payments (5,763,412) (5,805,766)
Balance, end of year $ 738,983 $ 816,900

10. Pension Plan

Description of Plan

The Plan is a single-employer contributory, defined benefit pension plan established by Resolution
No. 980 dated February 18, 1999, effective July 1, 1999, as authorized by the Charter of the City of
Knoxville § 1107(J). The Plan is designed to provide retirement, disability and death benefits.

36



Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2014 and 2013

The Plan is a governmental plan as defined by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of
1974, is not subject to any of the provisions of the Act, and was revised January 1, 2014 to include
all prior approved amendments.

At December 31, 2013, the Plan had approximately 639 retirees and beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits and 49 terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them. Of
the approximately 778 current employees in the Plan, 743 were fully vested at December 31, 2013.
The Plan issues a financial report, which includes financial statements and required supplementary
information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville Utilities Board Retirement
System, P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

Effective January 1, 2011, KUB froze the Plan such that persons employed or re-employed by KUB
on or after January 1, 2011, shall not be eligible to participate, but that eligible employees hired
prior to January 1, 2011, who have not separated from service, shall continue as Participants and
accrue benefits under the Plan.

The Plan provides three different benefit arrangements for KUB participants, retirees, and
beneficiaries, as follows:

Career Equity Program (CEP)
CEP is for eligible employees hired on or after January 1, 1999, and for eligible former City Division
Plan A members who elected CEP coverage as of July 1, 1999. CEP is a closed plan.

All eligible employees became patrticipants on the date of his/her KUB employment. Participants
are covered by Social Security. Participation in CEP does not require or permit employee
contributions.

Plan A
Plan A benefits are for former City Division Plan A active employees, vested terminated
employees, retirees, and beneficiaries. Plan A is a closed plan.

All employees participating in the City Division Plan A as of June 30, 1999 were eligible to
participate in KUB’s Plan A or the CEP program. Participants of Plan A are covered by Social
Security. Plan A is a closed plan and is not available to KUB employees hired after July 1, 1999.
Participation in Plan A requires employee contributions of 3 percent of the first $4,800 of annual
earnings and 5 percent of annual earnings in excess of $4,800. Plan A provides for early
retirement benefits with 25 years of service and normal retirement benefits at age 62 or older.

Plan B
Plan B benefits are for former City Division Plan B active employees, vested terminated
employees, retirees, and beneficiaries. Plan B is a closed plan.

All employees participating in the City Division Plan B as of June 30, 1999, are eligible to
participate in KUB’s Plan B. Plan B is now a closed plan and no participants can be added.
Participants of Plan B are not covered by Social Security. Participation in Plan B requires
employee contributions of 4 percent of annual earnings. Plan B provides for retirement benefits
after 25 years of service and the attainment of age 50.

Funding Policy

For the Plan year ended December 31, 2013, a contribution of $6,314,399 will be made in the Plan
sponsor’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. The Electric Division’s portion of this contribution is
$3,030,911. The contribution was determined as part of the January 1, 2013 valuation using the
Individual Entry Age Normal funding method. The objective under this method is to fund each
participant’'s benefits under the Plan as payments which are level as a percentage of salary,
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starting on the original participation date (employment date) and continuing until the assumed
retirement, termination, disability or death. For the Plan year ended December 31, 2013, the Plan’s
actuarial funded ratio was 89.3 percent.

At the time the funding method is introduced, there is a liability, which represents the contributions
that would have been accumulated if this method of funding had always been used. The excess, if
any, of this liability over the actuarial value of the assets held in the fund, is the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability, which is typically funded over a chosen period in accordance with an amortization
schedule.

Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation include (a) rate of return of investments of 8
percent, (b) the RP2000 Mortality Table, (c) annual projected salary increases based on
participants’ ages ranging from age 25 to age 65 with salary increases from 2.58 percent to 7.92
percent, and (d) cost of living adjustment of 2.8 percent annually. The actuarial value of assets
was determined using techniques that smooth the effect of short-term volatility in the market value
of equities over a five-year period.

As of the actuarial report for the Plan year ended December 31, 2013, contributions of $6,314,399
and $5,502,677 for 2013 and 2012, respectively, will be made during the Plan sponsor’s fiscal
years ending June 30, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Of these amounts, $3,030,911 and
$2,586,258 are attributable to the Electric Division.

Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the actuarial valuation for the Plan year ending December 31, 2014
was completed. The actuarial valuation resulted in an actuarially determined contribution of
$5,669,380 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, based on the Plan’s current funding policy.
The Electric Division’s portion of this contribution is $2,721,302. For the Plan year ending
December 31, 2014, the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 94.6 percent. See Required
Supplementary Information for Pension Schedule of Funding Progress.

Defined Contribution Plan

KUB has a defined contribution 401(k) employee retirement savings plan covering eligible KUB
employees. Employees hired prior to January 1, 2011 may participate and receive a matching
contribution of 50 percent of their own contribution up to a maximum match of 3 percent.
Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011 have an enhanced 401(k) Plan due to the closure of
the Defined Benefit Pension Plan. They may participate and receive a matching contribution of 50
percent of their own contribution up to a maximum match of 3 percent. They also receive a
nonelective KUB contribution of from 3 percent to 6 percent, depending on years of service,
whether they contribute or not.

Since July 1, 2000, 401(k) matching contributions for employees eligible to participate in the KUB
Pension Plan have been funded by the Pension Plan. These funds are held by the Pension trustee
until eligible for distribution. IRS rules permit the funding of 401(k) matching contributions from
excess pension assets for employees covered under the Pension Plan. Given the current funding
level of the Pension Plan, effective July 1, 2011, KUB began to reimburse the Pension Plan for the
current matching contributions. The match and nonelective contributions for employees hired on or
after January 1, 2011 are paid directly by KUB.

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) established new standards for the
measurement, recognition, and reporting of other post-employment benefits (OPEB). OPEB

includes post-employment benefits other than pension, which, for KUB, is presently limited to post-
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employment health care. GASB Statement No. 45 (Statement No. 45) requires the recognition of
the accrued OPEB liability for the respective year, plus the disclosure of the total unfunded liability.
Statement No. 45 was effective for KUB for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2007.

KUB currently provides post-employment health care benefits to 604 former employees and 619
covered dependents. The cost of coverage is shared with retirees and beneficiaries. KUB
recognizes its share of the cost of post-employment health care benefits as an expense as claims
are paid.

In anticipation of Statement No. 45, KUB amended its Group Health Plan in 1999, eliminating post-
employment health care benefits for all employees hired on or after July 1, 1999. As of June 30,
2014, 399 active employees were eligible for individual and dependent coverage at separation. To
qualify, the employee must meet the Rule of 80 (age plus years of service) with a minimum of 20
years of service, and be enrolled in medical coverage on their last day.

In May 2006, the state of Tennessee adopted Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 50, Part
12 authorizing governmental entities to establish Trusts for the purpose of pre-funding their
respective OPEB liabilities.

Although Statement No. 45 does not require pre-funding of the liability, KUB has determined that it
is in the long-term economic interest of KUB and its ratepayers to establish a Trust to pre-fund
KUB’s OPEB liability.

In October 2007, the KUB Board authorized the establishment of an OPEB Trust. The applicable
documentation was submitted to the State Funding Board and, in December 2007, the State
Funding Board approved the Trust. The Trust was also approved by the Internal Revenue Service
in June 2008.

The Trust issues a financial report, which includes financial statements and required supplementary
information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville Utilities Board Retirement System,
P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Trust is governed by a
Board of Trustees, appointed by KUB’s President & CEO. The investment of all deposits to the
Trust is governed by an Investment Policy, which was adopted by the KUB Board and approved by
the State Funding Board.

Total contributions to the OPEB Trust for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 were $4,057,091
(Division’s share $1,906,833). The contribution to the Trust exceeded the annual actuarially
determined contribution, as determined by the Postretirement Benefit Plan’s actuarial valuation for
the year ended December 31, 2012, which was $3,327,412 (Division’s share $1,563,884). As of
June 30, 2014, the employer’s OPEB obligation has been exceeded by $177,322 (Division’s share
$83,341).

The actuarially determined contribution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, as determined by
the Plan’s actuarial valuation for the year ended December 31, 2013 is $3,497,372 (Division’s
share $1,678,739).

The actuarial valuation for the Plan for the year ending December 31, 2014 has been completed.
The valuation determined that the Plan’s actuarial accrued liability was $46,889,808 (Division’s
share $22,507,108). The actuarial value of the Plan’s assets was $43,409,955 (Division’s share
$20,836,778). As a result, the Plan’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability was $3,479,853 (Division’s
share $1,670,329). The Plan’'s actuarial funded ratio was 93 percent. The valuation also
determined that the employer’s actuarially determined contribution is $953,221 for the fiscal year
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ending June 30, 2016 (Division’s share $457,546). See Required Supplementary Information for
OPEB Schedule of Funding Progress.

13. Related Party Transactions
The Division, in the normal course of operations, is involved in transactions with the City of

Knoxville and with other divisions of KUB. Such transactions for the years ended June 30, 2014
and 2013 are summarized as follows:

2014 2013
City of Knoxuville
Amounts billed by the Division for utilities and
related services $ 7,258,070 $ 7,345,378
Payments by the Division in lieu of property tax 5,887,808 5,627,417
Payments by the Division for services provided 80,560 89,907
Other divisions of KUB
Amounts billed to other divisions for utilities
and related services provided 5,706,628 5,705,766
Interdivisional rental expense - -
Interdivisional rental income 743,721 688,858
Amounts billed to the Division by other divisions
for utilities services provided 226,003 199,291

With respect to these transactions, accounts receivable from the City of Knoxville and the other
divisions included in the balance sheet at year end were:

2014 2013

Accounts receivable $ 522,669 $ 566,006

14. Other Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of business, there are various lawsuits pending against KUB. Management
has reviewed these lawsuits with counsel, who is vigorously defending KUB's position and is of the
opinion that the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on
KUB's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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(Unaudited)

Pension Plan

Valuation
Date

January 1, 2010
January 1, 2011
January 1, 2012
January 1, 2013
January 1, 2014

Actuarial
Value of
Assets

(@)

$ 203,704,898
195,692,781
183,980,665
175,936,548
188,770,336

Actuarial

Accrued

Liability
(b)

$ 190,679,453
187,257,434
195,536,152
197,049,614
199,515,466

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)

Valuation
Date

January 1, 2008
January 1, 2009
January 1, 2010
January 1, 2011
January 1, 2012
January 1, 2013
January 1, 2014

Actuarial
Value of
Assets

(@)

$ -
14,593,487
21,275,643
40,749,815
37,907,357
38,571,803
43,409,955

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(AAL)
(b)

$ 108,329,141
100,726,738
58,475,364
64,289,254
61,603,466
63,341,531
46,889,808

Unfunded
Actuarial
Accrued

Liability
(UAAL)
(b-a)

11,555,487
21,113,066
10,745,130

Unfunded

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(UAAL)
(b-a)

$ 108,329,141

86,133,251
37,199,721
23,539,439
23,696,109
24,769,728

3,479,853

Funded

Ratio

(a)/(b)

$(13,025,445) 106.8%
(8,435,347) 104.5%

94.1%
89.3%
94.6%

Funded
Ratio

(a)/(b)

0%
14%
36%
63%
62%
61%
93%

Annual
Covered
Payroll

(c)

$ 48,228,428
47,405,874
48,836,721
47,553,598
47,107,350

Covered
Payroll

(c)

$ 31,234,509
31,846,091
30,069,028
28,878,791
28,269,123
27,566,340
26,724,154

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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UAAL as a

Percentage

of Covered
Payroll

[(b)-(2)]/(c)

(27.01%)
(17.79%)
23.66%
44.40%
22.81%

UAAL as a

Percentage

of Covered
Payroll

[(b)-(2)]/(c)

346.8%

270.5%

123.7%
81.5%
83.8%
89.9%
13.0%
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Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards by Grant
June 30, 2014

Schedule 1

KUB was awarded a grant from the Department of Energy in October 2009, under DOE’s Smart Grid Investment Grant Program. The grant,
which totals $3.58 million, will be used to help fund a smart grid pilot project in the University of Tennessee and surrounding areas. This grant
was fully expended as of June 30, 2014. KUB was also awarded two grants from Tennessee Emergency Management Agency (as a flow
through from FEMA) for reimbursement for costs related to storms in 2011. The schedule below shows the activities for the current fiscal year.

Federal/State Beginning Cash Ending
Program Name Agency CFDA Number Contract Number Receivable Receipts  Expenditures Adjustments Receivable
ARRA-Electricity Delivery
and Energy Reliability,
Research, Development and Department of
Analysis Energy 81.122 DE-OE0000405 $ - $ 271271 $ 271271 $ - $ -
Total Program 81.122 $ - $ 271271 $ 271271 $ - $ -
U.S. Department of Tennessee
Homeland Security Emergency
Management 97.036 34101-0000009205 $ 533,760 $ 83,212 % - 8 - $ 450,548
Tennessee
U.S. Department of Emergency
Homeland Security Management  97.036  34101-0000009832 $ 980,465 $ - $ - $ - $ 980,465
Total Program 97.036 $1514225 $ 83212 $ - $ - $1,431,013
Total Federal Awards $1514225 $ 354,483 $ 271,271 $ - $1,431,013

NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant activity of Knoxville Utilities Board and is presented on the accrual
basis of accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the

preparation of, the basic financial statements.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Insurance coverage is for KUB as a consolidated entity.

Crime
Covers losses resulting from employee dishonesty, robbery, burglary, and computer fraud. Limits of
coverage - $5,000,000; $250,000 retention.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Covers KUB personnel appropriately authorized to make decisions on behalf of KUB (including but
not limited to Commissioners, President and CEO, Senior Vice Presidents, Vice Presidents, and
Directors) for wrongful acts. Limits of coverage - $20,000,000; $1,000,000 corporate deductible, $0
individual deductible.

Employment Practices Liability
Coverage for costs related to actual or alleged employment practices violations for amounts
exceeding specified amount ($500,000). Limits of coverage - $10,000,000.

Fiduciary
Covers losses resulting from wrongful acts related to KUB’s Pension, 401(k), and OPEB Trust funds.
Limits of coverage - $10,000,000; $150,000 deductible.

Pollution Legal Liability
New conditions coverage for losses exceeding specified amount per occurrence ($1,000,000). Limits
of coverage - $20,000,000.

Property Insurance

This coverage provides protection of KUB’s property for fire, extended coverage, vandalism and
malicious mischief, and coverage on boilers and machinery. Also included are flood and earthquake
damage and mechanical failure. Limits of coverage - $250,000,000 per occurrence (subject to certain
sublimits); $2,500,000 deductible per occurrence.

Travel Accident
Covers losses related to employees’ business travel. Limits of coverage - $1,500,000 aggregate.

Excess Insurance for General Liability

As a government entity, KUB'’s liability is limited under the Tennessee Governmental Tort Liability Act
(TCA 829-20-403). KUB is self-insured for up to the first $700,000 of any accident and has insurance
of $1,000,000 above this retention.

Excess Insurance for Workers’ Compensation
Covers all losses exceeding specified amount per occurrence ($1,000,000). Limits of coverage -
Statutory; stop loss coverage applies for aggregate losses over $5,000,000.

Employee Health Plan Stop Loss Coverage

KUB’s employee health plan is self-funded. KUB has purchased stop loss insurance, which covers
KUB's exposure to annual expenses in excess of $400,000 per individual participant.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Continued on Next Page

W-2005 X-2006 Y-2009 Z-2010 AA-2012
FY Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Rebate* Principal Interest

14-15 $ 1,790,000 1,381,831 $ 1,725,000 134,375 $ 1525000 $ 1,466,187 $ 1,265000 $ 1,299,244 $ 454,736 $ 955,000 1,490,838
15-16 1,870,000 1,299,481 1,825,000 45,625 1,600,000 1,427,125 1,285,000 1,265,436 442,903 990,000 1,442,213
16-17 1,940,000 1,218,606 1,675,000 1,382,000 1,305,000 1,225,919 429,072 2,540,000 1,353,963
17-18 2,015,000 1,139,506 1,750,000 1,330,625 1,330,000 1,180,440 413,154 2,670,000 1,223,713
18-19 2,095,000 1,057,306 1,850,000 1,267,375 1,355,000 1,128,729 395,055 2,805,000 1,086,838
19-20 2,185,000 970,341 1,950,000 1,191,375 1,390,000 1,070,710 374,749 2,955,000 942,838
20-21 2,275,000 878,354 2,025,000 1,101,750 1,425,000 1,007,355 352,575 3,100,000 791,463
21-22 2,370,000 781,069 2,150,000 997,375 1,470,000 939,300 328,756 3,270,000 632,213
22-23 2,470,000 678,219 2,250,000 887,375 1,515,000 866,145 303,151 3,415,000 482,163
23-24 2,580,000 569,294 2,350,000 784,125 1,560,000 787,710 275,698 3,540,000 360,763
24-25 2,695,000 453,903 2,475,000 687,625 1,615,000 703,545 246,241 3,640,000 253,063
25-26 2,820,000 333,263 2,600,000 582,875 1,670,000 613,180 214,614 1,105,000 180,506
26-27 2,950,000 205,201 2,700,000 470,250 1,725,000 516,395 180,739 1,140,000 144,025
27-28 3,085,000 69,413 2,850,000 348,750 1,785,000 413,266 144,643 1,180,000 106,325
28-29 3,000,000 217,125 1,850,000 303,738 106,308 1,225,000 65,713
29-30 3,150,000 74,813 1,925,000 187,156 65,505 1,265,000 22,138
30-31 2,000,000 63,500 22,225

31-32

32-33

33-34

34-35

35-36

36-37

37-38

38-39

39-40

40-41

41-42

42-43

Total $_ 33,140,000 $_11,035787 $_ 3,550,000 $__ 180,000 $_ 35,900,000 $_14,216,750 $_ 26,470,000 $_13,571,768 $_4,750,124 $_35,795,000 $_ 10,578,775

*Series Z-2010 bonds were issued as federally taxable Build America Bonds. KUB is scheduled to receive a 35 percent interest rebate payment from the United States Government for each interest payment. Effective March 1, 2013 these
bonds became subject to a 7.2% reduction in rebate payment amounts due to the United States Government sequestration. The sequestration is effective until intervening Congressional action, at which time the sequestration rate is subject
to change.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Continued from Previous Page

Grand Total Grand Total
BB-2012 CC-2013 Total (P +1) (Less Rebate)
FY Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
14-15 $ 625,000 $ 1,056,625 $ 50,000 $ 316,350 $ 7,935,000 $ 7,145,450 $ 15,080,450 $ 14,625,714
15-16 650,000 1,037,500 50,000 314,850 8,270,000 6,832,230 15,102,230 14,659,327
16-17 675,000 1,017,625 450,000 305,099 8,585,000 6,503,212 15,088,212 14,659,140
17-18 700,000 997,000 475,000 286,600 8,940,000 6,157,884 15,097,884 14,684,730
18-19 725,000 972,000 475,000 267,600 9,305,000 5,779,848 15,084,848 14,689,793
19-20 750,000 942,500 500,000 248,100 9,730,000 5,365,864 15,095,864 14,721,115
20-21 800,000 911,500 515,000 227,800 10,140,000 4,918,222 15,058,222 14,705,647
21-22 825,000 879,000 540,000 206,700 10,625,000 4,435,657 15,060,657 14,731,901
22-23 875,000 849,375 560,000 187,497 11,085,000 3,950,774 15,035,774 14,732,623
23-24 900,000 822,750 575,000 170,475 11,505,000 3,495,117 15,000,117 14,724,419
24-25 950,000 795,000 590,000 153,000 11,965,000 3,046,136 15,011,136 14,764,895
25-26 975,000 766,125 640,000 134,550 9,810,000 2,610,499 12,420,499 12,205,885
26-27 1,025,000 736,125 650,000 115,200 10,190,000 2,187,196 12,377,196 12,196,457
27-28 1,075,000 704,625 670,000 95,400 10,645,000 1,737,779 12,382,779 12,238,136
28-29 1,125,000 671,625 675,000 75,225 7,875,000 1,333,426 9,208,426 9,102,118
29-30 1,175,000 637,125 710,000 54,450 8,225,000 975,682 9,200,682 9,135,177
30-31 1,225,000 601,125 725,000 32,925 3,950,000 697,550 4,647,550 4,625,325
31-32 1,275,000 563,625 735,000 11,023 2,010,000 574,648 2,584,648 2,584,648
32-33 1,325,000 524,625 1,325,000 524,625 1,849,625 1,849,625
33-34 1,375,000 484,125 1,375,000 484,125 1,859,125 1,859,125
34-35 1,450,000 441,750 1,450,000 441,750 1,891,750 1,891,750
35-36 1,500,000 397,500 1,500,000 397,500 1,897,500 1,897,500
36-37 1,575,000 351,375 1,575,000 351,375 1,926,375 1,926,375
37-38 1,625,000 303,375 1,625,000 303,375 1,928,375 1,928,375
38-39 1,700,000 253,500 1,700,000 253,500 1,953,500 1,953,500
39-40 1,775,000 201,375 1,775,000 201,375 1,976,375 1,976,375
40-41 1,850,000 147,000 1,850,000 147,000 1,997,000 1,997,000
41-42 1,950,000 90,000 1,950,000 90,000 2,040,000 2,040,000
42-43 2,025,000 30,375 2,025,000 30,375 2,055,375 2,055,375
Total $ 34,500,000  $ 18,186,250 $ 9,585,000 $ 3,202,844 $ 178,940,000 $ 70,972,174 $ 249,912,174 $ 245,162,050

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Residential Customer Charge: $14.60 per month, less Hydro Allocation Credit: $1.60 per month. 175,146
Energy Charge: Summer Period 9.043 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 9.002 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 9.002 cents per kWh per month.
Commercial/ A. 1. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand, if any, or (ii) its highest 20,430
Industrial billing demand during the latest 12-month period is not more than 50 kWh, and (b) customer's monthly
energy takings for any month during such period do not exceed 15,000 kWh:
Customer Charge: $18.00 per delivery point per month.
Energy Charge: Summer Period 10.445 cents per kWh.
Winter Period 10.404 cents per kWh.
Transition Period 10.404 cents per kWh.
2. If (a) the higher of (i) the customer's currently effective contract demand or (ii) its highest billing 2,789

demand during the latest 12-month period is greater than 50 kW but not more than 1,000 kW, or
(b) if the customer's billing demand is less than 50 kW and its energy takings for any month
during such period exceed 15,000 kWh:

Customer Charge: $50.00 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: First 50 kW of billing demand per month, no demand charge.
Excess over 50 kW of billing demand per month, at
Summer Period $12.73 per kW.
Winter Period $11.94 per kW.
Transition Period $11.94 per kW.
Energy Charge: Summer Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.239 cents per kWh
Additional kWh per month at 6.331 cents per kWh.
Winter Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.198 cents per kWh

Additional kWh per month at 6.331 cents per kWh.
Transition Period First 15,000 kWh per month at 11.198 cents per kWh
Additional kWh per month at 6.331 cents per kWh.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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3. If (a) the higher of the customer's currently effective contract demand or (b) its highest billing demand 55
during the latest 12-month period is greater than 1,000 kW:
Customer Charge: $140.00 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $12.52 per kW.

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $13.94 per kW,
plus an additional $13.94 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the
amount by which the customer's billing demand exceeds the higher

of 2,500 kW or its contract demand.

Winter Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $11.76 per kW.

Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $13.18 per kW,
plus an additional $13.18 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the
amount by which the customer's billing demand exceeds the higher

of 2,500 kW or its contract demand.

Transition Period First 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $11.76 per kW.
Excess over 1,000 kW of billing demand per month, at $13.18 per kW,
plus an additional $13.18 per kW per month for each kW, if any, of the
amount by which the customer's billing demand exceeds the higher
of 2,500 kW or its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 6.641 cents per kWh.

Winter Period 6.641 cents per kWh.

Transition Period 6.641 cents per kWh.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Commercial/ B. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract 1
Industrial demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.46 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.64 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.46
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $10.16 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.64 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $10.16
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.64 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$10.16 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Energy Charge: Summer Period 10.329 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.756

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.834
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.201
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 7.170 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.756
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.834
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.201
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 6.756 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 4.834 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 3.201 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Commercial/ C. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract 1
Industrial demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $16.81 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $3.99 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $16.81
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $9.51 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $3.99 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $9.51
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $3.99 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$9.51 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 9.958 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.486

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.561
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 2.929
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 6.876 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.486
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.561
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 2.929
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 6.486 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 4.561 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 2.929 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Commercial/ D. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract 1
Industrial demand is greater than 25,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.24 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.42 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.24
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $9.94 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.42 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $9.94
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.42 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$9.94 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 9.842 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.262

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.338
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 2.706
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 6.671 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.262
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.338
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 2.706
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 6.262 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 4.338 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 2.706 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Seasonal A. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract -
Time of Use demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.46 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.64 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.46
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $10.16 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.64 per KW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $10.16
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.64 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$10.16 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 10.329 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.756

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.834
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.201
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 7.170 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 6.756
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 4.834
cents per KkWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.201
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 6.756 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 4.834 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 3.201 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Seasonal B. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract 3

demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $22.81 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $22.81 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $16.30 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $16.30 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $11.39 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $11.39 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 5.476 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 5.052 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 4.959 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Seasonal C. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract -

demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $22.16 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $22.16 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $15.65 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $15.65 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $10.74 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $10.74 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 5.488 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 5.056 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 4.966 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Rate Class Base Charge Customers
Seasonal D. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where a customer's currently effective contract -

demand is greater than 25,000 kW:

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.

Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.

Demand Charge: Summer Period $26.28 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $26.28 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $19.74 per KW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $19.74 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $14.85 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $14.85 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 4.801 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 4.425 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 4.341 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers

Manufacturing B. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract -
demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial
Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.48 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.48
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $10.18 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $10.18
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.66 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 8.755 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.221

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.299
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.666
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 5.660 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.221
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.299
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.666
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 5.221 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 3.299 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 1.666 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers

Manufacturing C. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract -
demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial
Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $16.85 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.03 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $16.85
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $9.55 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.03 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $9.55
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.03 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$9.55 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 8.839 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.207

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.285
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.652
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 5.675 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.207
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.285
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.652
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 5.207 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 3.285 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 1.652 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers

Manufacturing D. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract -
demand is greater than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery
point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code
between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.24 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.42 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.24
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $9.94 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.42 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $9.94
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.42 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$9.94 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 8.696 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.068

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.144
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.513
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 5.516 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.068
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.144
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.513
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 5.068 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 3.144 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 1.513 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers

Manufacturing A.

Seasonal
Time of Use

This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract -
demand is greater than 1,000 kW but not more than 5,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities

conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial

Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge:  $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $17.48 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,

plus $4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $17.48
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Winter Period $10.18 per kW per month of the customer's onpeak billing demand,
plus $4.66 per kW per month of the amount, if any, by which the customer's
offpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak billing demand, plus $10.18
per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which (1) the
customer's onpeak billing demand exceeds its onpeak contract demand
or (2) the customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract
demand, whichever is higher.

Transition Period $4.66 per kW per month of the customer's offpeak billing demand, plus
$10.18 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any, by which the
customer's offpeak billing demand exceeds its offpeak contract demand.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.

65



Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force

June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Energy Charge: Summer Period 8.755 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.221

cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.299
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.666
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Winter Period 5.660 cents per kWh per month for all metered onpeak kWh, plus 5.221
cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 3.299
cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours use of maximum metered
demand multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy, plus 1.666
cents per kWh per month for the hours use of maximum metered demand in
excess of 620 hours multiplied by the ratio of offpeak energy to total energy.

Transition Period 5.221 cents per kWh per month for the first 425 hours use of maximum
metered demand, plus 3.299 cents per kWh per month for the next 195 hours
use of maximum metered demand, plus 1.666 cents per kWh per month
for the hours use of maximum metered demand in excess of 620 hours.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Manufacturing Customers

Seasonal B. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract 1

demand is greater than 5,000 kW but not more than 15,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial
Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $19.85 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $19.85 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $13.34 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $13.34 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $8.43 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $8.43 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 4.675 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 4.196 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 4.085 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of
Customers

Seasonal C. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract 2

demand is greater than 15,000 kW but not more than 25,000 kW and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities
conducted at the delivery point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial
Classification Code between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $19.22 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $19.22 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $12.71 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $12.71 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $7.80 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $7.80 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 4.644 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 4.195 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 4.087 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division
Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4
Number of

Manufacturing Customers

Seasonal D. This rate shall apply to the firm electric power requirements where (a) a customer's currently effective contract 1

demand is greater than 25,000 kW; and (b) the major use of electricity is for activities conducted at the delivery
point serving that customer which are classified with a 2-digit Standard Industrial Classification Code
between 20 and 39, inclusive.

Customer Charge: $1,500 per delivery point per month.
Administrative Charge: ~ $700 per delivery point per month.
Demand Charge: Summer Period $22.59 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $22.59 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Winter Period $16.08 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $16.08 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.
Transition Period $11.17 per kW per month of the customer's billing demand,

plus $11.17 per kW per month for each kW of the amount, if any,

by which the customer's billing demand exceeds its contract demand.

Energy Charge: Summer Period 3.938 cents per kWh per month.
Winter Period 3.580 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 3.494 cents per kWh per month.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited)

Schedule 4

Rate Class Base Charge

Outdoor Lighting

Part A - Charges for Street and Park Lighting Systems, Traffic Signal Systems, and Athletic Field Lighting Installations
7.349 cents per kWh per month.

Energy Charge: Summer Period

Winter Period 7.349 cents per kWh per month.
Transition Period 7.349 cents per kWh per month.

Facility Charge: The annual facility charge shall be 14.27 percent of the installed cost to KUB's electric system
of the facilities devoted to street and park lighting service specified in this Part A. Such
installed cost shall be recomputed on July 1 of each year, or more often if substantial changes
in the facilities are made. Each month, one-twelfth of the then total annual facility charge shall
be billed to the customer. If any part of the facilities has not been provided at the electric
system's expense, or if the installed cost of any portion thereof is reflected on the books of
another municipality or agency or department, the annual facility charge shall be adjusted to

reflect properly the remaining cost to be borne by the electric system.

Customer Charge: $2.50.

Part B - Charges for Outdoor Lighting for Individual Customers

Charges Per Fixture Per Month

Rated  Facility Total Lamp
a. Type of Fixture (Watts) (Lumens) kWh Charge Charge
Mercury Vapor or Incandescent* 175 7,650 70 4.46 $ 9.60
400 19,100 155 6.23 17.62
1000~ 47,500 378 9.96 37.74
High Pressure Sodium 100 8,550 42 4.46 7.55
250 23,000 105 5.29 13.01
400 45,000 165 6.23 18.36
1000” 126,000 385 9.96 38.25
Decorative 100 8,550 42 5.08 8.17
Mercury Vapor and Incandescent fixtures not offered for new service.
" 1,000 watt fixtures not offered for new service.
b. Energy Charge: For each lamp size under a. above, 7.349 cents per rated kWh per month.

Additional pole charge:  $3.00 per pole.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Knoxville Utilities Board Electric Division

Supplemental Information - Schedule of Current Rates in Force
June 30, 2014

(Unaudited) Schedule 4

Number of
Rate Class Base Charge Customers
LED Pilot Program Service under the LED Pilot Program shall only be available for select outdoor (security) lighting facilities of

governmental entities located in the KUB electric system service territory. Participation in the LED Pilot
Program shall be on a voluntary basis.

Pilot Program Charges - No Capital Contribution -
The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED Pilot Program, for whom
the installed cost of facilities for providing service under the program has been borne by the electric system.
The following charges are per LED fixture per month.

Energy
Facility Rated Charge Total
LED Fixture Type Charge kWh Per kWh Charge
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $ 11.96 38 $ 0.07349 $ 14.75
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head 10.91 38 0.07349 13.70
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $ 14.38 57 $ 0.07349 $ 1857
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head 13.10 57 0.07349 17.29

Pilot Program Charges - Capital Contribution -
The following charges are applicable to those customers participating in the LED Pilot Program, for whom
the installed cost of facilities providing service under the program has been borne by the customer. The
following charges are per LED fixture per month.

Energy
Facility Rated Charge Total
LED Fixture Type Charge kWh Per kWh Charge
LED - 150WE - Rectangular Head $ 515 38 $ 0.07349 $ 7.94
LED - 150WE - Cobra Head 5.03 38 0.07349 7.82
LED - 250WE - Rectangular Head $ 599 57 $ 0.07349 $ 10.18
LED - 250WE - Cobra Head 5.83 57 0.07349 10.02

Additional pole charge: $3.00 per pole.

See accompanying Report of Independent Auditors on Supplemental Information.
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Independent Auditors’ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Commissioners
Knoxville Utilities Board
Knoxville, Tennessee

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the Knoxville Utilities Board (“KUB”, (an independent
agency reported as a component unit for financial purposes only) of Knoxville, Tennessee, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise KUB’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 24, 2014.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered KUB’s internal control over
financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for
the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of KUB’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
KUB’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether KUB’s financial statements are free from material
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial
statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the KUB’s internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering KUB’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Zﬁdﬂ{-‘ HMoss & Co, PUL

Knoxville, Tennessee
October 24, 2014

Tennessee | Kentucky | Indiana
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THE WATER DIVISION

INTRODUCTION

The Water Division has been owned and operated by the City since 1909. The Water
Division consists of a complete system for the treatment, storage and distribution of water.

The Water Division distributes water to 78,336 customers on an exclusive basis covering 188
square miles throughout the City and on a non-exclusive basis in portions of Knox, Sevier and
Jefferson counties.

SOURCE OF WATER SUPPLY

The KUB service area is supplied with water from the Tennessee River. The river furnishes
an abundant supply of water for the Mark B. Whitaker Plant (the “MBW”), which is KUB’s sole
water plant and has a capacity of 61.2 MGD.

Tennessee Valley Authority reservoirs are upstream, providing the river a year-round flow far
in excess of the City’s needs. Even during drought conditions, Knoxville’s water supply has been
more than adequate to meet customer requirements. The average daily pumpage of MBW for the
past fiscal year was 33.2 million gallons.

KUB’s water quality laboratory is one of the few utility laboratories in the state certified by
the State Department of Health and Environment to perform the complicated analysis necessary to
maintain compliance with all federal drinking water regulations. The Safe Drinking Water Act of
1986 provides for mandatory disinfection and filtration treatment processes which the Water
Division has constantly maintained.

The Water Division has long been committed to delivering a reliable supply of high quality
drinking water to its customers. The goal of KUB is to ensure that high quality water is made
available at the customer’s tap.

Capital projects that have recently improved the water filtration facilities at MBW included
new filter valves and actuators. Those upgrades provided more operational flexibility for the plant.

KUB?’s excellent track record in providing high-quality, reliable water supply to its customers
has been achieved by maintaining excess capacity. KUB's reliance on a single water treatment plant
combined with rising customer expectations and the potential for natural and man-made impacts on
the water system provided the impetus to reassess our long-term strategy.

With an objective of achieving redundant firm capacity of approximately 40 MGD, two
major options were considered, including (1) the construction of a second water plant on a different
portion of our water system and (2) a combination of projects that would provide redundancy at
MBW and "harden™ key elements of our existing treatment processes at MBW.
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After careful consideration, KUB will embark on a 15-year program to invest in redundancy
and hardening at MBW through a series of capital projects, including the construction of a second
full treatment train adjacent to the current plant. This additional treatment train will include dual
intakes upstream of MBW on the Holston and French Broad Rivers, additional filters/clarifiers, new
pumping and storage facilities, and new high service transmission mains extending from MBW.

This approach will meet reliability goals, mitigate primary risk factors at MBW, and provide
additional operational flexibility for day-to-day plant operations, while achieving a considerable
savings compared to the construction of a second treatment plant. The total projected cost of the
various projects is $93 million over 15 years, which is significantly less than the estimated $250
million it would cost to construct a second water plant with 40 MGD treatment capacity. The
deployment will be funded by debt and incremental rate increases beginning fiscal year 2018. The
water rate increases previously adopted by the Board for July 2015 and July 2016, respectively, will
not be modified.

KUB completed a new Low Service Pump Station (LSPS) in May 2014 to address the
reliability of the raw water pumping system at MBW. The system moves raw water from the
Tennessee River to the MBW clarification system. The current pump station has portions of the
original 1927 construction, with numerous upgrades over the years of service. The $8.5 million
project includes a new 70 million gallons per day pump station with four submersible pumps, a new
electrical building, piping, and controls to help KUB provide safe, high quality water for many years
to come.

THE WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM

KUB’s water distribution system territory covers 188 square miles. The system includes 27
pump stations, 28 storage facilities, and 1,408 miles of water service main.

In April 2007 KUB launched a new infrastructure management program for its water
distribution system called Century Il, which began as a phased-in increase in the level of water main
replacement over several years. In early 2009, due to the impact of the economic recession on the
community and KUB’s customers, KUB temporarily deferred its Century Il programs, but
maintained its historical level of capital investment in the water system.

In April 2011 management provided an updated assessment on the condition of the water
system to the KUB Board, including a recommendation to resume the Century Il water program. In
September 2011 the Board adopted a resolution which endorsed the Century Il water program and a
ten-year funding plan, which included a combination of debt issues and annual rate increases. This
same Board resolution adopted the initial three water rate increases, which were effective January
2012, January 2013, and January 2014.

The water distribution system is an aging system, with approximately 50 percent of the

system consisting of older pipe types, including galvanized, cast iron, and cement-lined water main.
Although it represents only half of the water system, older pipe, particularly galvanized main,
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accounts for approximately 90 percent of annual water main breaks. As a result of the aging pipe
system, the system’s water loss ratio has risen steadily over the last 20 years to the point where the
system loses approximately 30 percent of the water input into the system from the water plant.

Ten years of funding for the Century Il water program will provide for the removal of all
galvanized water main by 2020, and the removal of approximately 50 miles of cast iron pipe. At the
end of ten years, the water system will look dramatically different with approximately two-thirds of
the system consisting of newer pipe types.

Over the last three fiscal years, KUB has invested approximately $51 million in its water
system infrastructure and is on track to achieve its target Century Il program goals for the ten-year
plan endorsed by the Board in 2011.

In June 2014, the Board approved the next phase of rate increases to support the Century Il
water program. The first rate increase was effective July 2014, and the remaining rate increases will
be effective July 2015, and July 2016, respectively. The July 2014 increase will provide an additional
$3.6 million in annual water system revenue, while the 2015 and 2016 rates increases will provide an
additional $2 million in annual revenue.

Based on the success of its recent smart grid pilot, KUB intends to phase in a system-wide
deployment of smart meters and other smart grid technologies over a multi-year period commencing
in fiscal year 2016. The total projected cost of the system-wide deployment is $103 million through
2024, including $52 million for the installation of electric, gas and water smart meters; $35 million
for the extension of fiber to substations and other critical utility system infrastructure; $11 million for
the strategic installation of distribution and substation automation devices (faulted circuit indicators
and voltage control devices); and $5 million for on-going support and administrative costs, including
licensing fees and additional staffing. The Water Division's share of costs is projected to be $15.4
million. The deployment will be funded by debt and incremental rate increases beginning fiscal year
2018. The water rate increases previously adopted by the Board for July 2015 and July 2016,
respectively, will not be modified.

PENSION PLAN

The Plan is a single-employer contributory, defined benefit pension plan established by
Resolution No. 980 dated February 18, 1999, effective July 1, 1999, as authorized by the Charter of
the City of Knoxville § 1107(J). The Plan is designed to provide retirement, disability and death
benefits. The Plan is a governmental plan as defined by the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 and is not subject to any of the provisions of the Act, and was revised January 1, 2014 to
include all prior approved amendments.

At December 31, 2013, the Plan had approximately 639 retirees and beneficiaries currently
receiving benefits and 49 terminated employees entitled to benefits but not yet receiving them. Of
the approximately 778 current employees in the Plan, 743 were fully vested at December 31, 2013.
The Plan issues a financial report, which includes financial statements and required supplementary
information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville Utilities Board Retirement
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System, P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

Effective January 1, 2011, KUB froze the Plan such that persons employed or re-employed by
KUB on or after January 1, 2011, shall not be eligible to participate, but that eligible employees hired
prior to January 1, 2011, who have not separated from service, shall continue as Participants and
accrue benefits under the Plan.

For the Plan year ended December 31, 2013, a contribution of $6.3 million was required to be
made in the Plan sponsor’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2015. The Water Division’s portion of this
contribution was $0.8 million. The annual required contribution was determined as part of the
January 1, 2013 valuation using the Individual Entry Age Normal funding method. The objective
under this method is to fund each participant’s benefits under the Plan as payments which are level
as a percentage of salary, starting on the original participation date (employment date) and continuing
until the assumed retirement, termination, disability or death. For the Plan year ended December 31,
2013, the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 89.3 percent, and the market value funded ratio was 96.4
percent.

Subsequent to June 30, 2014, the actuarial valuation for the Plan year ending December 31,
2014 was completed. The actuarial valuation resulted in an actuarially determined contribution of
$5.7 million for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, based on the Plan’s current funding policy.
The Water Division’s portion of this contribution is $0.7 million. For the Plan year ending
December 31, 2014, the Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 94.6 percent, and the market value funded
ratio was 102.5 percent.

GASB has adopted new accounting standards for governmental defined benefit pension plans
that will be effective for KUB for its fiscal year beginning July 1, 2014. These standards are known
as GASB 67, which covers pension plan accounting, and GASB 68, which provides for financial
reporting by governmental plan sponsors. The new standards require the immediate recognition of
the plan’s unfunded liability, if any, and faster recognition of investment gains and losses on plan
assets. As a result, annual pension expense will be subject to increased volatility and will no longer
represent annual cash contributions to the pension fund. Given the new standards effectively
decouple pension accounting from pension funding, governmental plan sponsors, such as KUB, will
need to adopt funding policies for their plans. In fact, the Tennessee General Assembly adopted
legislation in 2014 that requires all governmental plan sponsors in the state to formally adopt funding
policies, which must include certain provisions, including fully funding annual actuarially
determined contributions. The KUB Board formally adopted a Pension Plan funding policy in
December 2014.

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB)
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) established new standards for the
measurement, recognition, and reporting of other post-employment benefits (OPEB). OPEB includes

post-employment benefits other than pension, which, for KUB, is presently limited to
postemployment health care. GASB 45 requires the recognition of the accrued OPEB liability for the
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respective year, plus the disclosure of the total unfunded liability. GASB 45 was effective for KUB
for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2007.

KUB currently provides post-employment health care benefits to 604 former employees and
619 covered dependents. The cost of coverage is shared with retirees and beneficiaries. KUB
recognizes its share of the cost of post-employment health care benefits as an expense as claims are
paid.

In anticipation of GASB 45, KUB amended its Group Health Plan in 1999, eliminating
postemployment health care benefits for all employees hired on or after July 1, 1999. As of June 30,
2014, 399 active employees were eligible for individual and dependent coverage at separation if the
employee meets the Rule of 80 (age plus years of service) with a minimum of 20 years of service.

In May 2006, the state of Tennessee adopted Tennessee Code Annotated, Title 8, Chapter 50,
Part 12 authorizing governmental entities to establish Trusts for the purpose of pre-funding their
respective OPEB liabilities.

Although GASB 45 does not require pre-funding of the liability, KUB has determined that it
is in the long-term economic interest of KUB and its ratepayers to establish a Trust to pre-fund
KUB’s OPEB liability.

In October 2007, the KUB Board authorized the establishment of an OPEB Trust. The
applicable documentation was submitted to the State Funding Board and, in December 2007, the
State Funding Board approved the Trust. The Trust was also approved by the Internal Revenue
Service in June 2008.

The Trust issues a financial report, which includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. The report may be obtained by writing the Knoxville Utilities Board
Retirement System, P.O. Box 59017, Knoxville, TN 37950-9017.

The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the Trust is
governed by a board of trustees appointed by KUB’s President & CEO. The investment of all
deposits to the Trust is governed by an Investment Policy, which was adopted by the KUB Board and
approved by the State Funding Board.

Total contributions to the OPEB Trust for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014 were $4.1
million million (Division’s share $0.5 million). The contribution to the Trust exceeded the annual
actuarially determined contribution, as determined by the Postretirement Benefit Plan’s actuarial
valuation for the year ended December 31, 2012, which was $3.3 million (Division’s share $0.4
million). As of June 30, 2014, the employer’s OPEB obligation has been exceeded by $0.2 million
(Division’s share $0.02 million).

The actuarially determined contribution for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2015, as

determined by the Plan’s actuarial valuation for the year ended December 31, 2013 is $3.5 million
(Division’s share $0.5 million).
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The actuarial valuation for the Plan for the year ending December 31, 2014 has been
completed. The Plan’s actuarial funded ratio was 93 percent, and the market value funded ratio was
100 percent. The valuation also determined that the employer’s actuarially determined contribution is
$1 million for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 (Division’s share $0.1 million).

FISCAL YEAR 2015 FINANCIAL UPDATE

For the six months ending December 31, 2014, KUB’s Water Division had earnings of $2.9
million, representing an increase of $0.9 million from the previous fiscal year. KUB sold $8 million
in water system revenue bonds in August 2014. Water sales volumes were up 1.9 percent compared
to last fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2014, the Water Division had $131.4 million in outstanding debt,
representing a debt to capitalization ratio of 45.9 percent. The Water Division’s maximum debt
service coverage ratio was 2.11 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.

Capital investment in water system infrastructure was $20.4 million for fiscal year 2014,
reflecting KUB’s continued commitment to the timely replacement of aging water pipe.

WATER RATES

The current rate schedules of the Water Division are as follows:

WATER GENERAL SERVICE - RESIDENTIAL
Availability

Service under this rate schedule shall be available only to residential customers served
individually through a separate meter.

An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to execute
a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for service under this
schedule.

Rate

The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables provided below,
based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage.

In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, multiple
customer charges may apply. Charges will apply without regard to ownership of the meter(s).
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1. Inside City Rate

For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of Knoxuville:

Customer Charge

5/8” meter $13.00
1” meter $27.10
1 %" meter $39.00
2” meter $55.00

For meters greater than 2”” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential schedule
shall be utilized.

Commoadity Charge

First 2 Ccf at $0.25 per Ccf
Over 2Ccf at  $2.65 per Ccf

2. Outside City Rate

For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is outside the
corporate limits of the City of Knoxville:

Customer Charge

5/8” meter $14.40
1” meter $31.40
1 %" meter $45.40
2” meter $64.40

For meters greater than 2” the Customer Charges listed in the Water Nonresidential schedule
shall be utilized.

Commadity Charge

First 2 Ccf at $0.30 per Ccf
Over 2 Ccf at $3.20 per Ccf

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.
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WATER GENERAL SERVICE — NONRESIDENTIAL
Availability
Service under this rate schedule shall be available to any commercial or industrial customer.
An existing customer or applicant for service under this schedule may be required to execute
a contract specifying, among other things, a minimum bill and minimum term for service under this
schedule.

Rate

The Water Service Charge shall be calculated using the applicable rate tables provided below,
based on the customer’s meter size and monthly water usage.

In the event more than one meter is utilized to determine billed consumption, multiple
customer charges may apply. Charges will apply without regard to ownership of the meter(s).

1. Inside City / Industrial Park Rate

For water furnished to premises entirely within the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville
or within the boundaries of an area recognized as an industrial park by the Tennessee Department of
Economic and Community Development:

Customer Charge

5/8” meter $13.00
1” meter $27.10
1 %" meter $39.00
2” meter $55.00
3” meter $121.00
4” meter $200.00
6” meter $438.00
8” meter $770.00
10” meter $1,173.00
12” meter $1,736.00

Commoadity Charge

First 2 Ccf at $1.45 per Ccf
Next 8 Ccf at $3.25 per Ccf
Next 90 Ccf at $3.95 per Ccf
Next 300 Ccf at $2.75 per Ccf

Next 4,600 Ccf at $1.90 per Ccf
Over 5,000 Ccf at $1.00 per Ccf
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2. Outside — City Rate

For water furnished to premises upon which any water faucet or other outlet is outside the
corporate limits of the City of Knoxville, excluding premises within the boundaries of an area
recognized as an industrial park by the Tennessee Department of Economic and Community
Development:

Customer Charge

5/8” meter $14.40
1” meter $31.40
1 %" meter $45.40
2” meter $64.40
3” meter $144.00
4” meter $241.00
6” meter $526.00
8” meter $924.00
10” meter $1,407.00
12” meter $2,085.00

Commadity Charge

First 2 Ccf at $1.70 per Ccf
Next 8 Ccf at $3.80 per Ccf
Next 90 Ccf at $4.75 per Ccf
Next 300 Ccf at $3.30 per Ccf
Next 4,600 Ccf at $2.30 per Ccf
Over 5,000 Ccf at $1.20 per Ccf

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

Schedule B — PRIVATE FIRE SERVICE
Availability
Under this schedule, KUB provides water supply to privately owned automatic sprinklers or
hose outlets. Such service is available to any residential, commercial, or industrial customer.

Rate

The private Fire Service Charge shall be calculated using the table below based on the
customer’s fire line connections.
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Monthly Service Charge per Connection

Connection less than 4” $ 18.75
4” Connection $ 37.50
6” Connection $ 91.00
8" Connection $160.00
10” Connection $248.00
12” Connection and greater $356.00

These service charges shall be in addition to the charge for any water use through fire line
connections. The amount of unmetered water so used, as determined by KUB, shall be paid for at
KUB’s applicable rate schedules.

No charge under this Schedule B shall be made where the water supply to private fire
protection facilities is through one or more metered connection(s) for which payment is made under
the Water General Service — Nonresidential Rate Schedule.

No credit for charges under this rate schedule shall be allowed against the Water General
Service — Nonresidential Rate Schedule charge for water supplied through a fire line to one or more
metered connection(s) where the fire line serves as a connecting line between the metered
connection(s) and KUB’s mains.

Rules and Regulations

Service is subject to Rules and Regulations of KUB.

SCHEDULE C - UNMETERED GOVERNMENT SERVICE

For water used from KUB’s mains with KUB’s permission by any department of a
governmental entity through unmetered fire hydrants for purposes other than for public fire service:

Inside — City Rate

The total amount of water used monthly by each department of a governmental entity for
such purposes through a fire hydrant within the corporate limits of the City of Knoxville shall be
billed to each such department at the Inside City rates set forth in the Water General Service —
Nonresidential Rate Schedule.

Outside — City Rate
The total amount of wat